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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors’) of CNC Holdings Limited (the “Company’) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the
Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive
and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any staterment herein or this report misleading.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
B ¥ 1 2

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
For the year ended 31 March

Revenue

Gross loss

Loss before income tax

Loss attributable to the owners of the
Company

Basic loss per Share (HK cents)

Dividend per Share (HK cents)

W

Ei8

BRPT1SIRRIE 18
RABEER NEILEER

SREXEIR Bl
BRKRE CEL)

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March

Total assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Total liabilities

Equity attributable to the owners
of the Company

MEE
RERREEEY
mas

KABEER NEILED

nT = ¥§E
HE=FA="1+—HIFE
Changes 2021
2y —T-—&
HK$’000
FET
0.81% 239,233
64.3% (28,820)
-24.6% (79,350)
-27.7% (72,946)
-27.7% (1.80)
NATER | NJARER
II‘IT I:I ~ j}kﬂ* ;R
R=A=+—H
Changes 2021
gE —TZ—F
HK$’000
FET
-29.6% 174,911
-26.8% 66,743
-0.4% 518,104
-26.9% (345,104)

2020
—ECEA

— ==

HK$ 000
TET

237,322
(17,536)
(105,174)

(100,831)
(2.49)
N/A 58

2020
. X
HK$'000

FHT

248,454
91,196
520,422

(271,968)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
M ERE

RATIOS kb=
As at 31 March R=A=+—H
2021 2020

—E-—F ZETEF
Return on equity (Note a) ¥ B3R (H3ta) N/A & N/A &
Return on assets (Note b) BE[DR (WaEb) -42.2% —-40.6%
Current ratio (Note ¢) TRENELE (B aEc) 0.32 time 12 0.37 time 12
Gearing ratio (Note d) BESGELLE Watd) 202.6% 145.0%
Notes: Mt -
(@  Return on equity is calculated as net loss divided by Shareholders’ equity. () =R EIIR/HIZFEEFRURKERE

4

Return on assets is calculated as net loss divided by total assets. (b)

Current ratio is calculated as total current assets divided by total current (c)
liabilities.

Gearing ratio is calculated as total amount of promissory note, convertible (d)

notes, lease liabilities and advance received from customers divided by
total assets.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
A By

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of civil engineering
services for the public sector in Hong Kong and media and
advertising business comprising television broadcasting business
in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding the PRC) and digital marketing
business on overseas market in return for advertising and related
revenue.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands on 15 March 2010 and the Shares were listed on GEM on
30 August 2010.

Currently, the Group’s media and advertising business is mainly
carried out through BayTV Network Holdings Limited, Xinhua
TV Asia-Pacific as well as Shenzhen Qianhai Xinhua TV Cultural
Development Limited* CRIIFIBMEZTHECZERBRAE).

The Group’s business of provision of civil engineering services
for the public sector is carried out through TYW and TY Civil
respectively with TYW responsible for signing and implementing
civil engineering contracts as a main contractor and forming joint
operations while TY Civil responsible for signing and implementing
civil engineering contracts as a subcontractor and forming joint
operations.

* for identification purpose only

FEFRTERERETBRAEMMPFIRELIAL

BRBUREEMBESER  @FEREXE
(FEETE) ETERBREF RN EING

GRS EHET  LESES AR -

ARBIR _E—EF=RB+HHREHEEH
BREES22E (—hAR—FEHS BiRE
i) RHASESAMNIAERREREE
REERONR _E—ZFN\B=+HEGEM
Lo

B AERZRERESEFTECERE
RPARAB ESBHRE NG URRYIFTE
MEBRXCERARATET

FEEBTDHBEBERKBREEZELIARR
EMPIRBIATRERBES  BEXKFES
NEERRBEMEITRBITEAIREEGHOU
R GERFE MEXLTAREBEUDEHE
BHNBITRBITEIAIRENOURKIEE
o

Y EHEE
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CORPORATE PROFILE
ATEIFT

REGISTRATIONS HELD FOR UNDERTAKING

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group has obtained the following registrations from Works
Branch Development Bureau (22 & /5 T ##) of the Government

for undertaking projects as a main contractor:

Registration

=t

ARETEXEBR/BZEMR

FEBERBFERR IHRES THIEM
DEREAEBREIRE !

Value of project which the Group is eligible to undertake
under the relevant registration

REBERERFERSERAERZIRZEE

Approved Contractors for Public Works —
Waterworks Category (Group C)
(probationary status)

A AHTREAER— KB TIELER!

(R#A) (HRA181%)

Approved Contractors for Public Works —
Roads and Drainage Category (Group C)
(probationary status)

RO AHTERER —ERKRERHLRELER

(R#A) (HRA181%)

Approved Contractors for Public Works —
Site Formation Category (Group C)
(probationary status)

RO AHTEAER MR TETRZER

(R#A) (HRA181%)

A maximum of two contracts exceeding HK$400 million each in any
one category, provided that the total value of works in any one
category does not exceed HK$1,500 million

R AER—ELHR PR MIES4EEB3E400,000,00058 7T > HE
A — @485 T2 AR B E R #8381,500,000,0007% 7T

A maximum of two contracts exceeding HK$400 million each in any
one category, provided that the total value of works in any one
category does not exceed HK$1,500 million

RZAER—EHR P MIES 4% EB3E400,000,000/8 7T > HE
A — @485 T2 AR B E R #8381,500,000,0007% 7T

A maximum of two contracts exceeding HK$400 million each in any
one category, provided that the total value of works in any one
category does not exceed HK$1,500 million

R AER—ELHER PR MIES4EEB3E400,000,00058 7T > HE
A — @485 T2 AR B E R #85%81,500,000,0007% 7T

Also, the Group has registered under the Voluntary Subcontractor
Registration Scheme GE& %142 B MEIE), which is
maintained by the Construction Industry Council (& 2£:%®) , for
participating in civil engineering works, road works and drainage
services and waterworks engineering services as a sub-contractor.
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE OF THE COMPANY

The following diagram illustrates the corporate structure of the
Company as at 31 March 2021:

TATIEERE

1|

TESRRAEAT
PATSE 22X I

The Company
(Cayman Islands)

Investment holding and provision of
management services

R_E_—F=H=+—H

AT
(FEEE)
REERRIRHEERE
100%
TYW (BVI) Profit Station Succeed Axis Concept CNC Logistic Core Galaxy Shenzhen
Limited Limited Capital Limited Limited Limited Limited Qianhai Xinhua
BVI) BV) BV) BV) BV) BVI) TV Cultural
Investment Investment Investment Investment Inactive Investment Development
holding holding holding holding CNC Logistic holding Limited*
TYW (BVI) Profit Station Succeed Axis Concept Limited Core Galaxy (PBC)
Limited Limited Capital Limited Limited (EEBELHE) Limited Media and
(EEBEZEHE) (FEBEZHE) (EBEZEHE) (EEEZHEE) TEgE (EEEZHE) advertising
BEER BEER BEER BEER BEER business
FYE e E
BRXEER
ARAR
()
A
100% 100% 100%
97% 97%
TYW TY Civil Karaoke Xinhua TV BayTV Network
(Hong Kong) (Hong Kong) Limited Asia-Pacific Holdings
Provision of Holding of (Hong Kong) (Hong Kong) Limited
civil engineering motor vehicles, Provision of Media and (Hong Kong)
services and provision of civil management advertising Media and
laying of water engineering services business advertising
pipes sewices and EHERAT HETHTAL business
EE KT laying of water &) (&8) HEBRAE
(&#) Pipe RHEIBRY A8 K BRAH
BT ATRE EELAK EEER (&8)
AR 7% R B8 (&) IEHE
KE FHBER =M EEER
TARITEBRH K
BEKE

*

for identification purpose only

Y EHEE
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

K[FEH

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Dr. Jiang Yan (Chairman)

Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Vice chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Liu Da Yong
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Tang Li
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth

Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, Jr (retired on 11 August 2020)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Dr. Li Yong Sheng
Ms. Li Yuet Tai

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Dr. Li Yong Sheng

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Li Yuet Tai, crA

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (Chairman)
Ms. Tang Li

Mr. Law Cheuk Hung

Mr. Wu Guo Ming
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, 8BS, Jr (Chairman)

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth

Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, Jr (retired on 11 August 2020)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Dr. Jiang Yan (Chairman)

Dr. Li Yong Sheng

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, 8BS, JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth

Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, Jr (retired on 11 August 2020)

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, 8BS, JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth

Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, Jr (retired on 11 August 2020)

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HINEEE

FERIE gL 1Tt (F/E)
SE#F AL
TERELE
SEEBEESL A X Ea
(R ZEZZFHFENAF+—HEF)

RHZEEE

EZ=8tT (FE)
ZkAEL
RS E
SESE
FEREE L HEE X TP
TRERE
SBEREESN Y XML
(R ZEZZFE/NF+—HEE)

REEEEZEE

SESE
FEREE L HEE X TPHT
TRERE
SBEREESN Y XML
(R ZEZZFE/N\F+—HEE)

B ED

EE st M EBRAERAT
BEDEAT

ISR

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
ATEM

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
IN HONG KONG

Suites 2708-10, 27/F,
Everbright Centre,

108 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAT AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN CAYMAN ISLANDS

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman

KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Level 54, Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hang Seng Bank Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
China Everbright Bank Co., Limited

WEBSITE

http://www.cnctv.hk

STOCK CODE

8356
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Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands
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DEFINITIONS
B =

In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following IR ER » X FES BATES) » F 55858 K
words and expressions shall have the following meanings when — ;9Z K IRE @ HEA B TFiHsE

used herein:

“AGM”
MEERBERE]

“Board”
EEg)

“BVI”
) agegd g

“China Xinhua NNC”

e 3] i 22 3 ] B AR A

“CNC China”

Mo B3 2 3 R AR A4

(GEIEDN

“Company”

/NS

“Director(s)”

==y

“Financial Statements”

A Fs R

“GEM”
GEM J

the annual general meeting of the Company

TABDRRBERE

the board of Directors
o=y

the British Virgin Islands
REBRRES

China Xinhua News Network Co., Limited (FEFEFBEBREERAE),
company incorporated in Hong Kong and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Xinhua News
Agency (¥ﬁ§?i) and a Shareholder of the Company
HEMEFEERERRAS — RN EBEMR Lz AB RAMEL

b =YNSIR ﬂﬁz%ztx’z}aﬁyﬁ

FEFFEFFREERAEE /AT, a company incorporated in the PRC, which owns
100% of the equity interests in China Xinhua NNC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Xinhua News Agency and a substantial Shareholder of the Company
HEMEMEAEREERAS —RINPREFMMRILZ AT R RBIFTERR
FEEREI100%KE  BHEH 2 2ENBREKRAREZEERE

CNC Holdings Limited (FEI#TZEBRIZER B RAE)), a company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 15 March 2010

PR ESHEERARAT — KRN _E—EBF=-B+HEHTHESHETMN
UZERAT

director(s) of the Company
KABIES

the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021

FERHE_T - —F-A=+—HLFEZEKEZUHTRE

the GEM of the Stock Exchange
Bt 22 PRGEM

hEETRERARAT 20202021 £ 11



DEFINITIONS
B =

“GEM Listing Rules”
FGEM_Emi#R A

“Government”

TR )

“Group”
TRERE)

“HK$” and “HK cent(s)”
7o) B T

“Hong Kong”
M&#)

“Macau”
B PFY

“Mr. Kan”
Mg

“PRC”
MR E

“SFO”
TH % R )

“Share(s)”
B 15 ]

“Share Option Scheme”

Mg st &l

“Shareholder(s)”
Mg e

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
GEMzEE 5 £ R 8

the Government of Hong Kong

BB

the Company and its subsidiaries
KRB REWEAE

Hong Kong dollar(s) and cent(s), respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BEBEEEEBTRA

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
FEE AR RITHE

the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC
REIRFIFRIITHE

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung (1 #¥) , an executive Director
HITESHEELE

the People’s Republic of China, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan
hEARSNE FOESS RFRLH

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as

amended or otherwise modified from time to time

BRAEDIBETIERF KRG RA EEFRHEST S E M TERD

ordinary share(s) of the Company
PiN/NS1 = B

the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 11 August 2010 and expired

on 10 August 2020

FABNRZBE-EBFNA+—HEARK_Z_ZF/\B+HERZBRES

£l

holder(s) of the Share(s)
EEHEST=PN

12 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021



“Shunleetat”

[ Shunleetat |

“Stock Exchange”

2&/ \FﬁJ

“TY Civil”

MEE LK)

2K F5

“WsD”

IkFEE

“Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific”

MHrEBREARE]

ll%ll
M% |

Shunleetat (BVI) Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI which is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Kan

Shunleetat (BVI) Limited» — RN EBRE L FHEFMR L2 2B HEXELEE
miER

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEBMERBARAF

Tsun Yip Civil Construction Company Limited (&2 + K T2 HFR/AF]), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 16 June 2000 and an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

EEXTARIBBRRAE — RN ZZEEZFEARA -+ BEEETMALZER
RED AR RBIZEAZEE2ENBE AT

Tsun Yip Waterworks Construction Company Limited GEZ/KFEEZEBRAT), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 6 February 1996 and an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

EFEKBREBRRE — RN —ANANEZANHEEBTMRILZERE
8 hARBEZEEEENE AR

Water Supplies Department (7K #%2) of the Government
B K#EE

Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific Operating Co., Limited GiEBIRE KB EEHFR AT, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 22 December 2009 and
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
MEBREABEEBRRAR — XN ZEENF+ A+ HEEBHM
MIUIZBRAT HARBZEEE2ENE AT

per cent

Bt

hEFESRIZERARAS 2020/2021 £ 13



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ITERESE

To all Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual results
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021.

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR

During the year ended 31 March 2021, we had obtained
approximately HK$239.2 million (2020: HK$237.3 million) revenue,
which represented an increase of approximately 0.81% over the
revenue for the year ended 31 March 2020.

The gross loss of the Group was amounted to approximately
HK$28.8 million (2020: approximately HK$17.5 million) for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

The net loss of our Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 was
approximately HK$73.8 million (2020: approximately of HK$100.8
million), representing approximately 26.9% decrease from that of
previous yeatr.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

During the year, revenue derived from provision of civil engineering
services remained as core business of the Group and thus the main
contributor of revenue of the Group. In the meantime, the Group
devoted efforts to develop its media and advertising business.

14 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021
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After the COVID-19 outbreak in early 2020, the Group paid
close attention to the development of COVID-19 outbreak and
continuously evaluated its impact that may have on the financial
position and operating results of the Group. The Group has not
encountered or experienced any material difficulty and/or delay
in completion of the projects to the customers and from the
subcontractors and any material supply chain disruptions of the
suppliers due to the outbreak of COVID-19. Up to date of this
report, we are pleased to report that the projects of the Group have
gradually resumed normal. The Group has also been rewarded
certain new projects during the second half of 2020. The Group
will continue to strengthen the competitive edge of the Group
over competitors in the construction industry and expanding the
business in order to reduce the negative impact of economic
climate and increase shareholders’ return.

The Group’s advertising business also faced challenging conditions
during the reporting period, as audience’s habits continued to
move away from traditional platform towards digital platform.
Looking forward, the Group will actively promote the synergies
operation of multiple media platforms including traditional media
and other digital media. Through the provision of integrated media
services, the Group aims at reconstructing the value chain of
media and advertising business and hence broaden the sources of
revenue and boosts up the profit of the Group.

Our businesses in 2021 will still be highly challenging due to the
impact of a likely prolonged economic downturn caused by the
coronavirus pandemic, and the yet unsettled local social unrest.
The Group will continue to emphasis its core value to provide
professional services to our customers. Together with the future
development plan of the Group, the Board is confident with the
prospects of the Group.

R TEYIEECOVID-19B1B%R » KEE
R ECOVID- 195 B RIE N > W& T
HERMBRAEEHAERMBERTREE
FEEFENTE - AEBR T ARECOVID- 1915
MEERKEAFBEERDEATREEEE
BIREETNEARNSERHLEEREER
MERERHEEE D - IEAREDE &K
PIMMAREHRAEBEECSEHNINEES A&
BTN _EEFETTYFERAETHMER K
EEREELRAERNERTERERHR
BAFERESRIFHFNREED URVKE
RENEATERESRKRELEIER

BEBERBERERERTABREHNT
S AEENESEBSRNRSPETERS
EkE - RERK AEBREHEESFRE
FanmREE  SEEREREREMBEEE
R AEESTEEBRERMHGESHEERDTEAR
lEkESEBEER  IEMEEW AR AR
RAEEEF] o

R EEBEERANEE TMTR B R
BREFE BATHEHE KRR M
MEZR - —FNRESIE - ~EBF
BEBERAE P RERHEZRBTHZOEE I
ZAREENRRERTE EFTEHAEEDN
AR FEmIE 0 e
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ITERESE

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my most sincere appreciation to all the management team
and staff for their dedication and contribution over the past years. |
would also like to thank all the Shareholders, customers, suppliers
and business partners for their continuous support and trust.

Jiang Yan
Chairman

30 June 2021

16 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENmREOH

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of civil engineering
services for the public sector in Hong Kong and media and
advertising business comprising television broadcasting business
in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding the PRC) and digital marketing
business on overseas market in return for advertising and related
revenue. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
continued to focus on rendering civil engineering services to the
public sector in Hong Kong and further develop its television
broadcasting business and commence digital marketing business
on overseas market in return for advertising and related income.

Provision of civil engineering services

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group has been
undertaking nine contracts. Among the nine contracts, one of these
are related to provision of waterworks engineering services and the
remaining contracts are related to provision of drainage services
and site formation services. Details of the contracts undertaken are
set out below:

275 [0l 8

FEBTER/BTBREMFIRBELIAIRER
BREERESES GERZXE (FEE
thEl) B BAR B E TS R BB SN 5 B BES
EHED LS ESRERBD BE -
T—H-ZA=+—HULFE xEEEEST
REBARNESFIRHEIATIZRS  E—
TERABRBIES URNEBINTHHE
IS EHET > UIGESREREUA -

RMEATRZRS

BE_ S _—F=-BA=+—HLEE x&E£E
—HETAEEN RABESNF Hh—I18
BRIBHKB IRRRBER HRa08)fiEgH
IR R BFERE B -FTAEENZ
EIEEIIWT

Contract period

Contract number  Particulars of contract Client under main contracts
BHET CRE] ER REFEANSHE
Main contracts
a4
Q067133 Elevated Road along Lohas Park Road MTR Corporation Mar 2019 - Jul 2019
and the pedestrian footbridge FB1 Limited
HEMBBZBRBERITAREB SAERERAT —ZT-AF=AZE
“E-NFtA
ND/2019/08 Site formation works at remaining part of  Civil Engineering Jan 2020 - May 2021
Tai Po area 39 and Development
Department of the
Government
AERIRGFTHAINHBEETE BRNIAIEREERE “Z°2£-—-A%F
“ET-F1A
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERmR

Contract period

Contract number  Particulars of contract Client under main contracts
BHETR EEES ER REFSHNEHEH
Subcontracts
SEEN
CV/2015/03 Site Formation and Infrastructural Works ~ Hsin Chong Tsun Yip  Nov 2015 - May 2019
near Tong Hang Road and Tsz Tin Joint Venture
Road in Area 54, Tuen Mun
FR TR E T R R REERN MEEXHE “2-15+-A%F
MEBTERERTR “2-NE1LA
CV/2016/10 Site Formation and Association Hsin Chong Tsun Yip ~ Dec 2017 - Jun 2021

Infrastructural Works For Development Joint Venture
of Columbarium at Sandy Ridge
Cemetery

RYRASRBERANIHTER HFEERWE "3 tEtoAs R
*E%ﬁ%@l%g :g:_ﬂzﬁﬁ éz@{gﬁ -0 milion
PYC- Site Formation, Foundation & Sub- Paul Y. Construction  Aug 2020 - Dec 2022 2,276,600,000% ¢
03084BAH-001 structure Works for the Student Company Limited T
Residence Development at The o am SIS
p
Hong Kong University of Science and il (Nofe) .
HK$1,200.1 million
Technology a0 2
REBHEABHSLARIEN  RERRARAY 2 -2E)\AD BERATERE (D
THTE HMER THEHETR “EZE+IR R
ND/2018/02 The Establishment of an Agricultural Pak ~ Paul Y. Tsun Yip Joint ~ Oct 2020 - Oct 2022
in Kwu Tung South (Phase 1) Venture
RERERIRER (F15) REEXEHE -2 EES
ZZTTFTA
1002EM19A Design-Build-Operate for the Additional Paul Y - Qianhai Joint  Dec 2020 - Dec 2023
District Cooling System (DCS) at the Venture
Kai Tak Development (KTD)
REZEBEIEHMS RN RE—FBHE “ZEEA+°ARE
Rt BEREE ZZT=f+CH
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Contract period

Contract number  Particulars of contract Client under main contracts
BHETR ELES ER REXSHNENEH
Joint Operations
BEER
ND/2018/02 The Establishment of an Agricultural Pak  Civil Engineering Oct 2020 - Oct 2022
in Kwu Tung South (Phase 1) and Development
Department of the
Government
RERRRIRER (F15) BRtATIRAEE Z“ZT°ZHTEE
ZZTTF1A
4/WSD/19 Development of Anderson Road Quarry ~ WSD Sept 2020 - Sept 2025
site — construction of grey water
treatment plant
RERBAREER- KBE “ZEENAE
PKERERRE LR “Z-REAA
CV/2019/04 Site Formation and Infrastructure Works  Civil Engineering Dec 2020 - Jun 2024
Near Tsz Tin Road and Hing Fu Street and Development
in Area 54, Tuen Mun Department of the
Government
BPE4B AT RAR K EEEN BRTAIRARE ZZ°ZTH+°A%
THTBRERTRE ZETMERA
Note: Amount of works certified is based on the certificates of payment  ffz# - EZEIREELRELEL KR Z AR
received from client. %R TE ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENwmBk D

Among the above nine contracts, five contracts (contract
numbered ND/2018/02, 4/WSD/19, CV/2019/04, PYC-
03084BAH-001 and 1002EM19A) were newly awarded during the
year ended 31 March 2021.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, a contract with contract
numbered CV/2016/10 was the main contributors to the Group’s
revenue, which generated approximately HK$104.7 million,
constituting approximately 43.8% of the Group’s total revenue.

Media and advertising business

In 2020, the rapid spread of the COVID-19 pandemic caused city
lockdowns and suspension of work, production and transportation
throughout the world. The Group attempted to promote digital
marketing activities on overseas video platform during the year to
expand the media and advertising business of the Group.

Looking ahead, it would be a difficult year ahead as local economy
has suffered a serious hit by the COVID-19 pandemic; economic
recovery is on the blurry side. Nevertheless, the Board will make
best effort to retain a relative business scale in upcoming year and
tends to keep industry strategies prudently onwards. The Group
will endeavor to seize the opportunities in the booming advertising
sector to step up investments in the advertising market, seeking
to tap on new customers, businesses and revenue streams for
delivering better returns to its shareholders of the Company.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group reported a revenue
of approximately HK$239.2 million (2020: approximately HK$237.3
million), representing an increase of approximately 0.81% as
compared with that for the previous year. The revenue derived from
provision of civil engineering services and media and advertising
business constituted approximately 85.5% and 14.5% of the
Group’s total revenue respectively. The slightly increase in revenue
was mainly due to the net impact of (i) increase in advertising
income from commencement of digital marketing business and
(ii) slightly decrease in revenue in construction works due to
decrease in work from certain civil engineering projects reaching
the maintenance stage or nearly completion stage as well as keen
competition faced by the Group in obtaining new tenders for the
year ended 31 March 2021. With the commencement of digital
marketing business of the Group during the year ended 31 March
2021, the advertising revenue derived from media and advertising
business increased by approximately 4.6 times to approximately
HK$34.8 million (2020: approximately HK$6.2 million) as compared
with that for the previous year. Majority of the advertising income
was derived from the digital marketing business for the year.

BE_ZS”—F=-B=1+—HLFE #~&£H
15U 49239,200,0008 7T (CE-BF | 4
237,300,000 70) * A FIEN1490.81% o 124
iﬁlﬁzﬂgﬂ&?&ﬁﬁﬁg&zﬁ“\i%f’{éizuﬂz%ﬁ
DB AN B AR N R 4985.5%K214.5% © Wi &
BHIZMEEZERPUATRIBEBZZREEMEN ()
RIS S H £ EE 2 B E WAL NN R (i)
BTRARME L THREFTEIATIRRE
HEZRREMER IS THEE  UKRAE
BEHE_Z_—F=-HB=4+— EIJtEFHR
MEEREHRIRE BEAEENREE
2 _—E:ﬁ:+—atﬁfﬁaﬂF%ﬂzﬁ%Mﬁé
¥R AEERRRESERELESRER
EERMNEI4.61Z E4934,800,0008 7T (CE -
T4 496,200,000/ 70) c REFE » KEDES
WHESX BB EHER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENwmBk D

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the revenue of the Group
was primarily generated from the undertaking of civil engineering
contracts in the capacity of a subcontractor and joint ventures. The
breakdown of total revenue by nature of capacity of the Group is set
forth below:

BE_E_—F=ZA=1+—HLILFE F£&H
WamETBREUDEBBREEDIFNEEZ
ITARIREN -BEEBESMHEEDEZRBU

marBEEIINT ¢

For the year ended 31 March
BE=B=1+—HLEE

Main contractor TEREB
Subcontractor NEHE

Jointly controlled operations HEZEHILE
Total 1A

2021 2020

—E-—F “ECEE
HK$'000 % of total HK$'000 % of total
1hAEEE 1hAEEE
FET B2 (%) FET B (%)
12,406 6.1 22,667 9.8
103,380 50.6 100,707 43.6
88,684 43.3 107,726 46.6
204,470 100.0 231,100 100.0
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Cost of services

The Group’s cost of services increased by approximately 5.2% to
approximately HK$268.1 million (2020: approximately HK$254.8
million) for the year ended 31 March 2021 as compared with that
for the previous year. The Group’s cost of services mainly includes
costs of construction services, costs of media and advertising
business and other direct operating costs. Costs of construction
services mainly comprise raw materials, direct labour and
subcontracting fee for services provided by the subcontractors.
Costs of media and advertising business mainly comprise of
costs of television broadcasting business and costs of digital
marketing business. Costs of television broadcasting business
mainly comprise transmission costs, broadcasting fee and other
direct costs attributable to television broadcasting business.
Transmission costs comprise satellite transmission fee and carriage
fee payable to satellite operators while broadcasting fee comprises
annual fee payable to media broadcasting providers and China
Xinhua News Network Co., Limited (“China Xinhua NNC”). Costs
of digital marketing business mainly comprise of costs of usage
of information contents to content providers and other direct
costs. Other direct operating costs mainly comprise depreciation
charges of LED display screens. The increase in cost of services
was mainly due to the overall increase in staff costs, materials and
subcontracting costs in respect of provision of civil engineering
services business and incurrence in costs of digital marketing
business as it commenced for the year. The following table sets out
a breakdown of the Group’s cost of services:

AR 75 Al 7

rXEBRBEE_SE_—F=R=+—RH1
FEZRBRAREFEMAUS.2%EL
268,100,000 77 (ZF ZZ4F : £9254,800,000
BT cAEBENRER AT ECIEEERY
AN ERERESEERA R EMEEEER
Ko BEARBRATEGERME -BIZFSE T
EOBERERENSEER BREMESE
BRAFECIEERBRERMA R EEE
HEBR AR BREWEBR AT ECIFEE
A BRERARERBREREGEMNER
A FERABIEREGLERRENEE
EEmzERER MBNERLSEENCT
BREEREESRTENTENEESREER
NE) (PEMEMEERE) 2FE-#IFE
HEBRATECENEREANTEARE
HEBSZ N ZRAREMBEERA EthEE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENwmBk D

Costs of construction services
Raw materials
Direct labour
Subcontracting fee
Other direct costs

Subtotal

Costs of media and advertising business

Transmission costs

Broadcasting fee

Depreciation of right-of-use assets of
transmission costs

Depreciation of right-of-use assets of
broadcasting fee

Cost of information contents of digital
marketing business

Other direct costs attributable to media and
advertising business

Subtotal

Total
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For the year ended 31 March
BE=B=1+—-HLEE

2021 2020

—E-— TETEE
HK$000 % of total HK$000 % of total
AR AR
FET B2 t(%) FET B (%)
18,632 7.0 18,072 7.1
78,417 29.3 80,557 31.6
58,660 21.9 53,217 20.9
79,926 29.8 95,830 37.6
235,635 88.0 247,676 97.2
72 0.0 1,373 0.5
- 0.0 750 0.3
57 0.0 681 0.2
1,685 0.6 1,685 0.7
27,415 10.2 - -
3,189 1.2 2,693 1.1
32,418 12.0 7,182 2.8
268,053 100.0 254,858 100.0




Gross loss

The gross loss for the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021
increased by approximately 64.3% to approximately HK$28.8
million (2020: approximately HK$17.5 million) as compared with
that for the previous year. The gross loss margin of the Group was
approximately 12.0% (2020: approximately 7.1%) for the year
ended 31 March 2021. The incurrence in gross loss was mainly
due to the (i) the progress of projects with higher gross profit margin
had slowed down during the year; (i) the decrease in gross profit
margin of certain projects awarded to the Group in the recent
years as a result of keen competition in the construction industry in
Hong Kong; (iii) an increase in direct costs incurred from (a) general
increasing construction costs; (b) unexpected complexity arising
from construction works for certain construction projects of the
Group during the year and towards the completion stage and (c)
delays in certain projects as a result of the outbreak of the novel
coronavirus (COVID-19) epidemic.

Other income

The Group’s other income for the year ended 31 March 2021
increased by approximately 11.0 times to approximately HK$12.4
million (2020: approximately HK$1.0 million) as compared with
that for the previous year. The other income mainly consisted of
interest income and government grants received regarding to novel
coronavirus (COVID-19) epidemic during the year.

Other losses, net

The Group’s other losses for the year ended 31 March 2021 was
amounted to approximately HK$0.9 million (2020: approximately
HK$11.8 million). Other losses mainly consisted of loss arising on
extension of promissory note and exchange loss, net for the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENwmBk D

Amortisation expenses

The Group’s amortisation expenses for the year ended 31 March
2021 decreased by approximately 0.3% to approximately HK$18.3
million (2020: approximately HK$18.4 million) as compared with
that for the previous year. The amortisation expenses mainly
consisted of amortisation charges of television broadcasting right
for the television broadcasting business included in media and
advertising business.

Selling and distribution expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses for the year
ended 31 March 2021 was approximately HK$0.8 million (2020:
approximately HK$0.8 million). The selling and distribution
expenses were mainly consisted of advertising expenses for the
television broadcasting business included in media and advertising
business for the year.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses for the year ended 31 March
2021 increased by approximately 5.8% to approximately HK$26.0
million (2020: approximately HK$24.6 million) as compared with
that for the previous year. The administrative expenses mainly
consisted of auditors’ remuneration, legal and professional fees,
staff costs (including Directors’ remuneration), depreciation
expenses and rental expenses.

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs for the year ended 31 March 2021
decreased by approximately 67.3% to approximately HK$9.3
million (2020: approximately HK$28.5 million) as compared with
that for the previous year. The finance costs mainly consist of
interest expenses for the promissory note and convertible notes.
The decrease in finance costs was mainly resulted from offset
of interest expenses against gains arising from extension of
convertible notes for the year.
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Assessment of recoverable amount of intangible assets

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group entered into
a sale and purchase agreement with China Xinhua NNC, APT
Satellite TV Development Limited and Proud Glory Investments
Limited to acquire entire equity interest of Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific
at an aggregate consideration of approximately HK$700.0 million,
comprising (a) issuance of 474,335,664 Shares to China Xinhua
NNC at HK$0.196 per share; and (b) HK$607,030,210 by way
of the issue of the convertible notes to China Xinhua NNC, Proud
Glory Investments Limited and APT Satellite TV Development
Limited at a conversion price of HK$0.196 per Share. The Group
completed its very substantial acquisition (the “Acquisition”) of the
entire equity interest in Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific on 9 December 2011
and commenced the television broadcasting business since then.

The recoverable amounts of Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific as at 31 March
2021 and 2020, were determined with reference to a valuation
conducted by an independent valuer, based on income-based
approach, after considering the financial information of Xinhua
TV Asia-Pacific as at 31 March 2021 and 2020, including but not
limited to (i) the financial position of Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific and its
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2021 and 2020; (i) the total revenue
derived from television broadcasting business; (iii) number of
existing contracts and memorandum of understanding; and (iv) the
market and industry condition. The recoverable amount of Xinhua
TV Asia-Pacific has been determined on the basis of value in use
calculation and is based on certain key assumptions. The value
in use calculation is based on discounted cash flow projections
prepared from financial budgets approved by the directors of the
Company covering a 5-year period and a pre-tax discount rate
of 18.8%. Cash flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated
using a growth rate of 2.5% for different countries and the growth
rate does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the
industry. The discount rates used reflect specific risks to the
segment. Other key assumptions for the value in use calculation
related to the estimation of cash inflow and outflows include
budgeted revenue and gross margin, such estimation is based
on the past performance and management’s expectations for
the market development and possible business opportunities of
television broadcasting business.

ER B E Uk o = 3BT G
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During the year ended 31 March 2021, the television broadcasting
business was still far behind the development schedule as
expected. It had not yet brought in satisfactory return to the
Group since the Acquisition. Due to the unsatisfactory results in
these years and relatively slow development pace of television
broadcasting business, the Directors considered that major inputs
regarding revenue were adjusted downwards to reflect the current
situation for prudence sake. As such, the recoverable amount of
Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific as at 31 March 2021 was assessed to be
minimal and the impairment loss, which arose from the difference
between the aggregate carrying amount of intangible assets and
the recoverable amount of entire equity interest in Xinhua TV Asia-
Pacific as at 31 March 2021, of approximately HK$7.7 million
is recognised in respect of intangible assets for the year ended
31 March 2021. Except aforesaid, to the best of knowledge and
belief of the Directors, there has not been any change of valuation
methodology, basis of valuation and assumptions as at 31 March
2021 and no other changes in circumstance and reasons giving
rise to changes in valuation approach. All changes of inputs are
made to reflect the recent development of television broadcasting
business as compared to that expected in previous years.

The recoverable amount of Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific approximated
to the carrying amount of intangible assets, i.e., television
broadcasting right as at 31 March 2020. Therefore, no impairment
loss was recognised during the year ended 31 March 2020. To
the best of knowledge and belief of the Directors, there had not
been any change of valuation methodology, basis of valuation
and assumptions as at 31 March 2020 and no other changes
in circumstance and reasons giving rise to changes in valuation
approach. All changes of inputs were made to reflect the recent
development of television broadcasting business as compared to

that expected in previous years.
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Impairment assessment of contract assets and receivables

The Group made a provision of additional expected credit losses
allowance of approximately HK$97,000 and approximately
HK$93,000 for other receivables and contract assets respectively
and reversal of allowance for expected credit losses of
approximately HK$74,000 for trade receivables based on the
impairment assessment for the year ended 31 March 2021.
According to the policy of impairment provision of receivables of the
Group, the Group: (i) has decided the receivable portfolio by using
aging as the credit risk characteristics, and has made provisions for
doubtful debts for trade receivables and other receivables based
on the aging analysis approach, and (ii) has sorted the customers
against whom the provisions for doubtful debts has been made,
and has estimated the expected credit loss, taking into account
the recoverability of certain receivables, in order to estimate the
impairment provisions for receivables.

The Group made a provision of expected credit losses allowance
of approximately HK$5.4 million and approximately HK$7.9 million
for contract assets and trade receivables respectively based on
the impairment assessment for the year ended 31 March 2020.
As at 31 March 2020, the majority of provision of expected credit
losses allowance was mainly related to contract assets and trade
receivables (“such receivables”) of a civil engineering contract
in a capacity of a subcontractor. To the best knowledge of the
Company based on the information currently available and after
taking into consideration of (i) the defaulted payments; (i) the
aforesaid customer is in the process of liquidation; and (iii) certain
winding up petitions filed against the aforesaid customer, the Group
assessed the recoverability of such receivables became uncertain
and accordingly the Group had provided a provision of expected
credit losses allowance of such receivables. The Group will take
appropriate actions against the aforesaid customer to recover the
amount. The Company will update its shareholders on any material
development as and when appropriate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Impairment assessment of right-of-use assets

The management of the Group concluded there was indication of
impairment and conducted impairment assessment on recoverable
amounts of right-of-use assets. The recoverable amount of the
relevant assets has been determined on the basis of their value
in use and fair value less cost to disposal. That value in used
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the directors covering a five year period with a
pre-tax discount rate are 17.25% and 18.80% for provision of
civil engineering services and media and advertising business
respectively. The annual growth rate after a five year period used
is 2.5% for both segment. The assumptions of annual revenue
growth rates are determined based on expectation for the market
development and is not expected to exceed the average long-term
growth rate. Another key assumption for the value in use calculated
is the budgeted gross profit and operating expenses, which is
determined based on the recent performance.

Based on the result of the unexpected poor performance of the
assessment, the management of the Group determined that
the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount. An
impairment of HK$2,872,000 has been recognised against the
carrying amount of right-of-use assets.

Net loss

The net loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2021 decreased by 26.9% to approximately
HK$73.8 million (2020: approximately HK$100.8 million) as
compared with that for the previous year. The decrease in net
loss was mainly resulted from increase in advertising income from
commencement of digital marketing business and the government
grant received regarding to novel coronavirus (COVID-19) epidemic
and decrease in interest expenses during the year.
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Loss per Share

The basic loss per Share for the year ended 31 March 2021 was
approximately HK1.80 cents (2020: approximately HK2.49 cents).

PROSPECTS

The business environment in Hong Kong was adversely affected
by the recent political tension in Hong Kong and the impact due to
COVID-19 the outbreak. The COVID-19 remains a significant risk
to the Group and its business operations, and is likely to remain
so well into 2021. Nevertheless, the Group had tried the best to
get the operations back on track as effectively and efficiently by
closely working with business partners of the Group. The provision
of civil engineering service business will continue to provide a stable
source of revenue and remains the major contributor to revenue
while the Group will continue to develop the media and advertising
business. With the commencement of new business of promoting
digital marketing activities on overseas video platform, the Group
has diversified the business spectrum and broadened the revenue
base of the Group.

Provision of civil engineering services

The general outlook of the industry and the business environment
in which the Group operates remain difficult and challenging. The
Group has been facing increasing costs of operation, including
cost of direct labour and subcontracting charges as well as keen
competition in the market which may affect the tendering activities
of the construction industry. The current social demonstration and
the outbreak of coronavirus may also affect the progress of on-
going construction projects. The intense market competition has
led to lower value of contracts awarded to the Group and posted
negative impact on the performance of the Group. The Group’s
gross profit margin is also under pressure from the competitive
project pricing on tenders and quotations, which in turn affect the
financial performance of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Looking forward, the Group anticipates that the Hong Kong
construction market will remain challenging with rising trend in
subcontracting costs and intensive competition, which is expected
to continue to place repeated pressure on the profit margin of the
Group. The Group will also proactively seek for potential business
opportunities that can broaden the sources of income of the Group
and enhance value to the shareholders of the Company.

Media and advertising business

The COVID-19 epidemic has brought about unprecedented
challenges and turmoil in the global economy. Under the current
circumstances, the Group expects the media and advertising
industry’s prospects to remain challenging for the coming year.
To tackle with the overall harsh operating environment in media
industry, the Group attempts to expand its media and advertising
business from traditional television platforms to internet and
multimedia platforms. Looking ahead, the Group aims to promote
brand awareness further and enrich the variety and contents of the
programmes as well as the marketing channels of the Group in the
future. Also, the Group will continue to integrate various resources
to actively seek business opportunities that can help maintain the
future development of the Group and bring better returns to the
shareholders of the Company.

While it remains uncertain as to when the COVID-19 epidemic will
end and the Hong Kong economy can fully recover, the Board
will continue to monitor and assess the situation with respect to
COVID-19, and remain committed to mitigate any adverse risk
or impact COVID-19 may have on the operating and financial
performance of the Group.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Shares were listed on GEM on 30 August 2010. The capital of
the Group comprises only ordinary shares.

Total equity attributable to the owners of the Company amounted
to approximately HK$345.1 million in deficit as at 31 March 2021
(31 March 2020: approximately HK$272.0 million). The decrease in
equity was mainly resulted from net loss for the year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group generally
financed its operations through internally generated cash flows.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$315.6 million (31 March 2020: approximately
HK$322.7 million), including cash balance of approximately
HK$66.7 million (31 March 2020: approximately HK$91.2 million).
The current ratio, being the ratio of current assets to current
liabilities, was approximately 0.32 as at 31 March 2021 (31 March
2020: approximately 0.37). The decrease in current ratio were
primarily due to the decrease in current assets for the year.

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio, which is based on the total amount of promissory
note, convertible notes, lease liabilities and advance received from
customers divided by total assets, was approximately 202.6% as
at 31 March 2021 (31 March 2020: approximately 145.0%). The
increase in gearing ratio was resulted from decrease in total assets
which was resulted from amortization of intangible assets and
impairment of intangible assets and right-of-use assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The group entities collect most of the revenue and incur most of the
expenditures in their respective functional currencies. The Directors
consider that the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange
risk is insignificant as the majority of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in the functional currency of each individual group
entity. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group was
mainly exposed to foreign currency exchange risk of Renminbi and
United States Dollars and the management mainly monitored the
foreign currency exchange risk with advices from the Group’s major
banks.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 31 March 2021, the Group did not have any significant capital
commitments.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had capital commitments in
respect of property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$3.0
million contracted, but not provided in the consolidated financial
statements.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s motor vehicles with net
book values amounted to approximately HK$1.1 million (2020:
approximately HK$2.1 million) were held under finance lease.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (31 March 2020: Nil).
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INFORMATION ON EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 240 full-time staff in Hong
Kong and over 90.0% of them are direct labour. Total staff
costs (including Directors’ remuneration) for the year ended 31
March 2021 amounted to approximately HK$88.3 million (2020:
approximately HK$88.6 million), representing an decrease of
approximately 0.3% over that for the previous year. The decrease
was mainly due to the effective cost control for the year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

Except for investment in subsidiaries, during the year ended 31
March 2021 and as at the end of the reporting period, the Group
did not hold any significant investment in equity interest in any
company.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group did not have other plans for
material investments and capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group did not have any
material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EERERE

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Dr. Jiang Yan (Z%), aged 52, the chairman of the Board,
is responsible for the overall business planning and corporate
strategy of the Group. Dr. Jiang obtained a Doctorate of philosophy
in Science from University of Science and Technology of China (/-
BRI 2K 1 A 22) in 2003. Dr. Jiang joined Xinhua News Agency
after his graduation from university in 1990 and held the positions
of the deputy officer and the officer of Scientific Editorial Office of
International Department of Xinhua News Agency* (i ZE 11 Bl B&
BRmEREER T ERED.
of Xinhua News Agency European Regional Bureau* (i ZE 4L B
4831 RI*t ) since 2009, and had been re-designated as the
deputy officer of International Department of Xinhua News Agency*

(FrE B ERE) E ) from 2015 to 2017. Apart from the
positions held in Xinhua News Agency, Dr. Jiang took a temporary

He had been the vice-president

post as the deputy general secretary of Cheng Jiang County of
Yun Nan Province of the PRC* (ERE LB P HEBZERIZERD) . He
had also held the positions as the Deputy Secretary of Chinese
Society for Science and Technology Journalism* (F B 3} 57 3 5 &2
@ E|#E £E) and the Secretary of The Beijing Press Association —
Science Field* At REHEZEEHME ), and was a member of the
International Journalists Alliance — Science Field* (tt R0 &
§4E8) . Dr. Jiang is currently the chairman of the board and chief
executive officer of CNC China and director of China Xinhua NNC.
In the last three years, he held no directorship in any listed public
companies. Dr. Jing has entered into a service contract with the
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from 14
August 2017, and will continue thereafter until terminated by not
less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on
the other or three months’ salary being payment in lieu of notice.
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Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Fik#), aged 50, vice-chairman of the
Board and chief executive officer of the Group, is responsible for
overseeing the overall project management and daily operations.
Dr. Liis a reporter superior (E{E527&) of Xinhua News Agency and
has been working in Xinhua News Agency since his graduation
from Wuhan University with a degree of Bachelor of Economics and
Management in 1992. Dr. Li obtained a Doctorate of philosophy
in Economics from Wuhan University of Technology in 2010.
Dr. Li has participated in the financial investment seminar of
Tsinghua University and passed the China Securities Qualification
Examination. Dr. Li has held the positions of reporter and editor
in financial and economical businesses. Dr. Li has served as the
associate director of the service line of Xinhua News Agency (7
1 ARFE E4F B4R ES) since 2003 and the editor of Xinhua News
Agency Audio and Video News Desk and the officer of the Financial
Television Centre (B£8R .0 F 1F) since 2009. Dr. Li also
has extensive management experience and culture and media
operation experience, including working with the General Office of
the Standing Committee of the National People’s Congress (£ €
AKEBZEZGIHABE) and the general office of the special steering
committee of the Central Government (F SR ERIESEE /AR T A
%), and serving as the final correspondent of Xinhua News Agency
GrEHREIFA), the deputy general manager of China
Xinhua NNC and the director of China Finance Television (1 E <
FEREEE). Dr. Liis a director of China Xinhua NNC. In the
last three years, Dr. Li did not hold any directorships in any listed
public companies. Dr. Li has entered into a service contract with
the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from 8
December 2017, and will continue thereafter until terminated by not
less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on
the other or three months’ salary being payment in lieu of notice.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
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Mr. Liu Da Yong (2|X &), aged 46, obtained a Bachelor degree
of Law in Armed Police College in 2007. Mr. Liu joined Xinhua
News Agency in 2005 and held the positions of assistant editor of
Xinhua News Agency Audio News Desk (FrEE& &0y and the
legal specialist of Xinhua News Agency Audio and Video News Desk
ChrEEE B AR4ESEE) from 2005 to 2010. Mr. Liu was the head of
the legal department of CNC China from 2013 to 2017. Mr. Liu is
a deputy director of administration department of CNC China and
a director of China Xinhua NNC. In the last three years, Mr. Liu did
not hold any directorships in any listed public companies. Mr. Liu
has entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial
term of three years commencing from 8 December 2017, and will
continue thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party on the other or three months’
salary being payment in lieu of notice.

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung (f§E#¥), aged 56, is the founder of
the Group. Mr. Kan formed TYW and TY Civil in 1996 and 2000
respectively and has been the director of both companies since
their formation. Mr. Kan has over 28 years of experience in handling
civil engineering projects of various types. In the last three years, he
held no directorships in any listed public companies. Mr. Kan has
entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial term
of three years commencing from 11 August 2010, and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other or three months’ salary
being payment in lieu of notice. In addition, Mr. Kan has entered into
an employment contract with TYW to act as the director of TYW
for a continuous term commencing from 6 February 1996 until
terminated by not less than thirty days’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other or thirty days’ salary being payment in lieu
of notice.
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Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Tang Li (BRE), aged 43, obtained a master of business
administration in executive management degree in Royal Roads
University in 2010. Ms. Tang joined Xinhua News Agency in 2009
and held the positions of accountant of Xinhua News Agency
Audio News Desk* (#72E & 1)) and was re-designated as the
accountant of Xinhua News Agency Audio and Video News Desk*
(FrEErL S 1R48EF) in 2010. She was the Planning and Finance
Director of CNC China from 2013 to 2017. She is currently the
Deputy Director of Financial Assets Department of CNC China and
a director of China Xinhua NNC. In the last three years, she held no
directorships in any listed public companies.

Mr. Law Cheuk Hung (Z£%#), aged 64, has been the
administration manager of TYW and TYC since December 2012
and further been appointed as a director of TYW and TYC since
November 2015. Mr. Law is experienced in office administration
and tender estimate relating to construction projects and has
over 34 years of experience in civil construction works for various
companies prior to joining the Group. Mr. Law obtained a diploma
in civil engineering and a higher certificate in civil engineering from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University (formerly known as Hong
Kong Polytechnic) in 1978 and 1980 respectively. In the last three
years, he held no directorships in any listed public companies.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EERERE

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Guo Ming (2E#8) , aged 58, holds two master degrees
and has over 20 years of experience in enterprise management,
investment, project operations and capital market operations.
Mr. Wu was awarded the qualification of State Senior Corporate
Culture Lecturer* (B &4k (X {EEM) in 2014 and obtained
the required qualification to work in the fund management sectors
(E2ZEEHR)in 2016. He obtained a bachelor degree of
Mathematics from South China Normal University in 1983, a
degree of master of Education from South China Normal University
in 1988 and a degree of master of Business Administration from
Indiana University of Pennsylvania in 1993. Mr. Wu is currently the
deputy general manager of Guangdong Ande Equities Investment
Company Limited* (BERZEREXERFRAE). Mr. Wu also
served as the director and deputy general manager of Guangdong
Zhujiang Investment Company Limited* (B EL T % AR #E & AR (D
APR/AF])from 2002 to 2003 and as the chairman and president
of Guangdong Yingtong Network Investment Company Limited*
(BEREBBAKRLEHRAF)between 2003 and 2015. In the
last three years, Mr. Wu did not hold any directorships in any listed
public companies. He has not, by himself or through his firm in
which he practices, provided professional services to the Company
in last two years.
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Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, B8s, Jp (BE385%4%), aged 71,
obtained a degree of master of Business Administration from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2008 and a degree of master
of Buddhist studies from The University of Hong Kong in 2010. Mr.
Wan was appointed as a Justice of the Peace (JP) in 1997 and was
awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) in the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region 2004 Honours List. Mr. Wan is engaged in
the business of property and chattel valuation and auction. Mr.
Wan is a fellow of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors,
an associate of The Institution of Business Agents, a member
of The Land Institute (London), an associate of The Chartered
Institute of Arbitrators and a fellow of The Institute of Administrative
Accounting. Mr. Wan is currently appointed as the independent
non-executive director of Lee & Man Chemical Company Limited
(a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 746) and Universe Printshop Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the GEM board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 8448). Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wan did not hold any
directorships in any other listed public companies in last three
years. He has not, by himself or through his firm in which he
practices, provided professional services to the Company in last
two years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EERERE

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (EB %% %), aged 53,
graduated with professional diploma in accountancy from Hong
Kong Polytechnic in 1990 and obtained a degree of bachelor of law
from Peking University in the People’s Republic of China in 1998
and a degree of master of science from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong in 1999. Mr. Wong has extensive experience in
auditing, accounting and corporate finance. Mr. Wong is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Wong previously worked at one of the reputable international
accounting firms for six years and also worked in Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited for over 13 years with last position
as senior manager of the Listing Division of Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited. Mr. Wong worked in a financial service
institution licensed by the Securities and Futures Commission
as vice president of corporate finance division for more than four
years and was the chief executive officer of a financial service
institution providing corporate finance advisory service licensed by
the Securities and Futures Commission for two years. Mr. Wong
is currently a responsible officer of a financial service institution
providing corporate finance advisory service licensed by the
Securities and Futures Commission. In the last three years, Mr.
Wong did not hold any directorships in any listed public companies.
He has not, by himself or through his firm in which he practices,
provided professional services to the Company in last two years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEELARS

The Board hereby presents this Corporate Governance Report for
the year ended 31 March 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and enhance the performance of the Group.

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions in the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) as set out
in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with
the Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2021, except for
paragraphs A.1.8, A.5.1, A.2.7 and A.6.7 of the Code. This report
further illustrates in detail as to how the Code was applied, inclusive
of the considered reasons for any deviation throughout the year
ended 31 March 2021.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms which are the same as the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

The Company periodically issues notices to its Directors reminding
them of the general prohibition on dealing in the Company’s listed
securities during the blackout periods before the publication of
announcements of financial results.

The Company has confirmed, having made specific enquiry of the
Directors, that all the Directors have complied with the required
standards of dealings throughout the year ended 31 March 2021.
The Company was not aware of any non-compliance in this respect
throughout the year ended 31 March 2021.
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EXERRS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is accountable for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs in a responsible
and effective manner. Each Director has a duty to act in good faith
and in the best interests of the Company.

Matters reserved for the Board include, but not limited to:

a4

approval of the Group’s long term objectives and strategy,
policies and annual budgets;

oversight of the Group’s operations and management;

approval of major changes to the Group’s corporate structure,
management and control structure;

approval of quarterly, interim and annual results;

approval of any significant changes in accounting policies or
practices;

responsible for the system of internal control and risk
management;

approval of matters in relation to Board membership and
Board remuneration;

review of the existing policies of the Company on corporate
governance;

review of the coverage of knowledge and skills of the training
sessions arranged for the Directors and senior management
by the Company;

evaluated the effectiveness of internal safeguard procedure for

overseeing timely disclosure of material inside information and
perseverance of its confidentiality;
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e monitor the compliance of code of conduct by the Directors
and relevant employees of the Group; and

e review of the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in this report.

Composition of the Board

The Board currently comprises nine Directors, including four
executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors and at least one of the
independent non-executive Directors has appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise. Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
“Biographical Details of Directors” section on pages 36 to 42 of this
report. The composition of the Board is set out as follows:

Executive Directors

Dr. Jiang Yan (Chairman)

Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Vice chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr, Liu Da Yong

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Tang Li
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth

Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, JrP (retired on 11 August 2020)

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules from time to time. The independent non-executive
Directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules.
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Throughout the year under review and up to the date of this report,
the Company has complied with the requirements under Rules
5.05(1) and (2) and 5.05AA of the GEM Listing Rules and has
appointed three independent non-executive directors, representing
one-third of the number of Directors at the Board, with at least one
independent non-executive director possessing the appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and
related materials and has access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary. The Board and each Director also have
separate and independent access to the Company’s senior
management.

Chairman and chief executive officer

The role and duties of the chairman and the chief executive officer
of the Company are carried out by different individuals.

Dr. Jiang Yan is the chairman of the Board. The chairman is
responsible for strategic and business directions to the Board and
ensures its effectiveness in all aspects.

Dr. Li Yong Sheng is the chief executive officer of the Company.
The chief executive officer of the Company is responsible for the
Company’s day-to-day management and operations and focuses
on implementing objectives, policies and strategies approved and
delegated by the Board.
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Management functions delegated by the Board

The Board has delegated the responsibilities of the execution
of strategies and decision making for day-to-day operation and
administration functions of the Company to the management
team headed by the chief executive officer. The Board has set out
guidelines for management team as to when final authority should
rest with the Board and its prior approval should be obtained before
making decisions or entering into any commitments; issue of such
include but not limited to any proposed notifiable transactions,
connected transactions, significant investments, major business
decisions related to operation and business strategy, change of key
management of the Group and disclosure of inside information.

Appointment, re-election and removal

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGM pursuant to
the articles of association of the Company. The appointment of
executive Directors will continue thereafter until terminated by either
party giving not less than three months’ prior written notice to the
other or the payment of three month salary in lieu of notice.

Each of the non-executive Directors was appointed for a specific
term of three years subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the AGM pursuant to the articles of association of the Company.
The appointment of non-executive Director will continue thereafter
until terminated by either party giving not less than three months’
prior written notice to the other or the payment of three month
salary in lieu of notice.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors was appointed
for a specific term of three years, subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the AGM pursuant to the articles of association
of the Company. The appointment of independent non-executive
Directors will continue thereafter until terminated by either party
giving not less than three months’ prior written notice to the other
or the payment of three month salary in lieu of notice.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company,
at each AGM one third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Such retiring Directors may, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM. All Directors appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of
Shareholders after their appointment and be subject to re-election
at such meeting and all Directors appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following AGM and shall then be eligible for re-election.

None of the Directors has a service contract with any member
of the Group which does not expire or is not determinable
by the relevant employer within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Paragraph A.2.7 of the Code provides that the chairman should at
least annually hold meetings with the independent non-executive
Directors without the executive Directors and non-executive
Directors present. Although the chairman did not hold a meeting
with the independent non-executive Directors, excluding the
executive Directors and non-executive Directors during the year
ended 31 March 2021, he delegated the company secretary to
gather any concerns and/or questions that the independent non-
executive Directors might have and report to him for setting up
follow-up meetings, whenever necessary, in due course.

Relation of the Board Members

All Directors are no relationships (including financial, business,
family or other material or relevant relationships) among members
of the Board.

Meeting of the Board

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Board had convened
total five meetings, four of which are in regular nature. The
attendance record of individual Directors at the Board and
committees’ meetings and general meetings are set out in page 63
of this report.

Directors’ Training and Professional Development

Every Director keeps abreast of responsibilities as a director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and development
of the Company. The Company provides all members of the Board
with monthly updates on the Group’s performance and financial
position.
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The Directors are aware of the requirement under the paragraph
A.6.5 of the Code regarding continuous professional development.
During the year, the Directors reviewed the monthly business
and financial updates and other reading materials provided to
them concerning latest developments in corporate governance
practices and relevant legal and regulatory developments. A record
of the Directors’ participation in various continuous professional
development program is kept by the company secretary as below:

EEMEBTAFEACRETARFETRSE
BRHEE - REFE EXZEERESANES
RMBEHRER UREMAR SR ENRE
Mk AR EREEELRERIRMERUKL
BRAZREAEEER - ARESNIBERES
RURRENHECRBARDWEREFDNT !

Training
1zl
Self-learning  Attend seminar
HE2EE 2mfstE
Executive Directors WITES
Dr. Jiang Yan ZaiEt v
Dr. Li Yong Sheng FKAEL v
Mr. Liu Da Yong KRBIE v
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung B E 4
Non-executive Directors FERITES
Ms. Tang Li EREXL v
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung BISESE v
Independent non-executive Directors JEIIIEHITES
Mr. Wu Guo Ming SEE S E 4
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP FEBIE » A2 S X THE v
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth FRERE v v
Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, JP SBRERERL kst v
(retired on 11 August 2020) (R ZEZZFFENAF+—HEF)
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Directors’ insurance cover of legal action

Pursuant to code provision A.1.8 of the Code, the Company
should arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal
action against its Directors. Such directors’ liability insurance will
be reviewed and renewed annually. Upon the expiry of existing
insurance cover on 30 August 2020, the Company did not arrange
appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action against its
Directors as it took time for the Company to solicit a suitable insurer
at reasonable commercial terms and conditions.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”), remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) and risk management committee (the
“Risk Management Committee”), to oversee particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. Their respective terms of reference are set
out in the Company’s website.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 11 August
2010 with terms of reference in compliance with paragraph C.3.3
of the Code.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among
other things, reviewing and supervising the financial reporting
process and internal control systems, as well as the overall risk
management of the Group, reviewing the financial statements
and the quarterly, interim and annual reports of the Group, and
reviewing the terms of engagement and scope of audit work of the
external auditors.
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The composition of the Audit Committee is as follows:

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (Chairman)
Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Tang Li
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung

The members of the Audit Committee possess diversified
industry experience and the chairman of the Audit Committee
has appropriate professional qualifications and experience in
accounting matters.

During the year, the Audit Committee had reviewed the first
quarterly results for three months ended 30 June 2020, the interim
results for the six months ended 30 September 2020, the third
quarterly results for the nine months ended 31 December 2020
and the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2021 and is of
the opinion that the preparation of such results complied with the
applicable accounting standards and that adequate disclosures
have been made.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee on 11
August 2010 with terms of reference in compliance with paragraph
A.4.5 of the Code.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying and
nomination of directors and making recommendations to the
Board on appointment and re-appointment of Directors, reviewing
the board diversity policy, reviewing the nomination policy and
reviewing and accessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Director and making recommendation if necessary.
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The composition of the Nomination Committee is as follows:

Executive Directors
Dr. Jiang Yan (Chairman)
Dr. Li Yong Sheng

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth

Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, JrP (retired on 11 August 2020)

When identifying suitable candidates for directorship, the
Nomination Committee will carry out the selection process by
making reference to the skills, experience, education background,
professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments
of the proposed candidates, and also the Company’s needs and
other relevant statutory requirements and regulations. Qualified
candidates will then be recommended to the Board for approval.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Nomination Committee
had convened one meeting.
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Following the retirement of Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, JP (“Mr.
Fan”) as an independent non-executive Director, Mr. Fan ceased
to be the chairman and a member of the risk management
committee of the Company (the “Risk Management Committee”),
a member of the nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company, all with effect from the conclusion of
the annual general meeting held on 11 August 2020. Accordingly,
the Nomination Committee comprises three executive Directors
and three independent non-executive Directors and accordingly,
the Company no longer fulfils the requirement of establishing a
nomination committee comprising a majority of independent non-
executive directors under paragraph A.5.1 of the Code as set out
in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. As such, the Company
will actively look for a suitable candidate to fill the vacancy as soon
as practicable, and will make further announcement(s) as and when
appropriate.

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria and nomination
procedures to identify, select and recommend candidates for
Directors. The Nomination Policy aims to (i) set out the criteria and
process in the nomination and appointment of directors of the
Company; (ii) ensure that the Board of the Company has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the Company; and (iii) ensure the Board continuity and appropriate
leadership at Board level.
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Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider a number of the factors

in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate to the Board,

including but not limited to the following:

(@)

(®)

character and integrity;

qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board;

requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules and whether the
candidate would be considered independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules;

any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s)
of the Company; and

such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of directors and succession planning.
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Nomination Procedures

Appointment of New Director

56

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels, including
but not limited to internal promotion, re-designation, referral
by other member of the management and external recruitment
agents.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out
above to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship.

If the process vyields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship,
as applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election
as a director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should evaluate
such candidate based on the criteria as set out above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.
Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to shareholders in
respect of the proposed election of director at the general
meeting.
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Re-election of Director at General Meeting

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review
the overall contribution and service to the Company of the
retiring director and the level of participation and performance
on the Board.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also
review and determine whether the retiring director continues to
meet the criteria as set out above.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then
make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of director at the general meeting.
Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect
a candidate as director at the general meeting, the relevant
information of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general meeting in accordance with the
GEM Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and regulations.

Monitoring and reporting

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of

the Nomination Policy and report to the Board when necessary.

Also, the Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy,

as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Nomination

Policy and will discuss any revisions that may be required, and

recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and

approval.
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Board diversity policy

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy on 30 August
2013 with a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development of the Group. The Company sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting
the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development. A summary of the Board Diversity Policy together
with the measurable objectives for implementing such policy and
the progress on achieving such objectives are disclosed below.

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises the importance of diversity in board
members to corporate governance and the board effectiveness.
The purposes of the Board Diversity Policy are to set out the
basic principles to be followed to ensure that (i) a diverse
range of candidates are considered; and (ii) the Board has
the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the
Board and to maintain high standards of corporate governance.
Board nomination and appointments will be made on merit basis
based on its business needs from time to time while taking into
account the benefits of diversity. The Company has identified
and implemented programs that will assist in the development
of a broader and more diverse pool of skilled and experienced
employees and that, in time, their skills will prepare them for senior
management and board positions.

Measurable objectives

Selection of board candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model
and specific needs, including but not limited to gender, age, race,
language, cultural background, educational background, industry
experience and professional experience. The ultimate decision shall
be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
shall bring to the Board.
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For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, the
following measurable objectives were adopted:

()  Independence:

The Board should include a balanced composition of
executive and non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) so that there is a strong element of
independence in the Board. The independent non-executive
Directors shall be of sufficient caliber and stature for their views
to carry weight.

(i)  Skills and experience:

The Board possesses a balance of skills appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Company. The
Directors have a mix of finance, academic and management
backgrounds that taken together provide the Company with
considerable experience in a range of activities.

Monitoring and reporting

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
Diversity Policy, developing and reviewing measurable objectives
for implementing the Board Diversity Policy and monitoring
the progress on achieving these measurable objectives. The
Nomination Committee shall review this policy and the measurable
objectives at least annually to ensure the continued effectiveness of
the Board.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee
on 11 August 2010 with terms of reference in compliance with
paragraph B.1.2 of the Code.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
among other things, formulating and making recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration policy, determining the specific
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management and making recommendations to the Board of the
remuneration of non-executive Directors.
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The composition of the Remuneration Committee is as follows:

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, 8BS, Jp (Chairman)

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth

Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, Jp (retired on 11 August 2020)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Remuneration
Committee convened one meeting to consider the revision of
Directors’ remuneration.

Risk Management Committee

The Company established the Risk Management Committee on 15
June 2016 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
GEM Listing Rules and the Code.

The main duties of the Risk Management Committee include,
among other things, reviewing the risk management system
of the Group; assessing the risks from major decisions and to
consider solutions for significant risk; monitoring the Group’s
risk profile; reviewing and monitor emerging risks relating to the
Group’s business and strategies; having periodic assessment on
the Group’s risk profile and risk management capabilities; and
overseeing the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems on an ongoing basis.

The composition of the Risk Management Committee is as follows:

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth

Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, Jr (retired on 11 August 2020)
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The Risk Management Committee should meet at least once a
year to consider major investigation findings on risk management
matters and the scope and quality of management’s ongoing
monitoring of risks. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Risk
Management Committee had convened one meeting to consider
the risk assessment of the Group.

Following the retirement of Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, JP (“Mr.
Fan”) as an independent non-executive Director, Mr. Fan ceased to
be the chairman and a member of the risk management committee
of the Company (the “Risk Management Committee”), a member
of the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) and a member of the remuneration committee of
the Company, all with effect from the conclusion of the annual
general meeting held on 11 August 2020. Accordingly, there will
be a vacancy for chairman of the Risk Management Committee
as required under the terms of reference of the Risk Management
Committee. As such, the Company will actively look for a suitable
candidate to fill the vacancy as soon as practicable, and will make
further announcement(s) as and when appropriate.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Company has not established any committee responsible
for the corporate governance function of the Group and the
function has been collectively performed by the Board. The
Board acknowledges the overseeing of the corporate governance
function by the Board collectively. The Board is responsible for the
corporate governance functions with the following duties:

e to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations on
changes and updating;

e toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

e to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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e to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors;

e to review the Company’'s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report; and

e such other corporate governance duties and functions set
out in the Code (as amended from time to time) for which the
Board are responsible.

The Board has reviewed and approved the Corporate Governance
Report set out in this report. The Board reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, and the Company’s
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF MEETINGS

The Board is scheduled to meet regularly at least four times a
year, and Directors will receive at least 14 days prior written notice
of such meetings. For any ad hoc Board meetings, Directors
are given as much notice as is reasonably practicable in those
circumstances. Agendas and accompanying papers are sent not
less than 3 days before the date of Board meetings to ensure that
the Directors are given sufficient time to review the same. Draft and
final versions of minutes of regular board meetings are circulated
to all directors for their comment and records respectively. All
Directors are kept informed in a timely manner of major changes
that may affect the Group’s businesses, including relevant rules
and regulations. The Board also understands where potential
conflicts of interests arise, the independent non-executive Directors
shall take the lead in discussing the relevant transactions being
contemplated when there is a Director or any of his associates
having a material interest in the transactions and shall abstain
from voting. All directors, in the discharge of their duties, are
allowed to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at a reasonable cost to be borne by the Company.
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Details of the Directors’ attendance at Board and committees’ HE_Z_—F=ZB=+—HLEFE - EERN
meetings and general meetings for the year ended 31 March 2021 ZEZREETEZURBRIAGZHER

are set out below: B (N
Risk
Audit Nomination Remuneration ~Management General
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee meeting

Exf BHEET RYERT FHEEE ERERZEY RRAE

Number of meetings BERY 5 4 1 1 1 1

Executive Directors WTES

Dr. Jiang Yan Zafit 5/5 - 11 - = 1

Dr. Li Yong Sheng FkAtEL 5/5 - 17 - - 17

Mr. Liu Da Yong ARBEE 5/5 - - - - 17

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung L 5/5 - 11 - = 1

Non-executive Directors FaTER

Ms. Tang Li EELT 0/5 0/4 - = = 0/1

Mr. Law Cheuk Hung BIOERE 5/5 404 = = = 17

Independent non-executive Directors BInTESE

Mr. Wu Guo Ming SEREE 4/5 4/4 1 1 1 1

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, 885, /7 FEREL wenes tPat 5/5 4/4 11 11 17 17

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth TRERSE 5/5 4/4 1N 1N 1 1

Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, J2 BRERL rrgt 11 - 11 - - 17
(retired on 11 August 2020) (RZEZFF)| F+—HER)

Average attendance rate THEER 88.0% 80.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 90.0%

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS EERIIMNEREMZENET

AND EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the Financial ZE&S5REABEZEEGEMEFIRAIZIK
Statements, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs, EERE > R E T KA Tl i B & B E 75k
results and cash flows of the Group in accordance with relevant law i~ #E& RIS HRE 2 HFEWEK -

and disclosure requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about its ZAASIZHEMHHAFTREMBELHNRES T
reporting responsibilities on the Financial Statements is set out in =~ BN AR EF2EHEFE 1068 A HIL %
“Independent Auditors’ Report” section on pages 92 and 106 of — E{EH¥RS | —H&f o

this report.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of audit services provided by the
Company’s auditor, during the year ended 31 March 2021
amounted to HK$0.65 million.

RISK MANAGEMENT ANS INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard the
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. To
this end, the Board oversees and approves the Group’s risk
management and internal control strategies and policies, which
are aimed at evaluating and determining the nature and extent of
the risks that are compatible with the Group’s strategic objectives
and risk appetite, with main purpose for provision of reasonable
assurance against material misstatement or loss rather than
absolute elimination of the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives.

In June 2016, the Group has established a risk management
framework, which consists of the Board, the Audit Committee,
Risk Management Committee and the senior management of the
Group. The Board determines the nature and the extent of risks
that shall be taken in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives
and has the overall responsibilities for monitoring the design,
implementation and the overall effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems. The Board, through the Audit
Committee, conducts reviews of the effectiveness of such systems
at least annually, covering all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls.
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Risk Management Philosophy

Risk taking is a necessary and accepted part of the Company’s
business. Effectively managing risk is a competitive necessity
and an integral part of creating shareholder value through good
business practices designed to ensure that the Company achieves
its strategic, business and governance objectives, and protects
its corporate reputation, values and integrity. Risk management
applies to all aspects of the Company’s business and forms a
critical part of developing strategic plans, preparing operational
plans and budgets, completing detailed project approval requests
and designing and managing project plans.

Risk Management Process

In addition to the Board’s oversight responsibilities, the Company
has developed a risk management process to identify, evaluate
and manage significant risks and to resolve material internal control
defects (if any). Senior management is responsible for the annual
risk reporting process. Risks are compiled, ratings are assigned
and mitigation plans are documented. The risk assessment
is reviewed by certain members of senior management and
presented to the Risk Management Committee and the Board
for their review. Risks are evaluated by the Board and senior
management based on (i) the severity of the impact of the risk on
the Company’s financial results; and (i) the probability that the risk
will occur.
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Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will manage the risks as
follows:

¢ Risk elimination — senior management may identify and
implement certain changes or controls that in effect eliminate
the risk entirely.

¢ Risk mitigation — senior management may implement a risk
mitigation plan designed to reduce the likelihood, velocity or
the severity of the risk to an acceptable level.

e Risk retention — senior management may decide that
the risk rating is low enough that the risk is acceptable for
the Company and that no action is required. The risk would
continue to be monitored as part of the risk management
program to ensure the level of risk does not increase to an
unacceptable level.

Reporting, monitoring and evaluating are essential and integral
parts of managing risk. Senior management has established an
annual risk reporting process to gather risk issues affecting the
Company. A risk template has been developed to assist in the
identification, documentation, assessment and management of risk
exposures.

Review the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control system

The Risk Management Committee met at least annually during
the year and reported to the Board for assessment. Key risks are
identified and their responsive mitigating controls are documented
in the risk registers and report to the Bard by the Risk Management
Committee.
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The Group does not have an internal audit function as the Board
has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system of the
Company and is currently of the view that there is no immediate
need to set up an internal audit function within the Group in light
of the size, nature and complexity of the Group’s business. The
situation will be reviewed from time to time.

The Board has engaged APAC Compliance Consultancy and
Internal Control Services Limited as its risk management and
internal control review adviser (“ the Adviser”) to conduct the annual
review of the risk management and internal control systems for the
year ended 31 March 2021. Such review is conducted annually
and cycles reviewed are under rotation basis. The scope of review
was previously determined and approved by the Board. The
Adviser has reported findings and areas for improvement to the
Audit Committee and management. The Board/Audit Committee
are of the view that there are no material internal control defeats
noted. All recommendations from the Adviser are properly followed
up by the Group to ensure that they are implemented within a
reasonable period of time. The Board therefore considered that the
risk management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate.

Inside information policy

The Company recognises the significance of consistent practices
of fair disclosure with the aim of disclosing inside information in a
timely and accurate manner. The Company has a policy with regard
to the principles and procedures for handling and disseminating the
Company’s inside information in compliance with the requirements
under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap 571
of the laws of Hong Kong) and the GEM Listing Rules, and such
policy has been communicated to the relevant senior executives
of the Group. Company Secretary works closely with senior
executives in identifying potential inside information and assess
the materiality thereof, and where appropriate, to escalate such
information for the attention of the Board to resolve on further
action(s) complying with the applicable laws and regulations.
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In prevention of premature leakage of inside information, the
Company has taken all reasonable measures from time to time to
ensure proper preservation of confidentiality of inside information
until disclosure to the general public, including inter alia:

° restrictive access to inside information to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentially;

° appropriate confidentiality agreements are put in place when
entering into any significant negotiations;

° inclusion of a strict prohibition on the unauthorised use or
disclosure of inside information in employee code of conduct;
and

° policy is issued to all employees annually reminding their
duties and obligations in respect of any dealings in the listed
securities of the Company as well as its subsidiaries and
associated corporations.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Li Yuet Tai (EA &), aged 38, joined in the Company in
September 2011 as assistant to chief financial officer and re-
designated as company secretary on 1 June 2012. Ms. Li holds
a bachelor’s degree in business administration in Professional
Accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and has
over 7 years of working experience in auditing and accounting
in Hong Kong and the PRC. Ms. Li is a member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining the
Company, Ms. Li has served in an international accounting firm for
five years. In the last three years, Ms. Li held no directorships in any
listed public companies.

68 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021

ABLEBFREARER  ARBFAERRE
BERERALARKENSHER AEHE
WREMEEEEME BEaE

s RIRERZNBEHNEESHANRHEE
ERBHENEETERANRSENRE

=%

s ENTEMEXREZR FIEBENREW

=
0

s EBEBRTTRIFTHEBEBEIERERER
REKERREER &

s SBFMEPEELXHER G REREES
TABHNB AR RHAABEZEN £
RN EFREE-

NEWE

FHBYRL 38® BE——FNAMAR
NE AU BEENE W T —_F A —
HEESAEWE -FTRIFAEERIXKE
THEEEXSFH 2R URNEBEKPE
BEBRTEERZRGS LR -FTLLS
EBEHMAEEE -MAXRTA  Fut
KRR g MEBAERALF - EBE=
FRFLTUHEREN LT RARAEEEE
ER-



The company secretary took more than 15 hours’ professional
training for the year ended 31 March 2021. Reporting to the chief
executive officer, the company secretary plays an important role in
ensuring proper Board procedures are tailored to the Company’s
business needs and compliance with all applicable laws, rule
and regulations. The Directors could obtain advices and services
from the company secretary for any updates and developments
in corporate governance, applicable laws and regulations when
necessary.

The company secretary, as delegated by the Chairman, is
responsible for preparing the meeting agenda, serving notice to
the Board at least 14 days before the regular meetings or at a
reasonable time for other ad-hoc meetings, and providing relevant
Board papers to Directors at least 3 days before the meetings, so
as to ensure that the Directors receive adequate, accurate, clear,
complete and reliable information in a timely manner for effective
and informed decision making.

The company secretary also ensures that the Board meetings are
convened and constituted in accordance with all applicable laws,
regulations and the procedural requirements set out in the articles
of association at all times. In addition, the company secretary
will take minutes of the meetings and circulate them to Directors
for comments at a reasonable time after the meetings. After
incorporating Directors’ comments, the executed version of the
minutes will be maintained by the company secretary and be open
for Directors’ inspection during normal office hours.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Board believes that general meetings can provide an
open forum for communication between the Board and the
Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to attend general
meetings of the Company and give valuable advices to the
Company through this direct communication platform. The
Company will convene AGM every year and convene any other
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) as required.

1. The way in which Shareholders can convene an EGM

Any one or more Shareholders holding not less than 10% of
the issued share capital at the time of deposit of the requisition
and carrying the right of voting at general meeting can deposit
a written request to convene an EGM.

The written request must state the purposes of the meeting,
signed by the Shareholders concerned and deposited to the
Board or the company secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business at Suites 2708-10, 27/F, Everbright Centre,
108 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, and may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one
or more Shareholders. The request will be verified with the
Company’s share registrar and upon its confirmation that
the request is proper and in order, the company secretary
will notify the Board to convene an EGM and include the
resolution in the agenda. The Board shall convene and hold
such general meeting within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If the request is verified to be not in order,
Shareholders concerned will be advised of the result and no
EGM will be convened.

If within twenty-one days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such general meeting, the Shareholders
or any of them representing more than one-half of the total
voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene an EGM,
but any EGM so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the said date.
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The procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who wish to raise any queries with the Board
may write to the Company’s investor relationship contact
at Suites 2708-10, 27/F, Everbright Centre, 108 Gloucester
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, by phone on +852 3104 2962 or
by email at cnc@cnctv.hk.

The procedures for making proposals at Shareholders’
meetings

To put forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings, the
Shareholders shall submit a written notice of those proposals
with the detail contact information to the company secretary
at the Company’s principal place of business. The request
will be verified with the Company’s share registrar and upon
its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
company secretary will ask the Board to include the resolution
in the agenda for the general meeting.

Communications with Shareholders

The Board believes regular and timely communication with
shareholders forms part of the Group’s effort to help our
shareholders understand our business better. Copies of
the annual reports and interim reports of the Company are
distributed to its shareholders in accordance with statutory
and regulatory requirements and also to interested parties
recorded in the Company’s mailing lists. The publications
of the Company, including financial reports, circulars and
announcements, are also available on the Company’s
website.
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The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with the shareholders. At the general
meeting, each substantially separate issue is considered by a
separate resolution, including election of individual directors,
and the poll procedures are clearly explained. Paragraph A.6.7
of the Code requires that independent non-executive directors
and non-executive directors shall generally attend general
meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the
views of shareholders.

A non-executive Director, namely Ms. Tang Li, did not attend
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 11
August 2020 due to overseas commitment and pre-arranged
business engagements. Other Board members, the chairmen
of the relevant Board committees and the external auditor of
the Company also attended the annual general meeting to
inter-face with, and answer questions from the Shareholders.

The attendance of the Directors at the general meetings of the
Company is set out on page 63 of this report.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company’s corporate website is www.cnctv.hk. The Company
may from time to time conduct investor/analysts briefings and
presentations, roadshows, media interviews, marketing activities
for investors and specialist industry forums etc.

All corporate communication materials published on the GEM
website (http://www.hkgem.com) are posted on the Company’s
corporate website as soon as practicable after their release. The
Company’s constitutional documents are also available on our
website. No significant changes were made to these documents
during the year ended 31 March 2021. Information on our website
will be updated on a regular basis.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
EXgRS

The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together
with the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the provision of civil engineering services
for the public sector in Hong Kong and media and advertising
business comprising television broadcasting business in the Asia-
Pacific Region (excluding the PRC) and digital marketing business
on overseas market in return for advertising and related revenue.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and analysis of business activities of the Group,
including a business review of the Group and an indication of likely
future developments in the Group’s business, can be found in the
Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 17 to 35
of this annual report. This discussion forms part of this directors’
report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group can be found throughout this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key
performance indicators is provided in the Five Year Financial
Summary from pages 255 to 256 and Financial Highlights on page
3 to 4 respectively of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to supporting the environmental
sustainability. The Group is committed to implementing policies
and measures in our daily business operations to foster reduction
of the Group’s environmental impact. Detail information regarding
the environmental, social and governance practices adopted by the
Group is set out in the environmental, social and governance report
which will be disclosed in a separate report and published on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company no later than
three months after the publication of this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

The employees of the Group are one of the most important assets
and stakeholders of the Group and their contribution and support
are values at all times. The Group regularly reviews compensation
and benefits policies accordingly to industry benchmark as well
as the individual performance of employees. Other fringe benefits,
mandatory provident fund, share options and share award scheme
are provided to retain loyal employees with the aim to form a
professional staff and management team that can bring the Group
to different levels of success.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The declaration, form, frequency and amount of any dividend
payout of the Company must be in accordance with relevant laws,
rules and regulations and subject to the Articles of Association
of the Company. Subject to compliance with applicable laws,
rules, regulations and the Articles of Association, in deciding
whether to propose any dividend payout, the Board will take into
account, among other things, the financial results, the earnings and
distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements,
the debt ratio and possible effects on the credit lines, and the
current and future development plans of the Company.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2021 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 107 to 108 of this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2021.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 5 August 2021 to Wednesday, 11 August 2021, both
days inclusive. During this period, no transfer of Shares will be
registered. In order to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers
of Shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queens’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday,
4 August 2021.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 18 to the Financial
Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year are set out in note 33 to the Financial Statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 111 of this report and note 42 to the Financial
Statements.
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DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group did not make any
charitable donations.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, the Company’s distributable reserves,
including the share premium account, calculated under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman lIslands, amounted to approximately
HK$265.9 million in deficit.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

Details of the convertible notes of the Group are set out in note 31
to the Financial Statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results and financial position for the last
five financial years is set out on pages 255 to 256 of this report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of the Group’s revenue, subcontracting costs
and purchases of raw materials attributable to the Group’s major
customers, subcontractors and suppliers respectively for the year
ended 31 March 2021 is as follows:

FTEEZRKRMER
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Revenue Y25

The largest customer RAER 43.8%
Five largest customers in aggregate AREF A 87.7%
Subcontracting costs DEEA

The largest subcontractor BRADEHE 28.6%
Five largest subcontractors in aggregate ARDEEEL 58.8%
Purchases of raw materials (Notes) EEBEME (752)

The largest supplier BRAMER 18.7%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate A AREEE SN 64.1%

During the year, none of the Directors, their associates or any
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest
in any of the Group’s five largest customers, subcontractors and
suppliers.

Notes:

Total purchases of raw materials by the Group included purchases of raw
materials by main contractors for the Group’s use in carrying out waterworks
engineering services as a subcontractor for respective contracts. However,
the suppliers from which main contractors purchased the raw materials were
not included as the suppliers of the Group as the Group did not have direct
relationship with these suppliers.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2021 are set
out in note 41 to the Financial Statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of
this report are:

Executive Directors

Dr. Jiang Yan (Chairman)

Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Vice chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Liu Da Yong

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Tang Li
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth

Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, JrP (retired on 11 August 2020)

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATIONS OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company’s Articles of Association provide that all Directors
and officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty.
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Appropriate insurance cover on Directors’ and officers’ liabilities
has been provided by the Company to cover potential legal actions
against Directors and senior officers up to 30 August 2020. Upon
the expiry of existing insurance cover on 30 August 2020, the
Company did not arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect
of legal action against its Directors as it took time for the Company
to solicit a suitable insurer at reasonable commercial terms and
conditions.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGM pursuant to
the articles of association of the Company. The appointment of
executive Directors will continue thereafter until terminated by either
party giving not less than three months’ prior written notice to the
other or the payment of three month salary in lieu of notice.

Each of the non-executive Directors was appointed for a specific
term of three years subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the AGM pursuant to the articles of association of the Company.
The appointment of non-executive Director will continue thereafter
until terminated by either party giving not less than three months’
prior written notice to the other or the payment of three month
salary in lieu of notice.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors were appointed
for a specific term of three years, subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the AGM pursuant to the articles of association
of the Company. The appointment of independent non-executive
Directors will continue thereafter until terminated by either party
giving not less than three months’ prior written notice to the other
or the payment of three month salary in lieu of notice.

None of the Directors has a service contract with any member
of the Group which does not expire or is not determinable
by the relevant employer within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
EFERS

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of Directors as at the date of this report are
set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors” section on pages
36 to 42 of this report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Group was entered into or existed during
the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected
Transactions”, no contract of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.

REMUNERATION POLICY

Remuneration is determined with reference to the nature of
job, performance, qualifications and experience of individual
employees, as well as the result of the Group and the market trend.
The Group carries out staff performance appraisal once a year and
the assessment result is used for salary reviews and promotion
decisions. The Group recognises the importance of staff training
and thus regularly provides internal and external training for its staff
to enhance their skills and knowledge.

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference
to the duties and level of responsibilities of each Director, the
remuneration policy of the Group and the prevailing market
conditions.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and of the five highest
paid individuals of the Group are set out in notes 13 and 14 to the
Financial Statements.

PENSION SCHEMES

Particulars of the pension schemes are set out in note 14 to the
Financial Statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted and approved by the
shareholders of the Company on 11 August 2010. The share
option scheme expired on 10 August 2020. No share options have
been granted pursuant to the share option scheme during the
Period.

The Share Option Scheme has been adopted to provide incentive
or reward to eligible persons for their contribution to the Group and/
or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees
and attract human resources that are valuable to the Group or any
entity in which the Group holds any equity interest.

The Board has resolved to propose the adoption of a new share
option scheme for the approval by the shareholders of the
Company. The purpose of the new share option scheme is to
provide incentive or reward to eligible persons for their contribution
to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-
calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable
to the Group or any entity in which the Group holds any equity
interest.
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The new share option scheme will constitute a share option
scheme under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Board
will propose the new share option scheme for shareholders’
approval at a general meeting of the Company to be convened in
due course for the purposes of, among other things, seeking the
approval from the shareholders of the Company for the adoption
of the share option scheme and authorising the Board to grant the
share options pursuant to the share option scheme and to allot
and issue the shares of the Company pursuant to the exercise of
the share options. At the date of this report, the new share option
scheme remains subject to the obtaining of () the approval from the
shareholders of the Company at a general meeting of the Company
to be convened in due course; and (i) the approval from the Stock
Exchange for the listing and trading of any Shares to be issued
under the share options that may be granted under the new share
option scheme.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which have to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions in which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required
standard of dealings by Directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the
GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:
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Long position in the Shares:

RERGOHEE :

Percentage of

aggregate

interests to

Number of total issued

Name Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held share capital
MERGEER

BRITRERN

e g1 #wmtE Fr¥siin B B B
Mr. Kan (Note) Interest in controlled corporation 69,000,000 1.70%

L (Hizt) NEREGNEEZ #im
Notes:

Mr. Kan is the sole beneficial owner of Shunleetat, which was interested in
69,000,000 Shares. Under the SFO, Mr. Kan is deemed to be interested in all
the Shares held by Shunleetat.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any other
interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or which were required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein;
or which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by
Directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Mt

4 & AShunleetatfI E—E & %A A > TiShunleetat#
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
EFERS

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER

PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE

COMPANY

So far as was known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2021,
the following persons/entities (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) had, or are deemed to have, interests
or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures
of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in
all circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group
or who/which were recorded in the register required to be kept by

FERRREMATREQE RN KRIEM
R 17 B 2 e 33k

the Company under Section 336 of the SFO with details as follows:

Long position in the Shares:

RRGNEE :

MEEFA T

A — Z=2

S —=< —

F=A=+—8H"TF
SIANL/ B EEHEARDEIETHRAER
5N RARE RS BRI NEREBEA S
BARFHEBRBE ST P ERA EXVEE2
R B30 BBIR XA M A A B4R BE A #E o 50K
B NERNBEREANRERBR T EERE
EEFAAERTHNRIEAG LRBIEMLE
IR AEES%S MU LR EDRIKE SR
BN AR BIRERE S MG R F3361F A
FEZESMzEmaE  FENT

Number of underlying
Shares under
Number of Shares held convertible notes (Note a)
ABMRERETZ
PR 8 A HERNEE (fza)
Percentage
of aggregate
Interest in Interest in interests to
Beneficial controlled Beneficial controlled Total total issued
Name owner corporation owner corporation interests share capital
e
RS REES HEHERT
218 BHEEAA EEZ R BHEAA HEZ R “Brg REBZLL
China Xinhua NNC HEITET R BN 1,188,621,377 - 1,311,378,622 - 2,499,999,999 61.65%
(Note b) (Note b)
(Hiztb) (Hztn)
CNC China FEFENEERE (FE) 1,188,621,377 - 1311378622  2,499,999,999 61.65%
(Note b) (Note b)
(fztn) (Hfzto)
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Notes:

(@) Details of the convertible notes were set out in the circulars of the
Company dated 19 November 2011, 6 January 2015, 17 January 2018,
16 January 2019 and 18 May 2021.

(b)  China Xinhua NNC is wholly and beneficially owned by CNC China.
Accordingly, CNC China is deemed to be interested in the 1,188,621,377
Shares and 1,311,378,622 underlying Shares held by China Xinhua NNC
under the SFO.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the Directors
were not aware of any other person/entity (other than the
Directors or chief executive as disclosed in the paragraph headed
“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations” above) who which had, or is deemed to
have, interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or who which were directly or indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group or who/which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the year
or subsisting at the end of the year are set out below:

On 9 December 2011, the Company issued convertible notes with
the principal amount of approximately HK$607,030,000, carried
interest at the rate of 5% per annum as part of the consideration
for the acquisition of Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific. Each note entitles
the holder to convert to ordinary shares at a conversion price of
approximately HK$0.196 per share. Conversion may occur at any
time between 9 December 2011 and 8 December 2014. If the
notes have not been converted, the Company would redeem on
9 December 2014 at the outstanding principal amount. Interest of
5% per annum would be paid annually until the notes are converted
or redeemed.

On 9 December 2014, the Company entered into the first
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend certain terms
and conditions of the convertible notes, where (i) the maturity date
of the outstanding convertible notes with outstanding principal
amount of HK$277,030,210 was extended for 3 years and the
conversion period was accordingly extended for 3 years to 9
December 2017; and (i) the interest rate of the convertible notes
was amended from 5% per annum to 3% per annum for the
extended period, being from 9 December 2014 to 9 December
2017. Except for above-mentioned, the other terms remained
unchanged. If the notes have not been converted, the Company will
redeem on 9 December 2017 at the outstanding principal amount.
Interest of 3% per annum will be paid annually until the notes are
converted or redeemed.
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On 13 December 2017, the Company entered into the second
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC pursuant to which
the Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend term and
condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date of the
outstanding convertible notes with outstanding principal amount
of HK$257,030,210 was extended for 1 year and the conversion
period was accordingly extended for 1 year to 9 December
2018. Except for above-mentioned, the other terms remained
unchanged. If the notes have not been converted, the Company will
redeem on 9 December 2018 at the outstanding principal amount.
Interest of 3% per annum will be paid annually until the notes are
converted or redeemed.

On 9 December 2018, the Company entered into the third
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC pursuant to which
the Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend term and
condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date of the
outstanding convertible notes with outstanding principal amount
of HK$257,030,210 was extended for 2 years and the conversion
period was accordingly extended for 2 years to 9 December
2020. Except for above-mentioned, the other terms remained
unchanged. If the notes have not been converted, the Company will
redeem on 9 December 2020 at the outstanding principal amount.
Interest of 3% per annum will be paid annually until the notes are
converted or redeemed.

On 25 January 2021, the Company entered into the fourth
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC pursuant to which
the Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend term and
condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date of the
outstanding convertible notes with outstanding principal amount
of HK$257,030,210 was extended for 1 year and the conversion
period was accordingly extended for 1 year to 9 December
2021. Except for above-mentioned, the other terms remained
unchanged. If the notes have not been converted, the Company will
redeem on 9 December 2021 at the outstanding principal amount.
Interest of 3% per annum will be paid annually until the notes are
converted or redeemed.

R_E—tF+ "B +=0> AR ERER
ENEERMETIE_MHREZE BIEEAR
SHEPERENBEERERSEII N RRE
B2 IR AR - P& 3873257,030,2107
TZHARRBATMRBRZFABERIE
BERMHABELERIFE_ZE—/\F+AN

RREHRNERR XRTAFNR - N\F+
BABRERTEAZERFERED - N REE
RHNBRIZ AT BIRS% 2 FRNREFX
—RF B

RIZE—N\E+BhB > KA AREFE
MEERMET IR MRS BRIt AR
BEPEMENEERARREIIBRKRE
B2 R G P AR £ 28 4257,030,2108
TTZ AR ER 2 JHHBER2E
BERMAEEIER2EE_E_TFE+ AN
H o bR £ XX PRIl S » EMRFRAE F A& o i
ERERERI ARBEBER_EEF+ A
NBERERITERSEREEBEL -NREBER
BRI Z AT BR3% 2 EFEREEL([F—
RTHR o

RN B —F—BZ+EHAATHEA
BMENEERETILEFNSBRELE
Bt AR EPEMENDERBREE
ST MR ER 2B REE ERAESEES
257,030,210 7t 2 M A R AR 245 2 5
HHERI1F BERBAERERIFECZS
“—F+"BAHBREXFESIN HME
MERFAE - MEBRRERB ARABRRZ
T F+_RBNAHEHRTERASERE
FE[D] o N EEE R EER 2 7 BI3% 2 F
NESFZNL—RFE -

hEFESRERARAT 2020/2021 £58 87



DIRECTORS' REPORT
EFERS

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, none of the Directors and their
respective associates including spouses and children under 18
years of age was granted by the Company or its subsidiaries any
right to acquire Shares or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate, or had exercised any such right during the year
ended 31 March 2021.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Shares during the year ended 31
March 2021.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company'’s total issued share capital was held by the public
throughout the year ended 31 March 2021 and as at the date of
this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association and the laws of Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing Shareholders.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into following continuing
connected transactions:
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Television Broadcasting Right Agreement

On 5 September 2011, Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific entered into
a television broadcasting right agreement (the “Television
Broadcasting Right Agreement”) with China Xinhua NNC, pursuant
to which China Xinhua NNC granted the television broadcasting
right in respect of broadcasting information contents from Xinhua
News Agency under CNC Channels on television channels in the
Asia-Pacific region (excluding the PRC) to the Group for an annual
fee of approximately HK$1.0 million prior to 31 December 2016
and approximately HK$3.0 million with effective from 1 January
2017. The Television Broadcasting Right Agreement has a term of
120 months from 1 September 2011 to 31 August 2021. Since
China Xinhua NNC is a substantial shareholder of the Company,
and therefore a connected person of the Company within the
meaning of the GEM Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated
under the Television Broadcasting Right Agreement constitute
continuing connected transactions for the Company pursuant to
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

GEM Listing Rules Implications

Pursuant to Rule 20.41 of the GEM Listing Rules, the transactions
contemplated under the Television Broadcasting Right Agreement
are subject to the applicable reporting, annual review and
disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company will comply with the applicable reporting,
disclosure and independent shareholders’ approval requirements,
as the case may be, under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules
upon any variation or renewal of the Television Broadcasting Right
Agreement.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, controlling
Shareholders and their respective associates has any other conflict
of interests with the Group during the year ended 31 March 2021.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
EFERS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices are set out
in the “Corporate Governance Report” section on pages 43 to 72
of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

After the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19
outbreak”) in early 2020, a series of precautionary and control
measures have been and continued to be implemented in countries
where the Group operates. The Group will pay close attention to the
development of the COVID-19 outbreak and evaluate its impact to
the Group.

On 25 January 2021, the Company entered into a supplemental
deed with China Xinhua NNC, pursuant to which the maturity
date of the outstanding convertible notes of principal amount
of HK$257,030,210 wil be extended to 9 December 2021. The
amendment of terms and conditions has been approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general meeting
and the Stock Exchange on 11 June 2021 and 22 June 2021.
The above-said amendment of terms and conditions will be
subject to approval by the Stock Exchange. Further details of the
amendment of terms and conditions were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 25 January 2021 and the Company’s
circular dated 18 May 2021.

Save for disclosed above, no significant event has taken place
subsequent to 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this report.
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AUDITOR

The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021
have been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited which
will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the
forthcoming AGM. A resolution to re-appoint HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited and to authorise the Directors to fix its remuneration
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Jiang Yan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2021
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B #F &6 E % ARG
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CNC
Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
“the Group”) set out on pages 107 to 254, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATING TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3c in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Company incurred a net
loss of approximately HK$73,752,000 during the year ended
31 March 2021 and, as of that date, the Company’s net current
liabilities and net liabilities of approximately HK$315,638,000
and HK$343,193,000 respectively, These events or conditions,
along with other matters as set forth in Note 3c, indicate that a
material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is
not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to
the matter described in the “Material Uncertainty Relating to Going
Concern” section, we have determined the matters described
below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our
report.

ERER
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Key audit matter

RELER

How our audit address the key audit matter

FTHELNAHARELZFIHETRE

Allowance for expected credit losses assessment for trade receivables and contract assets

ESRBIRMIBER X EEZ BRIE BETRE G

Refer to Notes 5, 23 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note

4 to the consolidated financial statements.

E2RREMEHRRM 5 28R2AU KGR E M HRMRM FT4Z G B

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had gross trade
receivables and contract assets of approximately
HK$31,557,000 and HK$16,586,000 respectively, and
allowance for expected credit losses of approximately
HK$11,792,000 and HK$6,178,000.

N_Z2-_—HF=B=+—H> BE£BEHEEZE
WRIRMBEE R G BE E N 514731,557,00078 75 &
16,586,000/ 70> MTEAAE EEBRETIEDIAR
11,792,00078 7T 526,178,000 7T °

In general, the credit terms granted by the Group to the
customers was 30 days on trade customers of contract
works. Management performed periodic assessment
on the recoverability of the trade receivables and
the sufficiency of provision for impairment based on
information including credit profile of different customers,
ageing of the trade receivables, historical settlement
records, subsequent settlement status, expected timing
and amount of realisation of outstanding balances,
and ongoing trading relationships with the relevant
customers. Management also considered forward-
looking information that may impact the customers’
ability to repay the outstanding balances in order to
estimate the expected credit losses.

—mmE> BEERGNIEEZIRRARTERRZ
EERROH EEERBIAAXANEER R B
SRERVGRIENIRE - BFABELSR  BEEER T
FEHRERARERERE RSB REERE RN
BRZRGREE R E 5 RUGRIER B Y28 M4 K
BEREENTEMETTHN L - EEBINEBOER
EXREEAREEMARNENRIBEER bt
TERE B8
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Our procedures in relation to management’s allowance for
expected credit losses assessment of the trade receivables
and contract assets as at 31 March 2021 included but not
limited to:
rTEMERBEH - —F=B=1+—HZEBZRWK
MEREHNEEZBREEGBERBTIEZEFEEE
AR

e Understanding and evaluating the key controls that
the Group has implemented to manage and monitor
its credit risk, and how the management estimates the
credit loss allowance for trade receivables and contract
assets;

s THKTH BEEERCUMEEAEZEHEEERERM
B RIZESEN UK EEBU MG ESRE
WRIERENEETRIEEEERERS ;

e Checking, on a sample basis, the ageing profile
of the trade receivables as at 31 March 2021 to
the underlying financial records and post year-end
settlements to bank receipts;

s HWEBENR-IZEI—F=-HA=1+—HBMBPHIR
WA B 2 B UGRIE R BRE 1B i R R 45 B B VER1TER
PSR ;



Key audit matter

RELER

How our audit address the key audit matter

FTHELNAHRREZFHETRE

Allowance for expected credit losses assessment for trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

ESBIKMIBER X EEZ BRI BEREGTE (B)

Refer to Notes 5, 23 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note

4 to the consolidated financial statements. (Continued)

FASREAMBRRMGES  28R24U KRG EMBRRMFAZEHBR (&

We focused on this area due to the allowance for expect
credit loss assessment of trade receivables and contract
assets under the expected credit losses model involved
the use of significant management judgements and
estimates.

TR ISR ENEREEGERETHNES
BWRERENEETRAGEEBEET LI R
FRERXEIEE i (5t

Inquiring of management for the status of each of the
material trade receivables past due as at year end
and corroborating explanations from management
with supporting evidence, such as performing
public search of credit profile of selected customers,
understanding ongoing business relationship with the
customers based on trade records, checking historical
and subsequent settlement records of and other
correspondence with the customers; and
MEEESHANFLEHEBENSEEAEZRE
WORRIERYAR T » M6 3838 <2 5 14 /R R 58 B B IR B AR
B> i ARBEHMETRNERRL BRERXS
BT MERPNISFEEBREGR BEERNESE
REEHEECRUREMER ; &

Assessing the appropriateness of the expected
credit loss provisioning methodology, examining the
key data inputs on a sample basis to assess their
accuracy and completeness, and challenging the
assumptions management’s basis and judgement
in determining allowance for expected credit loss on
trade receivables and contract assets as at 31 March
2021, including their identification of credit-impaired
trade receivables and contract assets, the grouping of
the trade receivables and contract assets into different
categories in the provision matrix, both historical and
forward-looking information, used to determine the
expected credit losses.

FHMLTEHAE EEEEE R EZNEEN AR ER
R AME DGIGHERERTEN  THETE
B —F-A=+—HZEBZREAEBEREHK
BEZRAEEEBREE 2B EEBEERH
Erie B 5 RN EERENEZRIRIERS
NEENH BFEZRBREBERENEEREE
EED A NEMAN AR EERRAEEHREZESL
FRTEEE K o

We found that the management judgment and estimates

used to assess the recoverability of the trade receivables

and contract assets and impairment provision to be

supportable by available evidence.

FTER EBERLGMLESRIRIERENEER
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Key audit matter

RELER

How our audit address the key audit matter

FTHELNAHARELZFIHETRE

Contract revenue recognition and accounting for construction contract

B SHNm REESHZ Bt EE

Refer to Notes 5 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4 to

the consolidated financial statements.

A2REEMBRRMEFSKOURGREMEBRRMF4Z FEHEER

The Group recognises revenue over time in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue for contract with customers.
EERRREBMBRESEF 15T, 0N E
I8 B R e 58 i o

The revenue and profit recognised in a year on
these projects is dependent, amongst others, on the
assessment of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
construction projects (i.e. contract cost incurred for
work performed) relative to the total expected inputs to
the construction projects (i.e. estimated total budgeted
contract cost committed for the projects).

—F BN ELIEENWREMFAE  BREMSN BY
A BEEEHEEBEEMNSZHTEA BIETAI
BEENENRA) BHNEREENERETEREA
(B AEE AENMGEHEREE S M A) BET o

The uncertainty and subjectivity involved in determining
the cost to complete and foreseeable losses may have a
significant impact on the revenue and profit of the Group.
ST A KO TE RERY RN E 4 R 8R4
EERZIEY SEENRER&EMNERERE
%o
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Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition from
construction projects included but not limited to:
FTERBREE W GESR ZEFEEERRRN !

Obtaining an understanding of the projects, evaluated
the design and implementation of relevant controls
relating to revenue recognition and partially completed
projects.

THEREB LR EESMNB O TRIEE R BN
M RAIESI 8IS SR B T o

Assessing the Group’s revenue recognition practice
to determine that they are in compliance with HKFRS
15 Revenue from contracts with customers, including
the assessment of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
construction projects (i.e. contract cost incurred for
work performed) relative to the total expected inputs to
the construction projects (i.e. estimated total budgeted
contract cost committed for the projects).

i EEEMNWERESNESN UBERTEEH
MBS ERFISHEERENONTE BFF E&E
HERBEENEHIBA BIETHIREENS
AR A) HE R ERBENAHTERIEA BIREE
AN EHETEE S M) 05T -



Key audit matter How our audit address the key audit matter

RELER FITHNEZRMAHRAREZERETREE

Contract revenue recognition and accounting for construction contract (Continued)

HEANE REESHZEELE (B)
Refer to Notes 5 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements. Continued)

A2REEMBRRMEASKOUARGEMBRRMF4Z G R (&

e  For selected projects, our audit procedures included
the following:
s MKETBBEMS MMTHBEZXEBFEEUTEIE:

i.  agreed projects contract sum to signed contracts
and variation orders;
. BEEENETBENESEF]IaOKRMEIET;

ii. obtained construction contract from management
and reviewed for any specific or special
performance obligations and conditions during the
financial period;

i. BEEEEESERERSNILBIZNMBHABEMA
BRSRSHREITERS RIRMT ;

ii. assessed the reasonableness of cost incurred
against our understanding of the projects;

i. UXRTHEBNTRAZMELEREANEIE
% ;

iv.  vouched the actual cost incurred during the year
to details of supplier invoices and subcontractors
to check the validity and accuracy of the costs;

v. UERNMELERRAZEMHRERERRDF
ABBNFE BERZF NN E M EERE ;
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Key audit matter
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How our audit address the key audit matter

FTHELNAHARELZFIHETRE

Contract revenue recognition and accounting for construction contract (Continued)

HEAE RIERSHZ BT EE (B)
Refer to Notes 5 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements. (Continued)

REMBRRMESKROURGEMBRRMF4Z R (&

257 A

FE2H
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Vi

Vi.

Vil

Vil

Vi,

Vi,

performed cut-off testing to verify contract costs
were taken up in the appropriate financial year;
ETH LA MBSO RSB I
FEXE;

assessed and vouched to the estimated cost to
complete by substantiating costs that have been
committed to quotations and contracts entered;
FBZHE AN ABERERETNGH
G W R BRTAST SERL A A

checked to the latest certificate issued by the
independent surveyors (“Surveyors”) before year
end date for the verification of the value of work
already performed during the year;
wEEICA S (DRIZE) N E4A R AZEE
FABETIREBERWEL ZER;

checked to the certificate issued by the Surveyors
subsequent to year end date, to verify the
uncertified work before year end has been
subsequently certified by the Surveyors;

R ERAEMNFEAREL ZER UEZR
FRAKREZHEREBEEEASMZE 2T

ZE



Key audit matter How our audit address the key audit matter

RELER FITHNEZRMAHRAREZERETREE

Contract revenue recognition and accounting for construction contract (Continued)

HEAm RIERZSHZ E5TEE (B)
Refer to Notes 5 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements. (Continued)

A2REEMBRRMEASKOUARGEMBRRMF4Z G R (&

ix. performed retrospective review by comparing the
total actual contract costs incurred at completion
against the total budgeted contract costs to
assess the reasonableness of the estimates used
by the management;

ix. BHBLEBRETREEZEINGNERNSEESR
B AETOEMEDS U EHEEEM
AstNaENk ;

x. for projects in progress, recomputed the
percentage of the progress of the contract
based on input method to test the accuracy of
the percentage of the progress to determine the
revenue;

x. METHREEMS > AMIREBERAEZEMFE
BRNEEBDL MiEBEE T DRV ER
M DUFE E W

xi. for projects completed during the year, obtained
the certificate of substantial completion and
verified that the remaining revenue has been
captured;

xi. MEATIEEMS WSEHEITHEA I
ZEEEEHGRKE ;
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Key audit matter

RELER

How our audit address the key audit matter

FTHELNAHARELZFIHETRE

Contract revenue recognition and accounting for construction contract (Continued)

BEAIME RIEFEEHZ B EE (B

Refer to Notes 5 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4 to

the consolidated financial statements. (Continued)

ASREEMBRRMEFSKROURGEMBRERMF4Z R (&
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Xii.

Xii.

Xii.

Xiil.

compared total contract revenue to actual cost
incurred plus estimated cost to complete, and
assessed for foreseeable losses; and

BRI AR ERE LA LA T TR
EITHEE WH T B RAVIBRETHE s &

examined the project documentation (including
contracts effective during the financial period,
terms and conditions) and discussed with
management on the progress of significant
projects to determine if there are any changes
such as delays, penalties, overruns which may
result in liquidated damages.

WA BREENFELR (BERMBEELE
WMz B MER ARG » LR EBEmKREKX
HENEER UWEERSFREIESIREER
ZRENTEMES) AINER TR -BxF-

e Assessing the appropriateness and adequacy of
the disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements.

s HMEGREMBRERAMEFLKNEZEE M RERENE -

Based on our audit procedures performed above, we found
that the management’s judgement in relation to the revenue
recognition from construction contracts to be supportable
by available evidence.

BERATLET2EZEF ATEREEENERE
BERSHNEIWGNH BRI SRE o



Key audit matter

RELER

Impairment assessment of intangible assets

EREEZREG

How our audit address the key audit matter

FTHELNAHRREZFHETRE

Refer to Notes 5, 20 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note

4 to the consolidated financial statements.

FE2RGREHHRRMEES 20k URGEHFRERMF4Z ETHER

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has intangible assets of
approximately HK$Nil relating to television broadcasting
business acquisition in previous years.
RZEBEZ_—F=A=+—H> EEBR#HAERNBEETE
EWEERBREF 2B EENT AT

Management performed impairment assessment of
intangible assets based on value in use model that
required significant management judgement with
respect to the discount rate and the underlying cash
flows, in particular future revenue growth and capital
expenditure. Independent external valuation were
obtained in order to support management’s estimates.

EEEEMBLEEETREN G ZTEHERE
KREBEMRAERELBEREERE (CHEEREKEK
B RREARMAR) FHERHENEREERE
AXFEEBMFL M5t BB IIINLER
Ho

Our procedures in relation to management impairment
assessment of intangible assets included but not limited to:
FTEHEEBHENEENREN GZEFEFEET
RA

e Evaluating the independent valuer’'s competence,
capabilities and objectivity;

o FMEBUMGEMNER SEANNMETEHM

e Assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumption based on
our knowledge of the relevant industry and using our
valuation experts;

o MEBATHHEBITENNALEBATHNEHEESR
o sSHMEFTERAN A E REARRRAVIEEN ;

e Assessing the disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of intangible assets
with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

e MREBRITEHEARE STEGEMBRRAFRH
BEBEENKE ;

e Checking, on a sampling basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

o ERWKAE BEFRANE AR ERME
TERAM o

We found the managements’ impairment assessment of
intangible assets to be supportable by available evidence.
KITHER > SEEHETLEENBENLEESRE
Mz e
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon (the “Other
Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information and,
in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

RRMEEVYHREFE EFRETL 85
BFEEEET WEBRBR MIREER
BREAMNER URRAFBEER S
B BRIEEFEER SERBHEIFILEL
2o HfRILZ SN R E A B R B T RYME
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
18 1L 1% BB ¥R

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e [dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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e  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
18 1L 1% BB ¥R

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent HEXRBIZHEMKRENBEZIBEEEEAA

auditors’ report is Shek Lui. e

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited B gt EFEAARAR
Certified Public Accountants HEESHED

Shek Lui a&

Practising Certificate Number: P0O5895 MEFSHRIT (P058I5

Hong Kong, 30 June 2021 EB B _—F,A=+H
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROHT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mefRmkHEMEENER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 EtZE — T _—#F=H=+—HIFFEZ

Notes
Kyt

Revenue Wz 6
Cost of services AR 75 AR s
Gross loss Ei8
Other income Hlk A 7
Other losses, net HhEs1E3%8 8
Amortisation of intangible assets W B E Y 20
Selling and distribution expenses HE RDHEX
Administrative expenses THRAZ
Impairment loss on intangible assets B EERERE 20
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets ﬁﬂﬁ EEERERBE 19
Change in fair value of financial assets at BiBIEHIXATEAKRZ

fair value through profit or loss ETMEEZ AT EED
Loss from operations SIERIE 10
Finance costs G=Yn %N 12
Loss before income tax PRER{SIRATES1E
Income tax FrigiR 15
Loss for the year FRWEE
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hth2EUkE ~ (E518)
Items that may be reclassified HEGJEH 7HEE

subsequently to profit or loss Ham o EHE

Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

Other comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year, net of income tax

MERINER Z BT ERR

FREMEEWE
(B518) > HBRFAISIR

Total comprehensive loss for the year & H 5184258

2021 2020
—E-—F T T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
239,233 237,322
(268,053) (254,858)
(28,820) (17,536)
12,374 1,033
(913) (11,811)
(18,316) (18,367)
(770) (770)
(26,005) (24,591)
(7,679) -
(2,872) -
2,965 (4,636)
(70,036) (76,678)
(9,314) (28,496)
(79,350) (105,174)
5,598 4,343
(73,752) (100,831)
1,031 (1,104)
1,031 (1,104)
(72,721) (101,935)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROAT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
CERmRAMEER @R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ

Loss for the year attributable to:

— Owners of the Company
— Non-controlling interest of
the Company

Total comprehensive loss
for the year attributable to
— Owners of the Company
— Non-controlling interest of
the Company

Loss per share attributable to
owners of the Company
— Basic and diluted (HK cents)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

Notes
Kzt
TH AT
FREIE
—ARABEEB A

— AT VIFERE D

THALTREER
EHEGRETE
—ERRBHEBA
— R AT IFERED

TABEE AEM
BSRER
—E X E B 17
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2021 2020
T % —ECE

HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FAET
(72,946) (100,831)

(806) -
(73,752) (100,831)
(71,915) (101,935)

(806) -
(72,721) (101,935)
(1.80) (2.49)

BBt 2 iR UL FARE M HREZ—8 D o



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEMBIRRER

As at 31 March 2021 R_-_ZE_—#=H=+—H

Non-current assets JERENEE
Property, plant and equipment ER Y
Right-of-use assets FRAREE
Intangible assets mEBE
Deferred tax assets RIEFIBE &
Current assets MENEE
Trade and other receivables 85 REMEWZIE
Contract assets BREE
Financial assets at fair value through FEERENTE
profit or loss ARZERMEE
Cash and cash equivalents REXIREZEY
Total assets HWEE
Current liabilities wEaR
Trade and other payables B REMENLRIE
Contract liabilities BHEE
Lease liabilities HMEaE
Promissory note A RER
Convertible notes AR RE
Employee benefits BEEH
Tax payable FEIIRIE
Net current liabilities mBaEREE

Total assets less current liabilities WEENRBAE

Notes

g

18
19
20
32

23
24

25
26

27
24
28
30
31
29

2021 2020
—E-— TETEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
23,138 26,407
1,106 9,107
- 25,995
- 124
24,244 61,633
68,716 84,552
10,408 9,238
4,800 1,835
66,743 91,196
150,667 186,821
174,911 248,454
150,018 146,433
62,613 63,302
3,371 7,231
- 44,658
243,605 242,990
5,638 3,672
1,060 1,284
466,305 509,570
(315,638) (322,749)
(291,394) (261,116)

hEFESRIZERARAS 2020/2021 £ 109



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mE M BIRRER

As at 31 March 2021} —Z&F—

Non-current liabilities
Interest payables
LLease liabilities
Promissory note
Deferred tax liabilities

Total liabilities

Net liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

e - —[E

JETRENAE
FE(TH] B
HEaE
AR ER

wmaE

BEFHE

B Rki#E

feas

s

IRERED

Mt

The consolidated financial statements were approved and

authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 June 2021 and

are signed on its behalf by:

Jiang Yan

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes

Kat

27
28
30
32

33

2021 2020
—E-— TETEE
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
4,920 -
189 2,925
44,584 -
2,106 7,927
51,799 10,852
518,104 520,422
(343,193) (271,968)
4,055 4,055
(349,159) (276,023)
(345,104) (271,968)
1,911 -
(343,193) (271,968)

ESEER_ZE_—FA=+TH#ERE

TR RE
ﬁ%% :

B A&

Li Yong Sheng
FXFA

Director

EF

MHERER THTWALTARES
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

o A 3 3L A2k
EeEmE

Asat 31 March 2019

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to
profitor loss:
Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

Total comprehensive loss for the year
Transfer to accumulated losses upon
derecognition of investment revaluation

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020

Loss for the year

Qther comprehensive income for the year,
net of tax:

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to

profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

Total comprehensive loss for the year
Changes in ownership interest of subsidlaries

At 31 March 2021

*

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

;R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE

Share
capital
Rk
HKS000
AT
(Note 39)
(Hz233)
RIB-NE
ZA=+-H 4,055
ErBE -
e FAEMEAERE IHRHE:
HETENNEEER2EE
BERNERERER
ERRESBLE -
RERDREERE
HETRHER -
RIEZEE=A=+-Rk
ZZIZENA-H 4055
EEE -
EREMRENE NBRE:
HEAENHEEER VR
BERIERIERER
FRRERRLE =
KEBATMEREREE -
RIBZ-FZA=+-H 4,055

consolidated financial statements.

Share
premium*
Lib=i

HK$ 000

FET
MNote 34)
(W)

1,238,1%

1,238,19

1,238,195

Capital
reserves*
AR

HKS 000

i

Note 34)
(W)

2,758

2,758

2,758

CE /=1 —HIFEE

Convertible
notes equity
reserves*
THRRE
e
HK$ 000
&1
MNote 31)
(1)

14,400

14,400

14,400

The aggregate amount of these balances of approximately
HK$349,159,000 in deficit (2020: approximately HK$276,023,000) was
included as reserves in the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2021.

Foreign
currency  Investment
translation  revaluation
reserves* reserves*

i R&
HERE  ERER
HKS 00 HKS 000
TEn TEm

MNote 34) Note 34)
(Hi3t34) (Hi3t34)

(1647 (1057)

1,081 =

1,081 =

* R E_—fFZH=+—H-
ABEEA 349,159,000 7 (ZF =
276,023,00078 ) Bt A

/ﬁo

FER = Mt R FER S

Other
reserves*

it
HKS000
FET

(A/ofe 3
(H34)

4,214

H214

H214

Accumulated
losses*

Rt
HKS000
Tin
Note 34)
(H:t34)

(1,467.951)

(100,831)

(12946)
(1221)

(1,644,006)

Total
5t
HK$ 000
AT

(170033

(100,831)

271,969

72946)

Non-
controlling Total
interest equity
SRR it 4o
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
fEr PR
- (170,033
= (100831)
- (1,104)
- (101,935)
- (271,968)
(806) (73752)
- 1,081
(806) (2721)
2N 1,49
1911 (343,193
HEBE M
FFEH

REMBRIERA

MBEREZ

—&D
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

meaRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & ZE _—Z—

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before income tax
Adjustments for:
Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Net gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Finance costs
Change in fair value of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

Loss arising on extension of
promissory note

Interest income

Dividend income

Exchange loss/(gain), net

(Reversal of)/allowance for expected
credit losses recognised for trade
receivables, net

Allowance for expected credit losses
recognised for other receivables, net

Allowance for expected credit losses
recognised for contract assets, net

Impairment loss on intangible assets
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets

Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital
Decrease in trade and other receivables

(Increase)/decrease in contract assets

(Decrease)/increase in trade and
other payables

Decrease in contract liabilities

Increase in employee benefits

Cash (used in)/generated from operations
Income tax paid

Net cash (used in)/generated from
operating activities

—F=H=+—HILFE

Notes

Kat

RETHELEZRERE
PRPTISIR AR IE
HHEE
BB E#E 20
ME--BERREITE
10
EREEEITE 10
HEWME WERKE
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=N 12
FEE@ENTE
ARZERMEEZ
N EES
IERARERESXY
E518
F] B WA
kEWA
REE (@) FRE
ﬂg%ﬂ%ﬂﬁ%mz
TEHRE E /518 (0]
Bt PR 8
FhEMEUFIERESE 2
TEHRE E R B
THEE 8
MENEERI
TEHRE ER 1B E
SRR 8
EREERERRIE 20
RS ERERIE 19

o NN

SEEXREHAZ
KERERE

8B 5 RAMEWRIE
;de\
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2021 2020
—E-—F TECEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
(79,350) (105,174)
18,316 18,367
15,341 18,715
5,376 7,211
(18) (957)
9,314 28,496
(2,965) 4,636
451 -
(353) (213)
= (48)
364 (559)
(74) 7,920
97 =
93 5,407
7,679 =
2,872 =
(22,857) (16,199)
15,813 13,201
(1,263) 872
(543) 31,333
(689) (1,854)
1,966 122
(7,573) 27,475
(323) (1,098)
(7,896) 26,377




Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of property,

plant and equipment

Purchase of property, plant and

equipment
Purchase of financial assets

at fair value through profit or loss
Proceeds from disposal of financial
assets at fair value through

profit or loss
Proceeds from disposal of

financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Interest received
Dividend received

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of lease liabilities
Proceeds from deemed disposal of

subsidiary

Net cash used in financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and

cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the

beginning of the year

Effects of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents

at the end of the year

REZHELEZRERE

LENE -BERREZ
PRiS®IR

BEYE - BRERE

BEABBLRATE
ARZEMEE

HEFBEREATE
ARZERMEEY
FR1S7E

ﬁ’%LﬂET&%@H&E&
BAFEARZ
TREEZFISHIE

BWFHE

BUWRKRE

RERHMARE R

MEZHELEZRERE

BEHEARE

RIELENB AT
PRiSRR

MEES AR R

RERREEEY
(RL) 18 hni3 4R

FMRERFEEFEY

EERE T HE

FRASRHESEEN

The accompany notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

2021 2020
—E_—F =T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
194 1,430
(11,545) (7,476)
- (2,154)
- 1,864
- 1,245
353 213
- 48
(10,998) (4,830)
(7,668) (9,831)
1,496 -
(6,172) (9,831)
(25,066) 11,716
91,196 79,915
613 (435)
66,743 91,196
BBz At EEaBHREx e —30 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ir G M B e R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ

1.

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 15 March 2010 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are located at the offices of Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands and Suites 2708 — 2710, 27/F, Everbright
Centre, 108 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
respectively. Its substantial shareholder is China Xinhua News
Network Co., Limited (“China Xinhua NNC”), which owns
29.31% of the issued share capital of the Company.

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are the provision of
civil engineering services for the public sector in Hong Kong
and media and advertising business comprising television
broadcasting business in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding the
People’s Republic of China (“the PRC”)) and digital marketing
business on overseas market in return for advertising and
related revenue.

At 31 March 2021, the major shareholder of the Company is
China Xinhua NNC, a company incorporated in Hong Kong.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

2.1 Amendments to HKFRS that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
“Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards” and the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accounts (“HKICPA”) for the first time in the
current year for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to Definition of Material
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

Amendments to Definition of a Business
HKFRS 3

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 Reform
and HKFRS 7

The application of the “Amendments to References to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards” and
the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performances for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

ERAMIIEBMBRSER (IEEHR
BWREER)) REETE
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EB QR BER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e MR s

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

2.2 New and Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not

116

yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are

not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments’

COVID-19-Related Rent

Concession?

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Amendments to HKFRSInterest Rate Benchmark

9, HKAS 39, HKFRS
7, HKFRS 4 and

Reform — Phase 2°

HKFRS 16

Amendments Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 between an Investor and its
and HKAS 28 associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)’

Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Costs of
Fulfiling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020?
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

FERAMIEBMBRGER (IEEM
BEREEN) REETEX (@

22 ERMERRERZHMTEEME

2.2 New and Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not

yet effective (Continued)

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022,

= Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

WEEUREETE ()

T O RITECZF-A-HEZERKZ
FERIREL

e KRB TF—A—HEZERBZ
FERRL

o PREE AR ERHEZFER

determined. BIEZK -
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. T RIIEFEZFFNA—HHZERHBZ
FERRIERL -

J Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

The directors anticipate that the application of all new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, which is a
collective term that includes all applicable individual
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), and
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements includes applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or liability, the Group
takes into account the characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases”,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets”.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation (Continued)

(c)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirely, which
are described as follows:

e |Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

e |evel 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e | evel 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

Going concern basis

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group notwithstanding that:

e The Group has incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$73,752,000 during the year ended 31 March
2021 and, as of that date, the Group had net
current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately
HK$315,638,000 and HK$343,193,000 respectively;
and

e  The Group had convertible notes of approximately
HK$243,605,000 which are due within the next
twelve months after 31 March 2021.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
(c) Going concern basis (Continued)

The directors adopted the going concern basis in the
preparation of consolidated financial statements and
implemented the following measures in order to improve
the working capital and liquidity and cash flow position of
the Group:

(1) Financial support

China Xinhua News Network Co., Limited (“China
Xinhua NNC”), one of the major shareholders
of the Company and a convertible notes holder,
has confirmed to provide financial support to the
Group in a reasonable manner under relevant laws
and regulatory requirements, to maintain the going
concern of the Company. The financial support
only refers to allow the Company to extend the
repayment for the liabilities due to China Xinhua
NNC to not earlier than 12 months commencing
from 31 March 2021, including (1) the convertible
notes in the principal amount of approximately
HK$257,030,000; (2) the interest payable on the
convertible notes amounted to approximately
HK$58,804,000 as of 31 March 2021; and (3) the
liabilities due to China Xinhua NNC of approximately
HK$23,337,000 as of 31 March 2021 in respect of
annual fee for television broadcasting right, carriage
fee payment and satellite transmission fee, if the
repayment would cause the Company to be unable
to settle its liabilities due to other parties when they
fall due.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(c) Going concern (Continued)

(2) Alternative source of funding

The Group is actively considering to raise new
capital by carrying out fund raising activities
including but not limited to rights issue, open offer,
placing of new shares and issuance of convertible
note.

In the opinion of the directors, in light of the various
measures/arrangements implemented after the end
of the reporting period, the Group will have sufficient
working capital for its current requirements and it is
reasonable to expect the Group to remain a commercially
viable concern. Accordingly, the directors are satisfied
that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a
going concern, it may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
Adjustments would have to be made to write down the
value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for any future liabilities which might arise and to reclassify
non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and
liabilities respectively. The effect of these adjustments
has not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(d) Functional and presentation currency

BE_FE_—HF=-FH=1—HIFE

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company. All values are rounded to the
nearest thousand dollars (HK$'000) except otherwise
indicated.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
(including structured entities) controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

e has power over the investee;

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BAREEBUEE (&

() REBE (&

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component item of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

BE_FE_—HF=-FH=1—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do
nor result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s relevant components of equity
and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the
Group and the non-controlling interests according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs).The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(b)

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the assets, and obligations for the
liabilities, relating to the joint arrangement. Joint control
is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in
which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a sale
or contribution of assets), the Group is considered to be
conducting the transaction with other parties to the joint
operation, and gains and losses resulting from the sale or
contribution are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of other parties’
interests in the joint operation.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation
in which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a
purchase of assets), the Group does not recognise its
share of the gains and losses until it resells those asset to
a third party.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(c) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost,
less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes
professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Such properties are classified to
the appropriate categories of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets (other than properties under construction) less
their residual values over their useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. The
principal annual rates used for the current year are as

follows:

Site offices Over the respective project terms

Leasehold 30% or over the respective life of
improvements the leases, whichever is shorter

Machinery 20% - 30%

Furniture and fixtures 20%
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(c)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
the date of initial application or arising from business
combination, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(d) Leases (Continued)

As a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and non-
lease components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease component,
and instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar
characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis when
the Group reasonably expects that the effects on the
financial statements would not differ materially from
individual leases within the portfolio.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of machinery and property that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease
of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(d) Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received,;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEREEBUEE (&

(d) Leases (Continued) (d) THE &

As a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term is depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statements of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(d) Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

e amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group; and

e payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option
to terminate the lease.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(d) Leases (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

e the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(d) Leases (Continued)

(e)

As a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease maodification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
and recognised separately from goodwill are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which
is regarded as their cost).
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(e)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination (Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful
lives are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful lives and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of the reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gain and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

() Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivable
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL") are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(®

Financial instruments (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and measurement of financial assets at
amortised cost

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets at
amortised cost (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEREEBUEE (&

() Financial instruments (Continued)  ERMIE @
Financial assets (Continued) ETHEE (B)
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if: B THER MEMEENDER
F1EEE !

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of e BARETHEEZIEHNA
selling in the near term; or RAABREE ; 3

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of e NYIPHMARZEMEBEEALRX
identified financial instruments that the Group SEHEFEEZEH#EMT
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of PG 280 BIRHRERERE
short-term profit-taking; or ¥2HERA ;5

e itis a derivative that is not designated and effective e ZEMEBEEARUIFIETEERBEN
as a hedging instrument. EAHHATRZITET A

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a b4 > REB B EH A AT HCl35 € »

financial asset that are required to be measured at the REZREHEHAANBAEMEE

amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing WmBAFEARFENETHEE

so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting IEEATBRGEEATFEARS S

mismatch. el W0t BT E PR REE R & BT B8 ED o
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest incorme

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is presented as
a separate line item.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

() Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group perform impairment assessment under
expected credit losses (“ECL”) model on financial assets
which are subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (including trade and other receivables, contract
assets and cash and cash equivalents). The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting period to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting period.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting period as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables without significant financial component. The
ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors
with significant balances and collectively using a provision
matrix with appropriate groupings.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BAREEBUEE (&

( EMIA@#E

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting period with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(®

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

e significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(@ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(®

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

For collective assessment the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

e  Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e External credit ratings where available.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(®

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables,
other receivables and contract assets where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as financial liabilities or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade payables and other
payables, convertible notes, promissory note, lease
liabilities and employee benefits) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when derivative contracts are entered into and
are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the
end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(®

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Convertible loan notes contain equity component

The component parts of the convertible loan notes
are classified separately as financial liability and equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument. A conversion option that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of
cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of
the Company’s own equity instruments is an equity
instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component (including any embedded non-equity
derivatives features) is estimated by measuring the fair
value of similar liability that does not have an associated
equity component.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by
deducting the amount of the liability component from the
fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This
is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax
effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition,
the conversion option classified as equity will remain in
equity until the conversion option is exercised, in which
case, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred
to share premium. Where the conversion option remains
unexercised at the maturity date of the convertible note,
the balance recognised in equity will be transferred
to accumulated losses. No gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the
conversion option.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Convertible loan notes contain equity component
(Continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible loan notes are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation of the
gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity
component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in
the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised
over the period of the convertible loan notes using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit
or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(®

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities
(Continued)

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are
modified, the Group assess whether the revised terms
result in a substantial modification from original terms
taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances
including qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment
is not conclusive, the Group considers that the terms
are substantially different if the discounted present
value of the cash flows under the new terms, including
any fees paid net of any fees received, and discounted
using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10
per cent different from the discounted present value
of the remaining cash flows of the original financial
liability. Accordingly, such modification of terms is
accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees
incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on
the extinguishment. The exchange or modification is
considered as non-substantial modification when such
difference is less than 10 per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities
that do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount
of the relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at the
present value of the modified contractual cash flows
discounted at the financial liabilities’ original effective
interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are
adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified financial
liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term. Any
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial liability
is recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities
(Continued)

When the contractual terms of financial liability are
modified such that the revised terms would result in a
substantial modification from the original terms after
considering qualitative factors (e.g. modifications of
convertible instruments)

When the contractual terms of a convertible instrument
are modified, such as extending the tenure, change
in exercise price of the underlying options, the revised
terms would result in a substantial modification from
the original terms, after taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors,
such maodification is accounted for as derecognition of
the original financial liability and the recognition of new
financial liability. The difference between the carrying
amount of financial liability derecognised and the
fair value of consideration paid or payable, including
any liabilities assumed and derivative components
recognised, is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(g) Construction contracts

(h)

The Group completes satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligations over time and the revenue is
recognised during the contract period based on the
performance progress, which is determined by input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of the Group'’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services. When the Group is not
able to reasonably measure its performance progress,
the Group recognises revenue only to the extent of the
recoverable amount of costs incurred until such time that
it can reasonably measure the performance progress.

Revenue recognition

The Group recognise revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation
is transferred to the customer.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BAREEBUEE (&

(h) WzEFESD ()

(h) Revenue recognition (Continued)

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

e the Group’s performance does not create and
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(h) Revenue recognition (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of the Group'’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(i)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from ‘loss before income tax’
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(@i

Taxation (Continueq)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(i)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attribute to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over
the lease terms due to application of the initial recognition
exemption.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(@i

@)

Taxation (Continueq)

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Employee benefits

1.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Short term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave in the period the related service
is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that
service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-
term employee benefits are measured at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid in exchange for the related service.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

)

Employee benefits (Continued)

3. Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a
result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed
formal plan which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long service
payments payable on cessation of employment
in certain circumstances under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance is the amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in return for
their service in the current and prior periods. The
obligation is calculated using the projected unit
credit method, discounted to its present value and
reduced by entitiements accrued under the Group’s
retirement plans that are attributable to contributions
made by the Group.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(k)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(k)

U

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

0

Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. WWhen a provision is measured
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(m) Borrowing costs

(n)

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences on monetary items receivable from
or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of
the monetary items.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(n)

(o)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expense items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of foreign
currency translation reserve.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(o)

(p)

Segment information (Continued)

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of products and services, the nature of
production processes, the type of class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material
may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Related party

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
entity that is preparing the financial statements:

(1) A person or a close member of that person’s family

is related to the Group if that person:

()  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(p) Related party (Continued)

@

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
condition applies:

)

(i)

(i)

(V)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third party.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsorship employers
are also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (1).
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(p) Related party (Continued)

(2) Anentity is related to the Group if any of the following
condition applies: (Continued)

(vii) A person identified in (1)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
service to the Group’s or the Group’s parent.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources,
services or obligations between a reporting entity and a
related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

() that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(q) Separate financial statement

r

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose
entities) over which the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies generally
accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of
the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible
are considered when assessing whether the Group
controls another entity.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account
for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group which
qualifies as business combination, except for those
acquisitions which qualify as a common control
combination and are therefore accounted for using the
merger accounting.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(r) Subsidiaries (Continued)

Under the purchase method of accounting, subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date that control ceases. The cost of an acquisition
is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity
instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed
at the date of exchange and, all acquisition-related
costs are expensed. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at
the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference
is recognised directly in the consolidated statements of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(s) Government grant

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 4, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continueq)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that management has made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

(i

Construction contract revenue recognition

Revenue recognition on a project is dependent on
management’s estimation of the total outcome of the
construction contracts, with reference to the proportion
that contract costs incurred for work performed to
date to the estimated total costs for the contracts. The
Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract
revenue, contract costs, variation orders and provision for
claims, prepared for each construction contract as the
contract progresses. Budgeted construction costs are
prepared by the management on the basis of quotations
from time to time provided by the major contractors,
suppliers or vendors involved and the experience of
the management. In order to keep the budget accurate
and up-to-date, the management conducts periodic
reviews of the management budgets by comparing the
budgeted amounts to the actual amounts incurred. The
provision for claims is determined on the basis of the
delay in the number of workdays of the completion of
the construction works which is highly subjective and is
subject to negotiation with the customers. Management
conducts periodic review of the provisioning amount.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

(i)

Construction contract revenue recognition
(Continued)

Significant judgement is required in estimating the
contract revenue, contract costs, variation works and
provision for claims which may have an impact in terms
of percentage of completion and profit taken. The
judgements of the management are based on contract
costs and revenues on the latest available information,
which includes detailed contract valuations. In many
cases the results reflect the expected outcome of long-
term contractual obligations which span more than
one reporting period. Contract costs and revenues are
affected by a variety of uncertainties that depend on the
outcome of future events and often need to be revised
as events unfold and uncertainties are resolved. The
estimates of contract costs and revenues are updated
regularly and significant changes are highlighted through
established internal review procedures. In particular,
the internal reviews focus on the timing and recognition
of payments and the age and recoverability of any
disagreed income from variations to the contract scope
or claims. The impact of the changes in accounting
estimates is then reflected in the ongoing results.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continueq)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

(i) Provision of ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for
the trade receivables and contract assets. The provision
matrix is based on the Group’s historical default rates
taking into consideration forward-looking information that
is reasonable and supportable available without undue
costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes
in the forward-looking information are considered. In
addition, trade and other receivables and contract
assets with significant balances and credit-impaired are
assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

BE_FE_—HF=-FH=1—HIFE

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i) Estimated impairment of property, plant and

equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
asset

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible asset are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to
exercise judgement and make estimation, particularly
in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any
indicators that may affect the asset value; (2) whether
the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net
present value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating
the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections
and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset
(including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which
the assets belongs, including allocation of corporate
assets when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, otherwise recoverable
amount is determined at the smallest group of cash
generating units, for which the relevant corporate assets
have been allocated. Changing the assumptions and
estimates, including the discount rates or the growth rate
in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amounts.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continueq)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i) Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
asset (Continued)

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amounts of right-
of-use assets, property, plant and equipment, and
intangible assets subject to impairment assessment
were approximately HK$1,106,000, HK$23,138,000
and HK$Nil (2020: approximately HK$9,107,000,
HK$26,407,000 and HK$25,995,000) respectively,
after taking into account of the impairment losses
of approximately HK$2,872,000, HK$Nil and
HK$7,679,000 (2020: HK$Nil, HK$Nil and HKS$Nil
in respect of right-of-use assets, property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets that have been
recognised respectively. Details of the impairment of
right-of-use assets, property, plant and equipment, and
intangible assets are disclosed in Notes 19, 18 and 20
respectively.

(iii) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges for the
Group’s property, plant and equipment. This estimate is
based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions. The Group will revise the depreciation
charge where useful lives are different to those previously
estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold.

5. BEEREHAERMAESRRABRERZE
BRI @

S FABERZ T ERIE (&

(i) VE -BERRE EHEEERE
FHEEZFERRE (&)

N_E_—F=-A=1+—H8B &tk
ERIZEAREE - VE - BEX
REBUNREEEERBEBD G
2,872,000 7T ~ E 87T 57,679,000
BT CEIZFE BT -EBETK
TETT)  BETREEHERE
EE - ME - BEAKBURELE
EZREE D B)49731,106,00078 7T
23,138,0008 Tk EHE T (ZEZE
£ 1 99,107,000 7T ~ 26,407,000
76 5225,995,000787T) - BRIEREE
E-VE - BEMAIREURELEE
BEZFEE DR EE19~ 18520
HEEo
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iv) Useful lives of broadcasting right

(v)

The Group determines the estimated useful life at
10 years and related amortisation charges for its
broadcasting right. The estimate is based on the license
period of the broadcasting right acquired. Management
will revise the amortisation charge where the useful life is
difference to the one previously estimated.

Income taxes and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong
and the PRC. Significant judgment is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
accordingly be adjusted in the relevant tax account in the
year in which such determination is made.
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6. REVENUE

(i)

(ii)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers

Construction works BETRE
Advertising income & WA

1 By 3 B SR U e

Revenue recognised over time

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence
at the reporting date

As at 31 March 2021, the aggregated amount of
the transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation under the Group’s existing
contracts is approximately HK$116,728,000 (2020:
HK$102,990,000). This amount represents revenue
expected to be recognised in the future from pre-
completion construction contracts and advertising
contracts entered into by the customers with the Group.
The Group will recognise the expected revenue in future
when or as the work is completed or service is provided
which is expected to occur within the next 12 months.

Wh 2k

() FREHWR=IDHF

2021 2020
—E-—F = TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
204,470 231,100
34,763 6,222
239,233 237,322

(i) FEHAR HEASFHRDNERS HRER
EEFAMEEZ W=

N B-—F=H=+—H REXER

Iﬁﬁm,ﬂﬁa BRTITRASENXZE
UAREL 54116,728,0008 0 (CE B4 .

102,990,000 7T) - ZEFIEHERME
PRAEBITUMNBIRERENINE
EENTRREZENNG AEBRNHE
TRETNIRHERSE BEAREK+Z
BA W) BeRTaHAN s

hEETRERARAT 20202021 £ 177



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ir G M B e R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HMWA
2021 2020
—E_—fF “EIEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Interest income FE WA 353 213
Dividend income %2 - 48
Government subsidies (Note) BT FEED (I E) 9,273 =
Consultancy fee income from BEREBHBWA
joint operations 1,410 S
Sundry income HEIEUA 1,338 772
12,374 1,033
Note: During the current year, the Group recognised Government grant Mzt REFE ~EBEMETBBRRRMUES
of approximately HK$9,273,000 in respect of COVID-19 related 2|7 B 2 COVID-1948 B 48 R M SR BT #/ B
subsidies which is related to Employment Support Scheme #99,273,00078 7T ©
provided by Hong Kong Government.
8. OTHER LOSSES, NET 8. HhE1E 3%
2021 2020
—E—F ZEIEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Exchange (loss)/gain, net ER (58 W F4E (364) 559
Net gain on disposal of property, HEME - BERREZ
plant and equipment W /B8 18 957
Reversal of /(allowance for) ECL MBS IR IEES
recognised for trade receivables, net FEHR{= B E51E 5[], () »
HEA 74 (7,920)
Allowance of ECL recognised for FEMEWRIERES 2
other receivables, net TRHAE BE 1B H B8 (97) -
Allowance for ECL recognised for MENEEER ZTER
contract assets, net EERIEEE 3 (93) (5,407)
Loss arising on extension of ERARERES ZEE
promissory note (451) S
(913) (11,811)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s segment information is presented on the basis
on internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the executive
directors of the Company, being the chief operating decision
maker (“CODM?”), in order to allocate resources to the
segments and assess their performance.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8
are as follows:

(i)  Provision of civil engineering services — provision of
waterworks engineering services, road works and
drainage services and site formation works for public
sector in Hong Kong; and

(i)  Media and advertising business — (a) the business
of broadcasting television programmes on television
channels operated by television broadcasting companies
in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding the PRC) and (b)
business of promoting digital marketing activities on
overseas video platform in return for advertising and
related revenue.

Each of these operating segments is managed separately
as each of the product and service lines requires different
resources as well as marketing approaches.

DEER

FEBZDHBEHDBRBEEARTNITE
EHEBZEERRE (EEEERK
E)) ROEERER DB RTEE D EF
RIEMEMRBH 2B RETUR R

BiEMs ~5BRESBUHFREER
SEOIEFI 2RO ELUNT :

RHELTARIERB -—HEBREHA
RHEKBIRERS BRIEKRER
R e EMBTEIR &

—
=

(i) WEKEBSED - (FEUNEZXE
(FEFERE) 2 BHEERABFTE
EZBRAEETBRE B ERY
EHROPBIMIAT B EERITE
HIRERIES LIS ES KA
mZ e

MRS EERMRFBENTERNANE
RS R AN RIRVE S F % B L& E
BOBROFERE-
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

by reportable and operating segments.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Revenue from external customers

Reportable segment results

Unallocated corporate income
Unallocated corporate expenses
Finance costs

Loss before income tax

RESNEER Z W

KNEEZERA
A EEERX
AN

PRATS AN
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DEER &

7 BBk K AR

FEERTERREE S ME DB W
FEBEDHTUT

BE_S-—HF=-A=+—HLHEE

Provision of Media
civil engineering  and advertising
services business Total
RMEATR
R%E EERESES Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
204,470 34,763 239,233
(34,680) (28,810) (63,490)
1,346
(7,892)
(9,314)
(79,350)




9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020

Revenue from external customers

Reportable segment results

Unallocated corporate income
Unallocated corporate expenses
Finance costs

Loss before income tax

There were no inter-segment sales for the years ended 31

March 2021 and 2020.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 4.
Segment profit/loss represents the profit earned/loss incurred
by each segment without allocation of central administration
costs, dividend income, interest income, finance costs,
change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL, loss arising
from extension of promissory note and income tax expense.
This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of

REINEBERZ W m

PI2RDEER

ROEEERA
RO
R E Bl A

PREF1S IR AT 1R

resource allocation and performance assessment.

9. NEEHR @

DERM R AR (E

BHE_BE_EF=H=+—HULFE

Provision of Media
civil engineering and advertising
services business Total
RIELTAIR
k% EERESEER st
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
231,100 6,222 237,322
(27,574) (23,332) (50,906)
366
(26,138)
(28,496)
(105,174)
HE_S-_—GR_-_S_TF=H

=t+—HLEFEREDBEHEE-

EED MG ST EERE N FAPT M B A &
EE st BRER D EEF],BEIER D
BWERDEPRITEE A REWA T
BRA-RERET BBRBEmZAFEA
BRZEMEEZ A TEEH LERARE
BRE L 2 B8 K PR 1S 75 B 32 A P B B B9
wH) EEMNEBER M I EEERR
EEBRUHEDERERKRFERRZ 5
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by reportable and operating segments:

At 31 March 2021

Segment assets DHEE
Unallocated Palie
Consolidated assets HEBE
Segment liabilties DEEE
Unallocated E Al
Consolidated liabilities FeaRE
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9. oHEN =

DEEERER

FEERDERREENMEI D ZEE

RBEIMOT
RZE-_—5=ZA=+—H
Provision of Media
civil engineering  and advertising
services business Total
R ATE
R% BERESES st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET FET
100,752 1,651 102,403
72,508
174,911
122,801 33,232 156,033
362,071
518,104




9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. DEER =

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) IHEERERE @)
At 31 March 2020 RZEZZEF=A=+—H
Provision of Media
civil engineering and advertising
services business Total
B+ ATR
R ERNESER st
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET
Segment assets NEEE 112,730 37,223 149,953
Unallocated FOBC 98,501
Consolidated assets EEBE 248 454
Segment liabilities DEEE 116,814 46,006 162,820
Unallocated by 357,602
Consolidated liabilities N = 520,422
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and BERDBRERDAEIHER -

allocating resources between segments:

e all assets are allocated to operating segments other than e REBEIARATEARZEME
financial assets at FVTPL, cash and cash equivalents, E-RENREEBY ELERBE
deferred tax assets and corporate assets. Intangible ERTEAREEIN REEEND
assets is allocated to segment of television broadcasting BEESENE - BEEENAEENR
business; and, RBEEBDE ; &

e all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other . 5? MR EE -SHARRIERIES
than convertible notes, current and deferred tax liabilities, “HESE 7?3?‘3?51?)@ E’sz% afE
lease liabilities, promissory note and corporate liabilities. 5’|\ FEE%T DB EEEDER
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Additions to non-current assets
Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of intangible assets
Allowance of ECL on contract assets, net

Reversal of ECL on trade receivables, net

Allowance of ECL on other receivables,
net

Net gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Change in fair value of financial assets at
FVTPL

Impairment loss on intangible assets

Impairment loss on right-of-use assets

MEFRBEE
NE- -BERRBINE

EREEERE
BNEERNEERE
s 38
ERRWTIRRHEERR
EI R
HEthEWIREHIEERR
s 38
HEME -BERREZ
W a3 48
BRRRRATEANRZ
EHMEEZATELZD
B EERAESR
ERESENERR
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BE_FE_—HF=-FH=1—HIFE

9. oHEN =

B —F-RA=+—HLFE

HihpEHER
HE

Provision of Media
civil and
engineering  advertising
services business
BRI ATRE REER
R BEER
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
12,441 -
14,820 329
875 1,867
- 18,316
93 -
(74) -
97 -
(18) -
- 7,679
633 702

Unallocated

KA
HK$'000
FET

192
2,634

(2,965)

1,537

Total
a3t
HK$'000
FET
12,441
15,341
5,376
18,316
93
(74)

97
(18)
(2,965)

7,679
2,872




9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. DEER =

Other segment information (Continued) Hh 3 EEE (&
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BHE_Z_ZF-A=-1+—HILFE
Provision of Media
civil and

engineering advertising

services business Unallocated Total
R ATR e Y
%% BEER Folc st
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Additions to non-current assets REFRBEE 9,872 - 4 9,876
Depreciation of property, ME-BERREBINE
plant and equipment 17,689 228 798 18,715
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRREENE 759 2,366 4,086 7,211
Amortisation of intangible assets mY B ESH - 18,367 - 18,367
Allowance for ECL on contract EHEERBEERRRE
assets, net FE 5,407 - - 5,407
Allowance for ECL on trade BARKIERBEERE
receivables, net Hifs BE 7,920 - - 7,920
Net gain on disposal of property, HEME BERREZ WG
plant and equipment FE (957) - - (957)
Change in fair value of financial assets ~ BRBABATEARZ S
at FVTPL MEEZ A TEES - - 4,636 4,636
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ
9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. DEEN &
Geographical information

& &

Revenue from external customers of the Group was all derived
Hong Kong for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

=+—BHLtFE- $$.7¥5§9|\%|3%J52
WHEEEEE-

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of non-
current assets, excluding deferred tax assets analysed by the
geographical area in which the assets are located:

UTRmEEFREME DN ZIERBEE
A ERBELERBEE) 2 REEBZDF

2021 2020
—E-— TETEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Hong Kong 58 23,154 60,250
PRC H 1,090 1,259
24,244 61,509
Information about major customers ERXERRZEN

REMBEEGFAERBYDBEB10%Z

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years

contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as BERZW@AMT
follows:
2021 2020
& —EITF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FAET FAET
Customer A (Note (j)) BR B (Ha20) 104,741 106,968
Customer B (Note (i) BRZ BaE)) 27,392 100,707
Customer C (Notes (i) and (i) EERE W0k (0)) 28,846 =
Customer D (Notes (i) and (iii)) BT Watki) 31,488 =
Notes: B 5
()  Revenue from provision of civil engineering service. 0 REREIATERBZWEGE
(i)  The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the i) BEZZEF-RB=+—HLEFEHRE

Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2020. W o 3 RS A S AR IR 75 #8381 0% ©

(i) FREREE RS ER 2 Wt e

(i) Revenue from media and advertising business.
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10. LOSS FROM OPERATIONS

Loss from operations has been
arrived at after charging:

Contract costs recognised
as expenses

Television broadcasting right fee
and TV satellite fees (included in
cost of services)

Costs attributable to media and
advertising business (included in
cost of services)

Other direct costs attributable to
media and advertising business
(included in cost of services)

Auditors’ remuneration
— Audit services
— Non-audit services

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment*

Depreciation of right-of-use assets™

Staff costs (Note 17)

10. EEEHE

SEBENKIRU TR IBE%ET
BHEY

ERSRXZ G

ERBENEERNEEERER
(BERRBRAH)

R ESEFEERE
(BER R AH)

HEMESEFBEGEMER
A (BLFE I RS R A~ )

1Z 8 B B
—ELIRTS
— IFFEILIRTS

M B R T EE”

EREEETE
BTRAE (Hat11)

Expenses relating to short-term leases B BIE A E 2

(Reversal of)/allowance for expected
credit losses recognised for trade
receivables, net

Allowance for expected credit losses
recognised for other receivables, net

Allowance for expected credit losses
recognised for contract assets, net

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment of approximately

B ZEWTRIAER 2 RHEE
B8 (BB Bk P

mEMEWRIAER 2 REE
EEREE B8R

MENBEERRZAMEERE
Bifm o FER

HK$13,877,000 (2020: approximately HK$17,174,000) and
HK$1,464,000 (2020: approximately HK$1,541,000) have been
separately expensed in contract costs recognised as expenses and

administrative expenses respectively.

ok

Depreciation of right-of-use assets of approximately HK$1,742,000

ok

(2020: approximately HK$2,366,000) and HK$3,634,000 (2020:
approximately HK$4,845,000) have been separately expensed in
cost of services in respect of television broadcasting business and

administrative expenses respectively.

2021
—E-—F
HK$’000
FHET

235,635

72

27,415

3,189
650
15,341
5,376
88,287
309

(74)
97

93

2020
“ERIRF
HK$ 000
TET

247,676

2,123

2,693

650

18,715
7,211
88,579
2,827

7,920

5,407

Y BB KRR EITEL13,877,0008 7T (=
TTEEF L #917,174,00058 7T) 1,464,000
BT (CETZE 491,541,000 7T) E B
RHERAMAZ 2 GARA RTS8

AL ERELN1,742,0008T (T2 -F
£F 1 492,366,00078 7T) 523,634,000/ 70 (ZF
T B 1 494,845,000 7T) BEDBINERBS
RREREBLZRERE R THRSZ 2
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

11. STAFF COSTS

Staff costs (including directors’
remuneration) comprise:
Wages, salaries and other benefits
Contribution to defined contribution
retirement plan

12. FINANCE COSTS

Interest on:
Lease liabilities
Promissory note (Note 30)
Convertible notes (Note 37)

BE_FE_—HF=-FH=1—HIFE

11. BT %

2021 2020
—EZ—F TETEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET

BT (BFEEEHHN)

BIE

IE e REMEF 86,636 87,260

TEREH R IRET B RR
1,651 1,319
88,287 88,579

12. BB
2021 2020
—E—F TETERE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
UTFEEZFE

HEaR 176 366
A RERE (115230) 826 2,890
AR (H1731) 8,312 25,240
9,314 28,496
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13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR 13. EEMEREHREEREME
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(i) Directors’ remuneration (i) EFM=
The aggregate amounts of the remuneration paid and MBE_E_—GFRIZEIEF=
payable to the directors by the Group for the year ended B=+—HLEEFEBNRENEKE
31 March 2021 and 2020 were as follows: BEFMSAREENT ¢
Contributions
to retirement
Salaries and benefit
Fees other benefits Bonus schemes Total
ek BRER
e Hiti&7 TE4 HE[REN izt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 March 2021 HEZZ--%
ZA=+—HLEE
Executive director and chief HITEERITHAER
execulive officer
Dr. Lii Yong Sheng (note (i) FRFHEL (W) - - - - -
Executive Directors HiTEE!
Dr. Jiang Yan (note (i) EEET (W) - - - - -
Mr. Liu Da Yong (note (i) BRBRE (WzH) = = = - -
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung ke - 12,012 - 18 12,030
Non-executive Directors FRITEE .
Ms. Tang Li (note (i) BRLL (W) - - - = =
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung Blglg LT 12 1,200 - 18 1,230
Indlependient Non-executive Directors 17 FESITEE
Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew (note (i) SEEEZELLE (W) 52 - - - 52
Mr. Wu Guo Ming REEEE 144 - - - 144
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron FERLE 144 - - - 144
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth FRELE 144 - - - 144
496 13,212 - 36 13,744
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ

13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

13. EEMERESREERENE @

Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

() EFME @

Contributions
to retirement
Salaries and benefit
Fees  other benefits Bonus schemes Total
ek BIRTER]
ik Hitnig#! 1E4 REGE st
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 March 2020 HE—_Z_ZF
=A=+—HILFE
Executive director and chief HITEERITEAES
executive officer
Dr. Li Yong Sheng (note (i) EXFEL (W) - - - - -
Executive Directors HiTEE
Dr. Jiang Yan (note (i) R W) - = = = =
Mr. Liu Da Yong (note (i) BRBEE (W) - - - - -
Mr. Kan Kok Cheung BE S - 10,370 500 19 10,889
Non-executive Directors FHTEE
Ms. Tang Li fnote (i) BEExt W) S = - - -
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung BlEERE 12 1,200 3,100 18 4,330
Independent Non-executive Directors 1817 FE#1TEE
Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew BRELE 144 - - - 144
Mr. Wu Guo Ming SE#LE 144 - = = 144
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron FEREE 144 - - - 144
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth IRELE 144 - - - 144
588 11,570 3,600 37 15,795
Note: M5k -
()  Retired on 11 August 2020. () MIZBZEFENB+—B#EE-
(i) The directors’ emoluments were waived for the year ended 31 iy ZEEFEREE_ZT_—EK_ZT_
March 2021 and 2020. ZFE=—A=1+—HIFEREMNE-
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13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

@i

Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

For the year ended 2021, directors’ emoluments
amounted to approximately HK$48,000 (2020:
approximately HK$48,000) were waived. Waived
contributions cannot be used to reduce ongoing
contributions. There were no emoluments paid by the
Group to any directors or chief executive officer as an
inducement to join, or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

Senior management of the Group represents the
executive directors during the years ended 31 March
2021 and 2020.

14. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid employees the Group during the

year included two (2020: two) directors, details of whose

remuneration are set out in note 13 above. Details of the
remaining three (2020: three) highest paid employees who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as

follows:

Basic salaries, bonuses and

other allowances
Contributions to defined
contribution retirement plan

13. ESEMERSREEENE @

(i) EZFME &

BE_ZT_—F#=RB=+—HL*#=E
B> BEREZEEME47%48,0008
7T (CE "4 | £948,000587T) ° A
EEUTEAEMAEERTHRETRS
NEAMEXERBFREMAR
EBE N I0AR 2 £ B3 7E 2 BE
HEo

KEFHRE-_E-—FRIE-F
F-A=t+—HIEFEZSHREE
BieBiTES -

14. EEME

rEEREASFEEZ LA RS HEETE
Ema (CE_EF M) B AWE
EME BN EXMsE183 Hif =
(CEZEF  =8) ReHES WIEXR
RABZFRFETHAR) ZHBEWT .

2021 2020
—E-—F TECEFE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
3,590 6,468

54 36

3,644 6,504
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ
14. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
The number of the highest paid employees who are not the

directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

14. EEME @)

BEFEE UFEATED ZHENT
THIBENABMT :

2021 2020

—ET—F —EIERF

Number of Number of

employees employees

ESAE ES N2

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,0007E 7T - 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7t 2 1,500,00078 7T 3 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 7t £4,500,0007% 7T - 1
3 3

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, none
of five highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration and there were no emoluments paid
by the Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.
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15. INCOME TAX

15.

The amount of income tax in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income represents:

Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax
— provision for the year
— over-provision in respect of
prior years

Current tax — PRC Enterprise
Income Tax
— under-provision in respect of
prior years

Deferred tax (Note 32)
— provision for the year

Income tax credit

ERRE-FANER
—FRERE
—BEFEBEEE

EHMIE—FE B FEFRER

—BREEERERRE

IR IE (B73#32)
—FREE

PRSIRIE S

Frigii
FEBEnREMEARGERZMERSE
REWT
2021 2020
—E—F TETERE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
498 707
(399) (39)
99 668
- 521
99 1,189
(5,697) (5,532)
(5,598) (4,343)
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15. INCOME TAX (Continued) 15. FR151R (&

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment.) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and
was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of assessable
profits of qualifying corporations will be taxed at 8.25%, and
assessable profits above HK$2,000.000 will be taxed at
16.5%. The assessable profits of corporations not qualifying
for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be
taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the Company and its
subsidiaries incorporated in BVI are not subject to any income
tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI respectively.

Under the prevailing tax law in the PRC, the Enterprise Income
Tax rate of the subsidiary of the Company incorporated in the
PRC is 25% (2020: 25%).
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15. INCOME TAX (Continued)

16.

The tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss before
income tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income as follows:

Loss before income tax

Tax calculated at the rates, applicable
to profits in the countries concerned
Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purpose
Tax effect of income not taxable
for tax purpose
Over-provision in respect of prior years
Under-provision in respect of prior years
Tax effect of temporary difference
not recognised
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

[ncome tax credit

DIVIDENDS

The board of directors does not recommend the payments
of any dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2021

(2020: nil).

BRATG AT

PR EEER RS
BRREHEY B
FINRRENES 2R
KE e
BERBIUA 2RI
BB
BEEEEETE
KEERERZABY

TEES Z MEBRZR
BRE

FrighiEs

15. FR1SIR (&

FRRBERRHE

aiEmREMEEUY

MR ZBRFISMATB R Z BRI T ¢

FHE) e

2021 2020
TET—fF “ER-RE
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %

FET FET

(79,350) (105,174)

(13,680) 17.2 (17,796) 16.9
4,180 (5.3) 7,393 (7.0)
(1,502) 1.9 (312) 0.3

(399) 0.5 = =

- - 482 (0.5)
(1,016) 1.3 (1,716) 16

6,819 (8.6) 7,606 (7.2)
(5,598) 7.0 (4,343) 41

16. IRE

EEELAEEMEBE_ZS-_—F=H
—t+—HEFEERTEMNKRE CEZE
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17. LOSS PER SHARE 17. SREE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

Loss k518

Loss for the year attributable to the Bt EESRER R EEERN
RABVHEE NEHEANEIR

owners of the company for the
purpose of basic and diluted loss per
share

Weighted average number of ordinary Bt E SR E A RS EEN

shares for the purpose of basic
and diluted loss per share

HERINEFIIH

Diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 March 2021
and 2020 are the same as the basic loss per share. The
computation of diluted loss per share for the years ended
31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020 does not assume the
Company'’s outstanding convertible notes since the assumed
conversion of convertible notes would result in a decrease in
loss per share.
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FRBEEANBESRELAKREEEIR
THRBUTBURETE ¢

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
(72,946) (100,831)

Number of shares

BRI HE
000 ‘000
Fie FHe
4,055,350 4,055,350
HE-S_—5R-_F-FF=S

:+—E¢¢E’§&%%EEE§%ﬂ
AERBEFT BARBRILBITBRER
RERSREBBRL ARG ET
T —H#=ZR=+—HRZEZZEHEZ=A
—+—HLEFEZSRBEHBTES
RAQNE BRI Z IR R



18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost

At 31 March 2019
Additions

Disposals

Exchange differences

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020

Additions

Disposals

Transfer from right-of-use assets
Exchange differences

At 31 March 2021

Accumulated depreciation
At 31 March 2019

Depreciation charge for the year
Eliminated on disposals
Exchange differences

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020

Depreciation charge for the year
Eliminated on disposals

Transfer from right-of-use assets
Exchange differences

At 31 March 2021

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2021

At 31 March 2020

During the year, the Group carried out a review of the
recoverable amount of those property, plant and equipment.
These assets are used in the Group’s performance of
provision of civil engineering services reportable segment.

18. MIE -MERRE

Leasehold Furnitures Office Motor
improvements  Machineries  and fixtures equipment vehicles  Site offices Total
HEMELEE WE  HAREE MARE BE  OMBHAE st
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
7%

R _E-hE=ZBA=1+—H 2,717 73,932 3,062 10,964 43,517 15,225 149,417
RE = 1,100 5 7 6,364 = 7,476
HE - (500) - (185) (5,294) - (5,979
EREH (40) - - @1) - = (61)
R_E_EEZA=1+-H

RZZZZEMF—H 2677 74,532 3,067 10,765 44,587 15,205 150,853
RE = 2,624 119 19 8,783 = 11,545
HE - - - - (3,240) - (3,240)
BREFRREERE - - - - M - 941
EREE 47 - - 26 - - 73

A_E_—#ZH=+-H 2,724 77,156 3,186 10,810 51,071 15,225 160,172
RETE
RIE-AE=A=1—H 2,208 48,752 2,679 9,654 32,848 15,115 111,256
FRITERS 405 12,096 187 631 5,293 103 18,715
HEREHY - (488) - (185) (4,833) = (5,506)
EREH @ - - (17) - - (19
RZE_EE

=B=+-8k

ZZIZENA-H 2,611 60,360 2,866 10,083 33,308 15,218 124,446
FRFTERS 74 9,387 192 514 5,167 7 15,341
HERHEY - - - - (3,064) - (3,064)
BREFREEERE - - - - 287 - 287
ERER (1) - - 25 - - 24
A_E-—&

=A=+-H 2,684 69,747 3,058 10,622 35,698 15,225 137,034
IREfE
RZBZ—-&£=A=1+-H 40 7,409 128 188 15,373 - 23,138
R_E_EE-A=1+-H 66 14,172 201 682 11,279 7 26,407

KR

RER ZEBEHZSVE -BERR
Bz WRElEEETER ZFEEAN
FEERBEIARAIERBAIZROEZ
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continuead) 18. VX -BERK%ZE &

Impairment assessment

The management of the Group concluded there was
indication of impairment and conducted impairment
assessment on recoverable amounts of certain property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets with carrying
amounts (before impairment) of HK$23,138,000 (2020:
HK$26,407,000) and HK$3,978,000 (2020: HK$9,107,000),
respectively.

The recoverable amount of the relevant assets has been
determined on the basis of their value-in-use and fair value
less cost to disposal. That value in used calculation uses
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by the directors covering a five-year period with a pre-tax
discount rate are 17.25% and 18.80% for provision of civil
engineering services and media and advertising business
respectively. The annual growth rate beyond a five-year period
used is 2.5% for both segment. The assumptions of annual
revenue growth rates are determined based on expectation for
the market development and is not expected to exceed the
average long-term growth rate. Another key assumption for
the value-in-use calculation is the budgeted gross profit and
operating expenses, which is determined based on the recent
performance.

Based on the result of the unexpected poor performance of
the assessment, management of the Group determined that
the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount. An
impairment of HK$2,872,000 (2020: HK$Nil) (Note 19) has
been recognised against the carrying amount of right-of-use
assets.
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o) NETHE- -BERZBEUARERE
BENAWESEEET T RET G

HEAEENTTWESRBIREFEHERE
RATFERHERAERE ZERBES
BORMRERIATEREREERE
SEBERENRESHENRERLFH
B BEBEENIRESRETER BFRRATITIR
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Cost

At April 2019
Additions (note (ij)
Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020

Additions (note (i)

Transfer to property, plant and
equipment

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2021

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2019

Change for the year
Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020

Change for the year

Transfer to property, plant and
equipment

Impairment loss for the year

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2021

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2021

At 31 March 2020

ﬁ$

R ZE-AFNA—H
/d\g (/]/7‘&(/})
(B ER R

NTECEE-A=-+—Ak
“E_ZENA-AH

/d\% (/]/_7‘?(/))

BRENE -BERRE

ERER
\—v—_ﬂi ﬁ + H

ASHE
RZE—AFNA—A
FRFX

ERREE
RZE-RE-RA=+—-RAk
“E_ZFNA-A
FRFX

BEENE -BERRE

R AR
BB

ﬁ\—v—_ﬂz ﬁ + El

REE
RZE_-FZA=+—H

RTE-EE-RA=1+-R

19. FREEE

Assets related

to television

Leased Motor broadcasting
properties vehicles business Total

HEREN

EBEMZ
HEME B BE st
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT FHT FHT
9,036 141 4,809 13,986
- 2,400 - 2,400
(104) - - (104)
8,932 2,541 4,809 16,282
896 - - 896
- (941) - (941)
128 - - 128
9,956 1,600 4,809 16,365
4,505 340 2,366 7,211
(36) - - (36)
4,469 340 2,366 7,175
3,193 441 1,742 5,376
- (287) - (287)
2,171 - 701 2,872
123 - - 123
9,956 494 4,809 15,259
- 1,106 - 1,106
4,463 2,201 2,443 9,107
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 19. FREEE &

2021 2020

—E—% el <8-S

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FAET

Expenses relating to short-term leases A B HITE & 2 B2 309 2,827
Total cash outflow for leases (note (i) FAEIRERHAREE (B5#0) 7,977 12,658
Addition to right-of-use assets (note (i) "B EREE E (#15£(i)) 896 2,400

HESEQREREaELE T
M7,492,0008 7 (ZEZZTF :
9,465,000 7t) & F 2 & 2™
176,000 70 (ZEZZ 4 : 366,000
7T) LUK A2 HATA E309,00058 7T (Z & —
T ;2,827,000 7T) ©

Note ():  Amount includes payments of principal of HK$7,492,000 HizEa):
(2020: HK$9,465,000) and interest portion of HK$176,000
(2020: HK$366,000) of lease liabilities and short-term lease of
HK$309,000 (2020: HK$2,827,000).

Note (i):  Amount includes right-of-use assets resulting from renewal of Kizta): (ARG EEHEEENERAE
lease. BEo

AEE - AEERHEETHAEME A
TEWMAREREREEERACEE
HAAHE20ME B E10F (Z2ZEF 2018
BZE105F) -EERTHIZE R E2EER

During the current year, the Group leases certain office
premises, certain motor vehicles and assets related to
television broadcasting business with lease term of between
20 months to 10 years (2020: 20 months to 10 years). Leases

terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held
by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as securities for
borrowing purpose.

For impairment testing, please refer to Note 18 for detalils.
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. ELEE

Television
broadcasting
right
BIRERE
HK$'000
FAET
Cost (D%
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020, RIZE—hAFMA—AB-
1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 _ECEF=H=+—H"
“EIEFMBE—HK
B —HF=A=+—H 567,000
Accumulated amortisation and impairment Rt ERRE
At 1 April 2019 A ZE-AFENBE—H 522,638
Amortisation for the year (Note 10) FNEE BWaE10) 18,367
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 ATE_TFE=RA=+—HK
—ETFMAB—H 541,005
Amortisation for the year (Note 10) TR WaE10) 18,316
Impairment loss for the year (Note 21) FNRERIE Ba21) 7,679
At 31 March 2021 N _E_—F=H=+—H 567,000
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 March 2021 RZE_—H=A=+—H -
At 31 March 2020 R_ZE2EF=F=+—H 25,995
Intangible assets represent television broadcasting B EEEANEBMWE BRBEBRIE-
rights acquired by the Group. The useful life of television BREREZAERFERATF
broadcasting right is 10 years.
Due to the continuous loss making in the television HRBFFEEREBERERFEREES
broadcasting business for previous years, the directors of B ARBEFETENZEI—F =4
the Company assessed the recoverable amount of intangible =t+—BERZIE-EE=H—"1T-"1

assets as at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020. mLEETUL[O|ERE
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BE_FE_—HF=-FH=1—HIFE

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

21,

The directors of the Company reassessed the recoverable
amount of the intangible assets at 31 March 2021 and 31
March 2020 and determined that an impairment loss of
approximately HK$7,679,000 (2020: HK$NIl) was recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2021.
The recoverable amount of intangible assets was assessed by
reference to the value-in-use calculation.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets have been allocated for impairment
testing purposes to the cash-generating units of television
broadcasting business (“television broadcasting CGU”).

The directors of the Company have appointed an independent
valuer to perform a business valuation on the television
broadcasting CGU containing intangible assets which was
acquired from the business combination of Xinhua TV Asia-
Pacific Operating Co., Limited (“Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific”)
during the year ended 31 March 2012.
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21.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON INTANGIBLE ASSETS
(Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, the carrying amounts of
television broadcasting right (included in intangible assets set
out in Note 20) before impairment loss, have been allocated to
the television broadcasting CGU are as follows:

BT

Television broadcasting right

The recoverable amount of television broadcasting CGU has
been determined on the basis of value in use calculation
and is based on certain key assumptions. The value in use
calculation is based on cash flow projections prepared from
financial budgets approved by the directors of the Company
covering a 5-year period and a discount rate of 18.80%
(2020: 18.46%). Cash flows beyond the 5-year period are
extrapolated using a growth rate ranged of 2.5% (2020: 2.5%)
for different countries and the growth rate does not exceed the
average long-term growth rate for the industry. The discount
rates used reflect specific risks to the segment.

For the years ended 31 March 2021 an impairment loss of
approximately HK$7,679,000 (2020: HK$NIl) was recognised
in respect of intangible assets. In the opinion of the directors of
the Company, the main factor contributing to the impairment
loss was due to the adverse change in the market of the media
and advertising business.

. BREEEREANR @

AETRENR  BRBEBE Gt AR
fisE20z | E E) HFRRERER Z iR
HEEPKREBRENREELE N &
a0

2021 2020
—s-—& —B-TE
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T F T
32,227 88,927

BEREREcEEBMN 2 UEIEEETD
KEERABEAEEE TEARETE
ERR-ERABESENDEREARATE

%%tt/&z—lﬁﬂ%ﬁfﬁﬁﬂzﬁﬁ“%ﬁﬁﬁ’z
18.80% 2 BHIREK (ZE " FF : 18.46%)

RIS RETER - =?£¢HHT§ZIE$
MEERAMFRBERNTF2.5% (T2
TF 1 25%) 2EEREE MIEEREXT
ﬁtﬁﬁzzlzf‘]%ﬂﬁi§$°ﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁz,ﬂﬁ
R RIRDE 2 5 E R g o

BT —F=B=+—HILEE"
MEFEERDREEIBA7,679,000%
T (CEIZF BB o AREEER
A BRREGSENTERRANBNER
KEEET BN EE -
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22. JOINT OPERATIONS 22, AEtE

KRB —#R-_F-_FHE=A=1—
HRGEEEZREFBOT

Details of investment in joint operations as at 31 March 2021
and 2020 were as follows:

Attributable interest Principal
Name Place of operation to the Group activity
LY SEE FEEEGED TEEH
2021 2020
—E-F .-
Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Joint Unincorporated joint operation 40% 40% Civil engineering
Venture (DC/2012/04) operating in Hong Kong
MEEEKEDC/2012/04) NEBREEZEBEEGESRE TARIR
Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Joint Unincorporated joint operation 43% 43% Civil engineering
Venture (DC/2012/07) operating in Hong Kong
MEEEREDC/2012/07) REBEBZEBLIEAELE TARIRE
Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Joint Unincorporated joint operation 43% 43% Civil engineering
Venture (DC/2012/08) operating in Hong Kong
MEEEKEDC/2012/08) REBEEZEBZEGERE TARITRE
Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Joint Unincorporated joint operation 17% 17% Civil engineering
Venture (5/WSD/13) operating in Hong Kong
& & & (5/WSD/13) REBEEZFBEERERE TARIR
Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Joint Unincorporated joint operation 43% 43% Civil engineering
Venture (CV/2015/03) operating in Hong Kong
MEEERECV/2015/03) REBEBZEBLIEAELE TARIRE
Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Joint Unincorporated joint operation 49% 49% Civil engineering
Venture (CV/2016/10) operating in Hong Kong
MEEEHECV/2016/10) NEREEZIFBEEZESERE TARITRE
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22. JOINT OPERATIONS (Continued)

Name

£

Harvest-Tsun Yip Joint Venture
(ND/2018/02)

o —EEHE
(ND/2018/02)

Paul Y-Tsun Yip Joint Venture
(4/WSD/19)

RE—EXHE
(4/WSD/19)

Paul Y-Tsun Yip Joint Venture
(CV/2019/04)

RE—EXHE
(CV/2019/04)

Note:

Pursuant to the terms of the joint agreements, the profit sharing for each
year of all joint operations listed herein above shall be distributed to the

Place of operation
EEEs

Unincorporated joint operation
operating in Hong Kong
REBEEZIFBIEAEhE

Unincorporated joint operation
operating in Hong Kong
REBEEZIFBEEGELE

Unincorporated joint operation
operating in Hong Kong
REBEEZFBEECELE

joint operators in proportion to their respective interests.

22, EGE &

Attributable interest
to the Group

rERREGED

2021
T

49%

95%

20%

Mt -

mt b 22

2020

Principal
activity

TEEHR

Civil engineering

TATRE

Civil engineering

TARIE

Civil engineering

TARIRE

BESEWEZKR LB EEESF L

B D ERKREEE

BERGET-

75 P = 2 EE ) D BC T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ir G M B e R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. BB RHEMEWRIE

2021 2020

—E—F ZEIEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FAET

Trade receivables (Note (i) B S EWRIE (BY323) 31,557 40,841
Allowance for ECL TEHRE EEEEE (11,792) (11,866)
19,765 28,975

Other receivables (Notes (i) and (iv) — E.thFEWTRIE (B a2 i) K (iv) 5,229 792
Allowance for ECL TEHIEEmEEE (97) -
5,132 792

Prepayment (Note (ii)) T RIE (B a2E3) 38,731 42,800
Deposits b 5,088 11,985
43,819 54,785

68,716 84,552

Notes: Byat -

()  Trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period mainly () MBS RZEZEERZIEBFTERERMH
derived from provision of construction works on civil engineering TATERENZBETIR -HATAETER
contracts. The related customers are mainly government BRTERFS, BN ER T hE AER
department/organisation and reputable corporations. The Group LR L A R R AR o

does not hold any collateral over these balances.

An aging analysis of the trade receivables as of the end of the B EUGRIE (KRR TEIEEREER &
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of allowance of EREPRBEEZOHZRESTUOT ©
ECL, is as follows:

2021 2020

B TETTE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Current or less than 1 month BPEAT D 11E B 19,765 28,975
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

The Group grants an average credit period of 30 days (2020: 30
days) to its trade customers of contract works. Application for
progress payments of contract works is made on a regular basis.

Movements in the allowance for ECL of trade receivables:

The following table shows movement in lifetime ECL that has been
recognised for trade receivables in accordance with simplified

23. B REMEWRIE (&)
HisE o (38)
0y @@
rEEREGHTIREESZTAEEFHI0H
(CETZHF 1 30H) 2 EEH a1 E
ERIERFE S ERET

BRI N BRAEEEREEES

TREJ2HRREEHREHENES
FEWRRIR IR R (LA REST o

approach.
HK$'000
FAET
At 1 April 2019 A B EMA—H 3,046
Allowance for ECL, net TERRE E R85 > F5E 7,920
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 ACECEE-A-+—AR
—EFFYA—H 11,866
Reversal of allowance for ECL, net FEHAE BB ER0] » 358 (74)
At 31 March 2021 N_E-_—F=HF=+—H 11,792
Details of assessment of ECL are set out in Note 39. TBHAE BB 2 s s B MT5E39

As at 31 March 2021, prepayments mainly comprised of advance
payment to subcontractors of approximately HK$31,966,000
(2020: HK$30,674,000).

iy MRIB-_—F=B=+—H BHETE
BIEADBE I 2 BR431,966,00058 7T
(ZE-Z4 1 30,674,0005 7T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ir G M B e R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 23. E5 KRHEMEURIA (@)
Notes: (Continued) Hrst - (#8)
(iii) Movements in the allowance for ECL of other receivables: (iii) BB FIErERE B 1REEEE)
The following table shows movement in 12m ECL that has been TR &I IR E— AR AT E A R USCGR IS TR
recognised for other receivables in accordance with general Z12(BB B EEREEH -
approach.
12m ECL
1218 B 7887
EEEE
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 April 2020 RIZE-ZFEMPA—H -
Allowance for ECL, net THERE BB E 358 97
At 31 March 2021 RoE-—&£=g=+—H 97
Details of assessment of ECL are set out in Note 39. FEERE BE5 18 2 s S S H R MTEE39 o
(iv) As at 31 March 2021, the other receivables mainly comprised (iv) 82 " - —F=B=+—8> HithFEx
of amounts due from other partners of joint operations of HIETEQERERSE M ENEMSER
approximately HK$4,418,000 (2020: HK$Nil). The amounts are HEHRTELL,418,0008 T (CE R4 . B8
unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. IT) o ZEHIBEIRIF - R ERIREREIB
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24. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract assets EHNEE
Retention receivables FEWRE £

Allowance for ECL, net

Total 4B

Contract liabilities SH8E
Construction work BETRE
Contract with customers from ERESIWAGHE

advertising income

Note:

At 1 April 2019, contract assets amounted to HK$15,517,000.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to consideration
for work completed but not yet billed because the rights are conditional
on the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a certain
period as stipulated in the contracts at the reporting date. The contract
assets are transferred to trade receivables where the rights become
unconditional. The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advanced
consideration received from customers, for which revenue is recognised
based on the progress of the provision of related services.

The balance of contract assets (provision of civil engineering service)
are expected to be recovered/settled more than one year. The Group
classifies these contract assets under current assets because the Group
expects to realise them in its normal operating cycle.

TRHEEBIRER P88

24. BHNEE EHNER

2021 2020
—E—F TR
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
16,586 15,323
(6,178) (6,085)
10,408 9,238
61,038 58,452
1,575 4,850
62,613 63,302

izt :

RIE—hEFENB—H > 88 EEA15,517,000
BITe

EHNEETERAEENMENEHREHER
WIEMEERAEZENER RESNERSHE
HAEMAREN ESERARAOREN —ERERE
REERRTMB R AL IIFE - BERF A EE
> ANEEBREESRRRE -a08E
TERENFFWENAMKERR HlmEHIR
BARHARRA RS AV E FE FERT

BNEE RELATRERY ZERER—F
BWE HEE - AEARLESHEEDERR
HEEET HAXEEFEANEEEERRAS
BRAEREE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ir G M B e R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ

24. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES 24. BHNBE SHNERE @
(Continued)
Note: (Continued) Hist - ()
The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets is as BHEEWCISNGEENTERRBNOT :
follows:
2021 2020
B —ETEH
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
More than one year —&EBE 10,408 9,238
Contract assets and contract liabilities which are expected to be RN AEREEEEBAPIKGL EETzE
recovered/settled within Group’s normal operating cycle, are classified as HNEEKRGHNEBBHPBEATRH-
current.
Movement in the allowance for ECL of contract assets S EEFER S EEEEEZEE
The following table shows movement in lifetime ECL that has been TREYIREBEEILEMENEERL 2D HATERR
recognised for contract assets in accordance with simplified approach. EEEBEEH -
HK$'000
FAET
At 1 April 2019 R-Z—hEmMA—1 678
Allowance for ECL, net TEHEERIREE 35 5,407
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RIE-_EF=ZHA=+—HBxK
“ETZHFMA—H 6,085
Allowance for ECL, net TEHAEERIEERE 35 93
At 31 March 2021 HW-E-_—F=H=+—H 6,178
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24. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES

25.

(Continued)

The following provides information about contract liabilities from contract

with customers:

At 1 April

Revenue from construction work recognised
that was included in the contract liabilities
balance at the beginning of the year

Revenue from advertising income
recognised that was included in
the contract liabilities balance at
the beginning of the year

Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
advance from customers during the year

At 31 March

REA—H

REPTAGHNEEEER
REBEBNRETIREZ

ezt

REMNGAGHBEERN
REDHEBESWAZIRG

FAEETRBRMER
CESI=EE

®=A=+—8

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

Listed securities:

—Equity securities listed in Hong Kong —R& B L2 RAE S

The fair values of the listed securities are determined with
reference to the quoted market bid prices available on the

EHEES

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

24. ENEEEHNRE @

UTHAEZEREUNENERZER !

2021 2020
B ZEIEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
63,302 65,156
(2,100) (3,000)
(3,275) (5,734)
4,686 6,880
62,613 63,302

2021
—E-—F
HK$’000
FHET

4,800

25 EBREHBEATEARZEREE

2020
TE S

AT

HK$'000
FAET

1,835

EHBEFEZRATFENDBEETEHAERS
FRERARMKZMHEABMERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e MR s

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26.

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from
0.001% — 0.30% (2020: 0.001% — 0.30%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2021, the cash and cash equivalents of
the Group included currencies denominated in Renminbi
amounted to approximately HK$3,991,000 (2020:
approximately HK$4,595,000) which is not freely convertible
into other currencies.

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27.

Trade payables B ENRIE

Retention money payables B REE

Amounts due to a shareholder FE(T IRERFRIE (B 5E())
(Note (i)

Interest payables FESFIS

Amount due to related parties FE{SRAZEE A RRIB (B75%(i)
(Note (i)

Other payables and accruals H BT RIB & EtFIE
(Note (i) (K12 i))

Less: payables within twelve months & . SRBIEETE FRRAR+Z

shown under current liabilities 88 NERT I8

Interest payables shown under non-  JERBIEEIE TFRERF] B

current liabilities
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RERFEEFEY

RITRE BB T IR ERE N F0.001%E
0.30% (ZZZZ4F : 0.001%%E0.30%) &t
Bo

R_E_—F=ZRA=+—H &x&EEZ
REABEcEEVEREUAAREKSEZ
51#493,991,0008 T (ZE2ZFF 1 &
4,595,000/ 7T) » EFA] B HZIRIEEM

¥

B REMEMRIE
2021 2020
—E-—F TECEE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
9,948 25,355
9,113 10,019
23,337 20,337
63,724 54,676
2,009 2,009
46,807 34,037
154,938 146,433
(150,018) (146,433)
4,920 =




27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continueq)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

Amount due to a shareholder represents amount due to a major
substantial shareholder of the Company, China Xinhua NNC, which
is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Amount due to related parties represented amount due to 73
B0, FrESHERFL and China Xinhua NNC which have a
common shareholder, Xinhua News Agency (##£1t) . The amount
is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

As at 31 March 2021, the other payables mainly comprised of
amounts due to other parties of joint operations of approximately
HK$10,161,000 (2020: HK$3,126,000). The amounts are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The Group normally settles trade payables within 30 days
(2020: 30 days) credit term. Based on the invoice date, ageing

analysis of trade payables at the end of the reporting period is

as follows:

Current or less than 1 month BRERS Dt 11E B
1 month to 3 months 1E31E 8

3 months to 12 months 3E12{EH

More than 12 months iBid12(8 B

27. BHRHEMENRIE (@

et

(i)

(i)

B —2RRREEEN—RERBEE
RRPEMEFTHER@IRE HEL
- RERIZERER

FEARAE AN L RIRIER I ESGRLZ
IR EZ A0 R B E R B RA
ZHERRSMEL ZRESERIT -2
BRIRERERE -

WoE-—E=A=+—0 EHELR
EIEOEENAECENEMAER
HEIEA10,161,0008 T (ZE B F
3,126,000 70) * ZEHIEEEIET B8
RIZBREE

AEE—HRNI0E (ZTEZE4F . 300) =2

EEHERNBEBZENRIE RIEHE
A SREHAR B 5 B RUIEMER B D AT A
T
2021 2020
—E-—4F TECIRE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
9,027 24,239
117 884
250 =
554 232
9,948 25,355
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A
77 N =

R 75 #r = M 51

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE _— =&

28. LEASE LIABILITIES

The Group entered into lease arrangements with independent
third parties in relation to certain properties, motor vehicles
and assets related to television broadcasting business. The
lease terms ranged between 20 months to 10 years (2020:
20 months to 10 years). The weighted average incremental
borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range from 2.07%
to 5.20% (2020: 2.07 to 5.20%). The Group has options to
purchase the equipment for a nominal amount at the end of
the lease terms. No arrangements have been entered into for

contingent rental payments.

Lease liabilities payable:

Within one year
More than one year but not exceeding
two years

Less: Future finance charges

Present value of lease obligations

Less: Amount due for settlement
within 12 months (shown
under current liabilities)

Amount due for settlement after
12 months

The net carrying value of leased assets used to secure the
lease obligations was approximately HK$1,106,000 (2020:

HK$9,107,000).

——F=H=1—HIFE

28. fHE&E

NEBRBYE=AMETYE RER
BRAERBREENEETUHAER -
FREAN F20 B E10F (ZE_Z4F : 20
BEZE10E) -BBRREESENINEF
PIEEETFENF2.07%ES.20% 2 [
(2020£F : 2.07%E5.20%) - AEEH#E
RAEPARUGECEREERE WEMK

AR ETRET L EAZHE
ENHEEARE:
Present value of
Minimum lease payments minimum lease payments
RIEFAE™R RIEEERZIRE
2021 2020 2021 2020
—E--f CB-ZEF C"T”-H _"T°ZE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FET FET
R—FR 3,418 7,397 3,371 7,231
BE—EETBBME
190 2,962 189 2,925
3,608 10,359 3,560 10,156
B RRBERY (48) (203) - -
HESTZRE 3,560 10,156 3,560 10,156
BT ZEERBEE Y
2B GEREEE)
(3,371) (7,231)
R+_ERBIBREE 2 A
189 2,925
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AREFEEESANHEEEENRT
SEEANA1,106,0008T (CE_BF .
9,107,000 7T) ©




29.

30.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Annual leave entitlement F R
Long service payments entitement  EHIIRFS & #EF

PROMISSORY NOTE

A promissory note with a principal amount of HK$45,040,000
was issued by Profit Station Limited (“Profit Station”), a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company on 11 August 2011
(the “Issue Date”) upon the completion of the acquisition of
17% of equity interests in China New Media (HK) Company
Limited. The promissory note is unsecured, carried interest at
the rate of 3% per annum and matured on 11 August 2014.
Profit Station might early redeem all or part of the promissory
note at any time from the Issue Date. Unless previously
redeemed, Profit Station will redeem the promissory note on
its maturity date

On 11 August 2014 (the “Renewal Date”), Profit Station has
entered into an extension agreement with the noteholder of
the promissory note pursuant to which the maturity date of
the promissory note was extended from 11 August 2014 to
11 August 2017 and the extended promissory note will be
non-interest bearing with effect from 11 August 2014 till 11
August 2017. Furthermore, the noteholder has agreed to
walive the interest accrued on the promissory note amounting
to approximately HK$4,054,000 for the period from 11 August
2011 to 11 August 2014. Except the abovementioned,
other terms and conditions of the promissory note remains
unchanged.

20. EEEF

2021 2020
—s-—& —B-TE
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T F T
3,901 2,474

1,737 1,198

5,638 3,672

30. AR EE

KRBz BEE2ENE A BProfit Station
Limited (T Profit Station]) N & ——&F
NA+—B8 (FE&T8H)) TR EFRE
MER (B8 BRABZ17T%R AR
BT AT EEA45,040,0008 T2 AR E
oA RERARITT - REHEIEE
R ZE—MHENB+—HEIH o Profit
StationA] R 1T BB E AR EIZ AT E
El2HHI D EKREZ PRIEZRIEWE
[B] » T BIJProfit Stationd& 7> & ZHA H B&[5] &
BRI

RZZ2—MFENA+—8 (EHBEH) -
Profit StationE2 A REHE 2 ZEFEAE
STUERRE B AR EH 2 EIH
BEZZ—ONHENB+—HEEEZZ
—tHENB+—H BRERZEARZE
BEE_Z—OENB+—HREE_Z
—tENB+—HIERE LI BB
EAEREBRRRARERE _T——%F
NB+—HBHEZZ—HWENB+—HH
R E £ 2 F B 494,054,000 7T © f& L4t
BN AR BT MR R B GERT
ﬁo
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ

30. PROMISSORY NOTE (Continued) 30. KREE &

On 15 December 2017 (the “Second Renewal Date”), Profit
Station has entered into the second extension agreement
wit the noteholder of the promissory note pursuant to which
the maturity date of the promissory note was extended from
11 August 2017 to 31 December 2018 and the extended
promissory note will bear interest of 3% per annum with
effect from 11 August 2017 till 31 December 2018. Except
the abovementioned, other terms and conditions of the
promissory note remains unchanged.

On 15 February 2019 (the “Third Renewal Date”), Profit
Station has entered into the third extension agreement with
the noteholder of the promissory note pursuant to which
the maturity date of the promissory note was extended from
31 December 2018 to 30 June 2020 and the extended
promissory note will bear interest of 3% per annum with
effect from 11 August 2017 till 30 June 2020. Except
the abovementioned, other terms and conditions of the
promissory note remains unchanged.

On Third Renewal Date, the fair value of the liability component
of the extended promissory note was reassessed and
calculated using an equivalent market interest rate for an
equivalent instrument at the Third Renewal Date. The fair value
of the extended promissory note at the Third Renewal Date
amounted to approximately HK$43,101,000. The fair value
is calculated using discounted cash flow method at a rate of
9.707%.

On 9 March 2021 (the “Fourth Renewal Date”), Profit
Station has entered into the fourth extension agreement with
the noteholder of the promissory note pursuant to which the
maturity date of the promissory note was extended from 30
June 2020 to 30 June 2022 and the extended promissory
note will bear interest of 3% per annum with effect from 11
August 2017 till 30 June 2022. Except the abovementioned,
other terms and conditions of the promissory note remains
unchanged.
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RZE2—tF+ZB+aH (EFZXE
¥rEHAL) > Profit StationfE A R E iR~ Tig
BEABUSZ _REEWRHZ  ELL X
RERZIPHEE-_ZE—tFENB+—
BERZZZ—N\F+ZB=+—H'H
RIERZARERBE T —tF/\B
+—BEEZZ—N\F+ZHA=+—H
IR EF)EIES B o fr LI E SN AR E
B2 EMIR R AR AT R o

RZE—NE-B+EHH(E=REMHA
HA1) > Profit Stationf K R IR 2 ZIRFH
ABIUE=ZREREHZ B KRR
BZHPEHBZE—N\FE+ZBA=+—
HERECZ ;ﬁ_?ﬁi/\ﬁ +H B&E
RZAREBEHEB S —tENB+—
HEEZ g_vﬁi/\ﬁ +HIEEEFR]
EIEF B o fr b ESN AR BIRZ Hh
1B AR M R o

RE=ZREHEH CERZAREEZ
BEXDZATERE=REMBHES
UEBITARAZSFEMHANREMKE-
RIERZARDBBEZATERE=ZRE
B ER#&#943,101,0008 7T ‘A FETH R
BITREEMEEL9.707% 2 T IRE 5
o

A ZEZ—F=AhB ((EEREHE
HA1) > Profit StationE2 A R EIE > ZIRFHE
ABTUBENRIERRZE  RIL AR E
BZIPHB S _ZSFEA=Z+HI
%i_v__ﬁmﬁ +H B&ERZ
AREREEE _T—tHE£/\B+—HIE
i_g__ﬁﬂﬁ + B I &R K3 E
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30. PROMISSORY NOTE (Continued)

31.

On Forth Renewal Date, the fair value of the liability component
of the extended promissory note was reassessed and
calculated using an equivalent market interest rate for an
equivalent instrument at the Fourth Renewal Date. The fair
value of the extended promissory note at the Fourth Renewal
Date amounted to approximately HK$45,491,000. The fair
value is calculated using discounted cash flow method at a
rate of 10.18%.

30. KREE &

REMNXAEHAR CERZAREEZ
BEIDZAFERENREMERT
MEBTRAZEEMBMNEEGRFAE-
BIERZAREBEZ AFERENRE
¥ HHERA4945,491,0008 75 © A FETH %
BITRIREREAMU10.18% 2 T IRE 5T
Ho

At 1 April REE—H

Loss arising on extension of EREASERBELE ZEE
promissory note (Note 8) (Hiz#8)

Interest charged at effective interest R EEAFKI.707EHEZ
rate of 9.707% (Note 12) NERX (Wfaz12)

Interest charged at effective interest 2B ZF10.18EtEZ
rate of 10.18% (Note 12) NERX (Wfaz12)

Interest payables FEGFIS

At 31 March R=A=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F TETEE
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FAET FET
44,658 43,123

451 -

719 2,890

107 -

(1,351) (1,355)
44,584 44,658

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 9 December 2011, the Company issued convertible notes
with the principal amount of approximately HK$607,030,000,
carried interest at the rate of 5% per annum as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of Xinhua TV Asia Pacific
Operating Co., Limited. Each note entitles the holder
to convert to ordinary shares at a conversion price of
approximately HK$0.196 per share.

31.

AR ER

R_EBE——F+"BANH AR ETE
E X8/ #9607,030,000%8 7T > FEFZE5%
SHRZ AR ER (PRI EEED

BZERNE - SHEEEFIFAAE
FIZSREMA0.196EB Tz RIRERIKR
HEBR-
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ

31. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continueq) 31. AR ERE &

Conversion may occur at any time between 9 December 2011
and 8 December 2014. If the notes have not been converted,
the Company will redeem on 9 December 2014 at the
outstanding principal amount. Interest of 5% per annum will
be paid annually until the notes are converted or redeemed.

On 9 December 2014, the Company entered into the
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC pursuant to which
the Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend certain
terms and conditions of the convertible notes, where (i) the
maturity date of the convertible notes will be extended for 3
years and the conversion period will accordingly be extended
for 3 years to 9 December 2017; and (i) the interest rate of the
convertible notes will be amended from 5% per annum to 3%
per annum for the extended period, being from 9 December
2014 to 9 December 2017.

On 13 December 2017, the Company entered into the second
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC, the sole holder
of the outstanding convertible notes, pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend the term
and condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date
of the convertible notes will be extended for 1 year and the
conversion period will accordingly be extended for 1 year to 9
December 2018.
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31. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continueq)

On 9 December 2018, the Company entered into the third
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC, the sole holder
of the outstanding convertible notes, pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend the term
and condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date
of the convertible notes will be extended for 2 years and the
conversion period will accordingly be extended for 2 years to
9 December 2020.

On 25 January 2021, the Company entered into the fourth
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC, the sole holder
of the outstanding convertible notes, pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend the term
and condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date
of the convertible notes will be extended for 1 year and the
conversion period will accordingly be extended for 1 year to
9 December 2021. Except the abovementioned, other terms
and conditions of the convertible notes remain unchanged.

The convertible notes contain two components, liability
component and equity component. The equity component
is presented in equity heading “convertible notes equity
reserves”. The effective interest rate of the liability component
is 10.795% from 9 December 2018 to 9 December 2020
and 11.27% from 9 December 2020 to 9 December 2021
respectively.

31. AR TE @

RIE—NF+ZBARB AAFHREK
DRI IRMKRERE —RFE ARBMERN
MEREITIIE=DHARE  BItERQ
BEAPEMENEERER BT
QR 2B G R R ER
FIf BRI R2G AR IAIBAEELE RS
FEZIZETZEF+T"HAB-

A B —F—AZ+HB AATEWY
MO MREBRE A ARBEME
MEERBETILENEDHERELE  HIEXR
REAPEFEREERARREIA
MR ER RG> ER AR EiR
ZEBHABERIF > BRIGEAKAEEIL
RIFEZZEZT—F+ZAABKLEX
P& S > el IR BB 4% 2 H AR R s & 14
R

AR EEAMER AR DRAEE
D REmE D o HmaE DR Em M)
nREEEG#EBI BT -8E&H D
Z2EBRANRDIB_E—NE+_AA
HEEEZZE_EF+ "8 AHIEA10.795
ERBZEZEF+ZANARAEEZE
T—H+Z"BNBIEAI1127E.
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31. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continueq) 31. AR R @)

Equity component at 1 April 2019,
31 March 2020, 1 April 2020 and
31 March 2021

Liability component at 1 April 2019
Interest charged calculated at an effective

interest rate of 10.795% (Note 12)
Interest payables

Liability component at 31 March 2020 and
1 April 2020

Interest charged calculated at an effective
interest rate of 10.795% (Note 12)

Interest charged calculated at an effective rate of
11.27% (Note 12)

Modification on extension of convertible notes
(Note 12)

Interest payables

Liabilities component at 31 March 2021
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R-_ZE—hEMNA—H-
—E-EF=H=+—H-
“ECEFMA—HRK
—E-—H=HA=+—HZ
R D

ATE—NENB—RzaE%s

HERHE10.75EHE R EHY
(Kiz£12)

FERTF] B

R_ZE_EF=HA=1+—AK
“ECTFENA—HZE&ERD
HERANFR10.7B5EE 2 F BHEx

(Htz£12)
HERANR27TEE 2 B X

(Ht:£12)
EFTIER TR 2R (HaE12)

EAFR

AZE-_—F=A=+—HZ
=L

HK$ 000
TET

14,400

225,475

25,240
(7,725)

242,990
19,350
5,887
(16,925)

(7,697)

243,605




32. DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement

32.

el ﬁ(‘%?éﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁiﬂ%% P B TIREIR IR

of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities BEEMBBEOWIKHE IRILRIBAE RN
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred WT o HEFERB A
tax balances for financial reporting purposes:
2021 2020
—E-—F TETEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Deferred tax assets RICIRIEE = - 124
Deferred tax liabilities FIERRIBEEE (2,106) (7,927)
(2,106) (7,803)
The followings are the deferred tax balances recognised e MBI RRAERD ZIRERIBAER
in the consolidated statement of financial position and the H;é@]ﬂl]—l:
movements thereon:
Accelerated
Intangible  Convertible depreciation  Allowance
assets notes allowances for ECL Total
IR E BHEE
BVEE THRRER RE BiERE st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2019 RZZ—hEMA—H 7,320 2,406 3,930 (320) 13,335
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss FRPER GtA) /0%
for the year (Note 15) (#f515) (3,031) (1,424) (1,279) 196 (6,532)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RIBZZE=B=+-A%
“ZZZEME—H 4,289 981 2,657 (124) 7,803
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss for the year ~ ERPB% Gt A) /K
(Note 15) (H7315) (4,289) (981) (551) 124 (5,697)
At 31 March 2021 RZZ2_-#=A=+-H - - 2,106 - 2,106
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32. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$190,816,000 (2020:
approximately HK$149,488,000) available for offset against
future profits that may be carried forward indefinitely. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the tax
losses due to the unpredictability of future profits streams.

33. SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each

Authorised: EE

At 1 April 2019, RZZ—hFmMA—H-
31 March 2020, ECBF
1 April 2020 and =A=+—H-
31 March 2021 “EIZFNA—HK

“ET-F=ZA=+—H

Issued and fully paid: BETRHRE
At 1 April 2019, N_ZE—hFOA—AH-
31 March 2020, TETEF
1 April 2020 and =BA=+—8-
31 March 2021 —E2TEFNA—HK

“E-F=ZA=+—H
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32, IRIERIE (&

RREPER AEBEXBHARIERGIE
#75190,816,0008 T (ZEZZF |
149,488,000/ 7t) 7] A {EE 34 AJ & BR A
M R AGEF] o RS R AR F AR EELL
FER > B AR B 1B R IRIE R IEE
EE o

33. f&4s
SR (E0.001 B Tz ZiER
Number of Share
shares capital
AnES¢=] f& 7
HK$'000
FET
500,000,000,000 500,000
4,055,349,947 4,055




34. RESERVES

The following describes the nature and purpose of each

reserve within owners’ equity:

Reserve

f#tw

Share premium

B 17w (8

Foreign currency translation
reserves

SN R

Other reserves

Hh#E

Accumulated losses
KEtE1E
Capital reserves

BRfEH

Investment revaluation reserves

RESMLHH

34. #iE

TXHitES AN RS EFENEE
BB :

Description and purpose

fa X B e

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium
account of the Company is distributable to the shareholders provided that
immediately following that date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts when they
fall due in the ordinary course of business.

RIBFFASHEABE ZXATBRMEERIHIKTIRE  EEBEEIKY
KREZHEA®R  RABRESN M HBEFBERIANGEHS-

Foreign currency translation reserve represents foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 4.

SN B RAEIE M BIR N ER MBI RPTE L 2 SMNERE 7 2= 88 o 5% #
EIRBEM 485 2 st BUERERIE

Other reserve of the Company represents the difference between the
consolidated net assets of the subsidiaries at the date on which they were
acquired by the Company and the nominal amount of the Company’s
shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the Reorganisation.

KABINEMBEEIENB AR AATINEZ HNGAEBEEFEEAR
BREBEHZERWBEE T ZRONEEZEZ -

Cumulative net losses recognised in profit or loss.
RIBm AR 2 Rt 1R/ FEE

The capital reserve of the Group represents the additions during the year
represent the injection of additional paid-up capital by the shareholder.

FEBNEARBBEFERNRE  ERREFEZBIMIEREEE

Investment revaluation reserves comprises the cumulative net change in the
fair value of equity investments designated at FVTOCI under HKFRS 9 that
are held at the end of the reporting period.

REEGFBEENRSBREFENREEBMHBREERFIRIETE
RBBHMEENERATEARNEGRENATENRS LS
B
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35. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 35. i EZEIEEX 2 B EHIE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Lease Promissory Convertible
Liabilities note notes Interest
(Note 28) (Note 30) (Note 31) payables Total
HEaRE AREE THREREE
(Hrit28) (H#:£30) (Hy231) RIS Feh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FE FET
At 1 April 2019 RIZE-AFENE—H 17,221 43,123 225,475 45,596 331,415
Cash outflow: RERW .
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAR (9,831) - - - (9,831)
Other non-cash movements: HIJER S 28 .
Additions of lease liabilties hEREaR 2,400 S S = 2,400
Interest expense (Note 12) FISHZ Wat2) 366 2,890 25,240 = 28,496
Interest payables FERFIE - (1,355) (7,725) 9,080 =
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R-B-B%=R
=+-HRIZZZE
MA—H 10,156 44,658 242,990 54,676 352,480
Cash outflow: REM .
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAR (7,668) = = = (7,668)
Other non-cash movements: HttJrR& 28
Addition of lease liabilities HEREGE 896 = = = 896
Loss arising from extension of LERAREREEZ
promissory note (Note 8) &518 (11728) = 451 = = 451
Modification on extension of ETER AR ER
convertible notes (Note 12) (Hrz£12) - - (16,925) = (16,925)
Interest expense (Note 12) MR (f212) 176 826 25,237 - 26,239
Interest payables EEFE - (1,351) (7,697) 9,048 =
At 31 March 2021 RZBZ—
=B=+-H 3,560 44,584 243,605 63,724 355,473
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36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed
at a board meeting held on 11 August 2010 for the primary
purpose of providing incentives or rewards to participants for
their contribution to the Group. The Share Option Scheme
expired on 10 August 2020. Under the Share Option Scheme,
the Board may grant options to the Directors, employees,
non-executive Directors, suppliers of goods and services,
customers, advisors and consultants, shareholders or any of
its subsidiaries for the primary purpose of providing incentives
to them, to subscribe for shares in the Company with the
payment of HK$1 per offer.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted
to exceed 10% of the Shares of the Company in issue at the
date of listing of the Shares unless the Company obtains the
approval of the Shareholders in general meeting for refreshing
such 10% limit, in which case the total number of Shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company as “refreshed” shall not exceed 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue as at the date of the approval of
the Shareholders on the refreshment of the limit. The number
of Shares in respect of which options may be granted to
any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1%
of the Shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s Shareholders.
Options granted to substantial shareholders or independent
non-executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s
share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be
approved in advance by the Company’s Shareholders.

36. LUz EREZ (IR

ERBREN_Z-—FFN\A+—HS
TZEFTERBEIRBRRMWER
stE (ERERE))  TE25ENS A
EHRAERZERARFRME R
B-lBRESIN _Z2TF/\A+HE
moRBEERESNE EFEAMES
BE FATEST EmkRBZHE
BER - BRRBHAT RRIEE
ANBARKLERE TB2EERKRSE
RESE UEBBHENXM1EBTZ
BB AR B RN

RIEBRES S A ERE ZBRERS
RRDBE > TRBENKRM EHBAE
REIZBETRNEI0%  ERRBRK
RARGLERFRHEEMAMIONIRE
BRON FELLIB R T - IRIR TS B3 Bl 12
stE| KA~ EME R H B8 g #E 51 8 T BE
RUZBRERMIRRHDESR TF8
BREMEBMIREELCETRMNE
HH10% - EREFR T RBRRELHUE
BIER T RER—FRRERERAL
RHZBRIEFTS RROEEB > ~EBAE
RABREAFEZEETRMNAII%-
WRFEIERRIBUFATEETZE
RIEBBEABRAZ01%HEEBE
5,000,00078 70 I A RAREIRIEZ X TR
RATRRE LA

hEFESRIERARAS 2020/2021 £ 225



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ir G M B e R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ

36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continueq) 36. U ARBZHRH E

Options granted must be taken up within 21 business days
of the date of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per each grant
of options. Options may be exercised in whole or in part by
the grantee (or his legal personal representatives) at any time
before the expiry of the period to be determined and notified
by the board to the grantee which in any event shall not be
longer than ten years commencing on the date of the offer
letter and expiring on the last day of such ten-year period
subject to the provisions for early termination as contained in
the Share Option Scheme. The exercise price is determined
by the Directors and will not be less than the highest of the
closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange on the date
of grant, the average closing prices of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange on the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of grant of the options or the nominal value of the Shares.

All share-based employee compensation will be settled in
equity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options other than by issuing the
shares.

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no share
option was granted, exercised, expired or lapsed and there is
no outstanding share option under the Share Option Scheme.
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37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, during the years ended 31 March 2021 and
2020, the Group had entered into the following transactions
with related parties which, in the opinion of the directors, were
conducted on normal commercial terms and in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

(@ During the year, the Group entered into the following
related party transactions:

EXHERRS

B BERREME DK E
I BECE - —FER_E_EF=A
—t+—HEFE AEBERBAESBEF]
U TINRG EERAZSERZHEESR
BERT MR AEBHBEEKBREPE
7o

(@ FR AEETUUTHELSRS:

2021 2020
T —fF “EZTTHE
Related party relationship Type of transaction HK$’000 HK$'000
RAE /A R & RHER FAET FHET
China Xinhua NNC Annual fee for television 3,000 3,000
broadcasting right (note (i)
FHE T EE AT A AR A BREBRESE (W)
Accrued interests on convertible 7,697 7,725
notes
OJRE RiR 2 FESHF R

Notes:

i) Pursuant to the agreements signed between the Group and China
Xinhua NNC on 5 September 2011, China Xinhua NNC granted
the television broadcasting rights to Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific for the
period form 1 September 2011 to 31 August 2021 on an exclusive
basis with an annual fee of HK$1,000,000 payable by Xinhua TV
Asia-Pacific to China Xinhua NNC prior to 31 December 2016, and
HK$3,000,000 payable by Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific to China Xinhua
NNC with effect from 1 January 2017. The transactions constituted
continuing connected transactions under the GEM Listing Rules.
This transaction is exempted for reporting.

Mt -

0 BEFEBAPEMEMEERGER_-F
——FNBEHRTZHE > PEFEN
HEREDMEERTRNARTERER
B BREGEREBE-_T——FA
B—HEEZZFT-_—FA\B=+—Hl-
R_E—RFE+_A=+—Hal MESR
DREEMNTBEFEFTHEREZFER
1,000,000 MEB-Z—+tF—HF—H
o MEBRD NG BN R ENEER
482 F & #3,000,0008 70 ZEZF BB
GEMLEARAIET ZFHEBRIER S %X 5
EEA PR
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37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group

The key management personnel of the Group are the
directors of the Company. Details of the remuneration
during the year are set out in Note 13.

(c) For the transactions constitutes continuing connected
transactions under the GEM Listing Rules, please refer to
“Connected Transactions” under “Directors’ Report”.

38. NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities were approximately
HK$896,000 (2020: HK$2,400,000 in respect of lease
arrangement of motor vehicles) in respect of lease
arrangements of leased properties.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets

Amortised cost (including cash
and cash equivalents)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial liabilities
Amortised costs

TREE

BIENT (BERE R
REFEY)

BEBEEATE
ANRZ EREE

THAaE

39. EFM T A

() ERIT AR

2021 2020
—E-—F TEC=E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
107,136 142,186
4,800 1,835
111,936 144,021
452,325 447,909
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Company’s major financial instruments include
trade and other receivables, contract assets, financial
assets at FVTPL, cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other payables, employee benefits, promissory note,
lease liabilities and convertible notes. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and
other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

(i) Credit risk management

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
its trade and other receivables, contract assets
and cash and cash equivalents. Management has
a credit policy in place and the exposures to these
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the
financial condition of trade customers and, where
appropriate, credit guarantee insurance cover is
purchased. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the carrying amounts of the recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. M T H #@)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) TRAKREEENKREBE &
(Continued)
EEREERE (&)

(i) Credit risk management (Continued) (i)

The default risk of the industry and country in which
customers operate also has an influence on credit
risk but to a lesser extent. At the end of reporting
period, the Group has a certain concentration of
credit risk as 38.69% (2020: 26.5%) and 51.79%
(2020: 34.3%) of the total trade receivables was
due from the Group’s largest customer and the five
(2020: four) largest customers respectively.

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime ECL provision for all
trade receivables and contract assets. To measure
the ECL, trade receivables and contract assets
have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics. The Group has performed historical
analysis and identified the key economic variables
impacting credit risk and ECL. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual debt at the end of the reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

ERAREMETERBERZE
NEBETHESERBEBFE
ERERN - RIFEHER > &
E£E238.69% (ZE-ZTF !
26.5%) ’51.79% (ZE_FF .
34.3%) B ZEW R IBARZE D 7]
REAERRARERA (T
“EF M ARER O HMEE—
EhzEERR-

AEERBABEREZNEEY
B EERFRFT B2 FAMIE
BB REE ZERF
FRERKRESRERGNEE
EREHRNEEBIREE S
StERMEERE BWEZIR
MRENEEESENRHKREE
ERBREDE ~EBBEETE
SO MR R B E R K
BHREEHEE FRERER
EREZROGEAERAEES
RZREEER -

BERABREERR ~&EBE
BEEEZR—XEBREEETE
EERE FEBRLREAMER
R LB RERENERE T U [E]
BAER M REBERKRS
HABRASRENEH ZEH
[B] %8 > AR (R LS BT UL Bl 28
EHRDBEBE R A2
AEFERAAETERZEERR
BREERR-
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. £ T A #&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(b) =REMGEEBNRBE &

(i) Credit risk management (Continueqd) () GEEREEE (&)
As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, trade receivables N BT FKR_EEF=
and contract assets that are individually significant B=+—H BHENBELRN
have been separately assessed for impairment. BEEWNTEBELRENEEETT
The Group make periodic assessments on the BIORETGH cEEBRERER
recoverability of the receivable based on the HNESRBE BEREHELRK
background and reputation of the customers, B B T ST IR IRRIE Y
historical settlement records and past experience. EqEIE
Trade receivables B ZENIE
At 31 March 2021 R-_E_—H=HB=+—H
More than
Current or 3 months but Total
less than 1to lessthan ~ More than carrying
1 month 3months 12 months 12 months amount
LG 3fER M E
DiER 1Z3@F B0MM2A 12BBMULE IREESE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
ECL rate BHEEBER 2.0% = = 100% 37.4%
Gross carrying amount IREEE 20,167 - - 11,390 31,557
Lifetime ECL 2BBHELEEE (402) = (11,390) (11,792)
19,765 = = = 19,765
At 31 March 2020 ATE-BE=F=+—H
More than
Current or 3 months but Total
less than 1to less than More than carrying
1 month 3 months 12 months 12 months amount
BN 3EEUL
LIER 1E3EA BAORM2ER  12BBMLE  REEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
ECL rate EHELRHER 1.6% = = 100% 29.1%
Gross carrying amount IREAZE 29,451 - - 11,390 40,841
Lifetime ECL 2HBBELEE (476) = = (11,390) (11,866)
28,975 = = = 28,975
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. M T H #@)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) ERAMREEENRER (&
(Continued)
(i) Credit risk management (Continued) (i) EEREEE (&)
Contract assets EREE
At 31 March 2021 R_ZE_—H=HB=+—H
More than
Current or 3 months but Total
less than 1to lessthan ~ More than carrying
1 month 3months  12months 12 months amount
ENERE 3fEAMN L

DR1ER  1EMER BLRM20ER  12BAME REESE
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET

ECL rate BHREEREX 1.9% - - 100% 37.2%
Gross carrying amount IREEE 10,610 - - 5,976 16,586
Lifetime ECL ZHBIREEEE (202) - - (5,976) (6,178)
10,408 - - - 10,408
At 31 March 2020 RN_EZEF=—A=+—H
More than
Current or 3 months but Total
less than 1to less than More than carrying
1 month 3 months 12 months 12 months amount
BPHASk SEAML

DRER 1E3EA EBOK2BR  12ERMNLE  REESS
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FE FE FE FE FE

ECL rate BHEEREX 1.2% - - 100% 39.7%
Gross carrying amount IRER%E 9,347 - - 5,976 15,323
Lifetime ECL PHERESES (109) = = (5,976) (6,085)

9,238 - - - 9,238
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AR e MR s

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i) Credit risk management (Continued)

Amounts due from other pariners of joint operations

The Group regularly monitors the business
performance of the joint operations. The Group’s
credit risks in these balances are mitigated through
the value of the assets held by these entities and the
power to participate or jointly control the relevant
activities of these entities. The management believes
that there are no significant increase in credit risk
of these amounts since initial recognition and the
Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. M T H #@)

(b) EREREEENKREE &

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
(i) Credit risk management (Continued) () EEREEE (&)
Other receivables B gl E
For other receivables, the directors of the PEMBUHRIEMS » KAFE

Company make periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables based
on historical settlement records, past experience,
and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The Group recognised impairment
loss of approximately HK$97,000 (2020: HK$NIl) in

ERBRATFAECLHR BEL
BUMBEEBSENREEE
MWEE&EEEMJﬂH@E
Y Rk I8 B9 ] [2] Y A 1T E HAE
AMNF L - BHE_ZST-_—F=4
= +—BHLEEE KAEBEAM
FE W R I e 52 R (B 5 18 4997,000

respect of other receivables for the year ended 31 B (CEIZEF T8 oH
March 2021. The expected credit loss rate for other EWRIENTEREEEIEA

receivables is 1.9% (2020: nil). The management
believes that there are no significant increase in
credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition
and the Group provided impairment based on 12m
ECL.

1.9% CTZTF D) EEER
7 BARHERRLR  ZEEER
Z 156 B IR 3 8 K8 18 0 Re A
SEER12ERABHERSER
sHTRE R
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

BE_FE_—HF=-FH=1—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(M

(ii)

Credit risk management (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited
because the counterparties are reputable banks
with high credit ratings assigned by credit agencies.
The Group assessed 12m ECL for cash and cash
equivalents by reference to information relating to
probability of default and loss given default of the
respective credit rating grades published by external
credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss
rates, the 12m ECL on cash and cash equivalents is
considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss
allowance was recognised.

Liquidity risk management

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management,
including the short term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans of cover expected
cash demands, subject to approval by the parent
company’s board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. M T H #@)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) ERAMREEENRER (&
(Continued)
(i) Liquidity risk management (Continued) (i) REELREEE (&
The tables below summarise the maturity profile of TRIBIE G 4K AL IR RIE M4
the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities KEBRARNBDESHEENR T
at 31 March 2021 and 2020 on contractual T —FER_EBE_FF=H
undiscounted payments: =t+—HZEEER:
Weighted Total Total
average On Less than 3to 12 Over undiscounted carrying
interest rate demand 3 months months 1year  cashflows amount
*UBRE

INREFITHIR #EX L3R 3E12A BdE  RENEE REESR
%  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS(000
FET TET TET T FET TET

At 31 March 2021 fZE--£=f=+-H
Trade and other payables BRREMENTE - 56,397 9,048 58,804 29,789 154,938 154,938
Lease liabilties HEas 2.12% - 1,540 1,878 190 3,608 3,560
Promissory note ERER 10.18% - - - 45,040 45,040 44,584
Convertible notes HRRER 11.27% - - 257,030 - 257,030 243,605
Employee benefits EERF - 5,638 - - - 5,638 5,638
62,035 11,488 317,712 75,019 466,254 452,325
At 31 March 2020 RIBZBF=A=+-H
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERFE - 40,615 28,924 51,108 25,786 146,433 146,433
Lease liabilties HERE 211% - 2,087 5310 2,962 10,359 10,156
Promissory note ARER 9.707% - 45,317 - - 45,377 44,658
Convertiole notes HREE 10.795% - - 262,354 - 262,354 242,990
Employee benefits EEEF - 3672 - - - 3672 3672
44,287 76,388 318,772 28,748 468,195 447,909
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e MR s

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(iii) Interest rate risk management

39. EMTH #®

(b) =REMGEEBNRBE &

(i) 72 5E EEE

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk for
changes in interest rates to the Group’s cash at

bank, convertible notes, promissory note and

lease liabilities. The Company manages the risk by

regularly evaluating its cash flows when sufficient

funds are available.

Interest rate profile

The following table details interest rates analysis that
the directors of the Company evaluate its interest

rate risk.

Financial liabilities
Fixed rate borrowings
- Lease liabilities

- Promissory note

- Convertible notes

Financial assets
Floating rate assets
- Bank balances
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EHaR
ESER
-HEER
—ARRE
—ARRER

EHEE
AEEE
—RITHERR

7 £ B (A F) X 8 8 i m ER A9 A
KEBERERRTRSE A
REB -ARRBERIEEEER
oA RBNEERERBBE
ML HRESRENEERE

FIE(EH

TRFUAETATDEFFEEF

KRB FIRDH
2021 2020
—EC-fF _ECEE

Effective Effective

interest rate interest rate

BRA=E RS
(%) HK$'000 (%) HK$000
FET FET
2.07 -5.20 3,560 2.07-5.20 10,156
10.18 44,584 9.707 44,658
11.27 243,605 10.795 242,990
0.001-0.3 66,743 0.001-0.3 91,196




39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. M T H #@)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) TREAMEEBNKREE &)
(Continued)

(iii) Interest rate risk management (Continued)

(i) FIE @R EE ()

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2021, it is estimated that a general
decrease or increase of 100 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant,
would increase or decrease the post-tax loss by
approximately HK$667,000 (2020: HK$912,000).
There is no impact on other components of equity.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk
for non-derivative financial instruments in existence
at that date. The 100 basis point decrease or
increase represents management’s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest rates over the
period until the next annual balance sheet date. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2020.

B E ST

R _—F=RB=+—H"1
T EEFE TR LA 100EE
oEMBEEMEBHERTIEN
BRT  BRREBE RGNS
L #9667,0008 0 (ZE 224 ¢
912,000/ 7T) i EmNE
HEDEEFE-

U ESREDHERRMRE
HENMS KRB EMEE > I
BEEANRMZEFMERREIF
TEEMIBAEZFMEREAR100
BER R ONIENMIEEERER
BEET—EEEEERRXH
Bz R EGEEEH
e DITHIRE B " T FAF
2z EEETo
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. £MT A #&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) EREAMREEENRER (&
(Continued)

(iv) Currency risk (iv) EEEE

The group entities collect most of the revenue and
incur most of the expenditures in their respective
functional currencies. The directors consider that
the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange
risk is insignificant as the majority of the Group’s
transactions are denominated in the functional
currency of each individual group entity.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure should the
need arises.

As HK$ is pegged to USD, the Group does not
expect any significant foreign currency exposure
arising from the fluctuation of the HK$ to USD
exchange rates. As a result, the directors of the
Company consider that the sensitivity of the Group’s
exposure towards the change in foreign exchange
rates between HK$ to USD is minimal and no
sensitivity analysis is presented.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. M T H #@)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) ERAMREEENRER (&
(Continued)

(v) Other price risk (v) EBEgERE

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly
through its investment in listed equity securities
measured at FVTPL. The management manages
this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risks. The Group’s equity
price risk is mainly concentrated on equity securities
quoted in the Stock Exchange. In addition, the
management of the Company monitor the price risk
and will consider hedging the risk exposure should
the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to equity price
risk at the end of the reporting period.

If the equity price had been 5% higher/lower, post-
tax loss for the year ended 31 March 2021 would
decrease/increase by approximately HK$240,000
(2020: approximately HK$92,000) as a result of the
changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL.

AEETEFBNBERAER
AFEARNETREARZSZ
RECHAZRERR BEE
EBRERTRRARZRERES
NEBIERE NERZRE
ERTEERRNBIFAKREZ
RAE S MIN ARBEEE
ERERAR TRNAEER
ZEEH R o

BT

TXZHEREDRTLERRS
HAIRFAEHR ZREBRARMETE -

MIRELEH TH5% BIEZE
—E_—F=-B=+—HIL%F
EZHREEBEBR L 8GN
#9240,0008 7T (ZTEZEF 1 49
92,000%7t) » JhEENBEBIER
BAFEARZEMEEZAR
TEEENFTE o
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

e The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded on active markets are determined with
reference to quoted market bid prices and ask
prices respectively.

e The fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding those described above) are
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

Except as detailed in the following table, the directors
of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the
consolidated financial statements approximate to their

39. €M TH #®

(c) EMIRZATEE

RN RFIEFILESIN  FATEER
A REEYHRERTED ZERNE
EktMEBEZREERZEAFE
GBS

fair values:

Financial liabilities ERER
Promissory note ARER
Convertible notes aRER

2021 2020
—E--F “ECTEFE

Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
fREE AFE RAEE NS
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FAET FET
44,584 45,504 44,658 46,519
243,605 246,082 242,990 226,767
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based
on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

e |evel 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities;

e |evel 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices); and

e |evel 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs).
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)
Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

(Continued)

At 31 March 2021

Financial assets at FVTPL BRBRRATEANERZ
SHEE

At 31 March 2020

Financial assets at FVTPL BEERRATEARZ
TREE

39. €M TH #®

(c) EMIRZATEE

HE (&

R-2-—#=A=+—0

HREEMBER TR PERZ 2 FE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
H—4R A B Z4R7 B4R g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET FET FET

4,800 - - 4,800
RN_E-—EF=-HF=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—R7 ERA E=1RA st
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000

FET FET FET FET

1,835 - - 1,835
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. £MTAH @
(c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued) (c) EMIAZATE &

Fair value measurements recognised in the VY =k L deal /A T - |
consolidated statement of financial position FtE (#B)
(Continued)
Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair AEEBLETHEELSHRSR
value at the end of each reporting period. The following ZNATFEFE NREFBEREAUWME
table gives information about how the fair values of these EZETHEEATFTEZER (LH
financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation BFIFRBZEER EREARE) ©

techniques and inputs used).

Fair value as at
RUTFEAZATE
31 March 31 March Fair value Valuation techniques
Financial assets 2021 2020 hierarchy and key inputs
EREE “E_—-#£=ZA=+-H |ZZ-ZE=RA=1t-H ATEER BEAFEREERAZE
Financial assets at FVTPL Listed equity Listed equity Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active
securities in securities in market
Hong Kong: Hong Kong:
- HK$4,800,000 - HK$1,835,000
BEBRERATEARZER REELHH REBLTH  F—R7 TEBhEMBRNEAE
HE RS RS
- 4,800,000% 7T -1,835,000% 70
There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 for RRBEFEE F— FTHFE =47
both years. Z B R o
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. M T H #@)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued) (c) EMIAZATEE
Fair value measurements recognised in the V= L adeal /AR - |
consolidated statement of financial position FtE (B)
(Continued)

Financial assets
at fair value Financial assets

through other at fair value

Reconciliation of Level 3 comprehensive through profit

fair value measurements income or loss

FRHMPENE EiBEE

BATEARZ BATEARZ

BE=RAATEAEZHIR EMEE EMEE

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TF#

At 31 March 2019 A _E-hE=ZB=1+—H 1,245 116
Transfer to accumulated losses upon  MHE 2R B ERE RTEE

disposal of entire interest (1,245) -
Change in fair value of financial BEBERATEARZEMEE

assets at FVTPL 2N FEEE > (116)

At 31 March 2020 R ZEZEF=-—HA=+—H - -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BIE —LFE_—#=F=+—HIFFZ

40. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. EXEEER

The Group’s objective of managing capital is to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce cost of capital. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior years.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debts.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (which
includes lease liabilities, promissory note and convertible
notes, net of cash and cash equivalents) and equity
attributable to the owners of the Company, comprising share
capital and reserves.

The Group’s risk management reviews the capital structure on
a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital.
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40. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continueq)

The net debt to equity ratio at the end of the reporting period

was as follows:

Debt (Note (a))
Less: Cash and cash equivalents

Net debt
Equity (Note (b))

Net debt and equity

Net debt to equity ratio

Notes:

&% (W/at()
B RERIREEEY

BEFER
e (HaE0b)

B FEA B

B FREREmIEX

(@) Debt comprises lease liabilities, promissory note and convertible
notes as detailed in Notes 28, 30 and 31 respectively.

(b)  Equity includes all capital and reserves attributable to the owners of

the Company.

40. EXEBEIR ®

RIREPARZEHFRRAE D Z LEX
T

2021 2020
—E-—% “ETTF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
291,749 297,800
(66,743) (91,196)
225,006 206,608
(343,193) (271,968)
(118,187) (65,360)
Nil £ Nil 4%

et -

@ EXCEHEER ARZEEKRIUTBRKRE
5 1B BIE M 5E28 ~ 30531 °

b BEBEMEARBER ABEERKEH
fo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ir G M B e R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B ZE T _—F=F=+—HIFFEZ

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF 41. AT T EMEB AT Z 1B
THE COMPANY

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting AEENBRABINRKRSHARZFIFHT
period are set out below. WTe
Percentage of equity
Place and date interests and voting
of incorporation and power attrlbutable to Nominal value
Name of subsidiary form ofjusiness structure ﬁ ¥E of issued share capital Principal activities
SRR IHER BN ztsmmm AR -
WEAESRE EBRERR BETRAEE TEEH
2021 2020
ZEZ-F IZITf
% %
Directly held
EERE
TYW (BVI) Limited BVI 2 July 2009, limited liability 100 100 United States Dollars (‘US$") Investment holding
company 50,000, divided into 50,000
ordmary shares of US$1.00
gach
TYW (BVI) Limited HERUBS _ERAFLAZ S0000KT (=) % REER
B BRERAF 50,000 Sk E{E1.00% 7T
2ERER
Shenzhen Qianhai Xinhua TV Cultural PRC 30 May 2013, limited liability 100 100 Registered and paid up capital of ~ Advertising business in PRC
Development Limited” .. RvB30,000,000 )
R EREERXEEEERAT EFl T——Eﬂﬂ +HB AMRACERARE RAERSEEER
REFAF 30,000,0007¢
Indirectly held
e
Tsun Yip Civil Construction Company Limited  Hong Kong, 16 July 2000, limited 97 100 HK$20,372,000 divided into Holding of motor vehicles,
liability company 20,372,000 ordinary shares of ~ provision of waterworks and
) . ) HK$1.00 each Iay\ngmof water pipes
RETATRAERAT 58 _ZERELR+RA 20,372,000 7593 4520,372,000 h*ﬁ‘ o BRI ATRRER
BREMAAR %Hﬁﬁ@ﬂ 00ETzER HEKE
Tsun Yip Waterworks Construction Company  Hong Kong, 6 February 1996, limited 97 100 HK$26,123,200 divided into Provision of waterworks and laying
Limited liability company 26,123,200 ordinary shares of ~ of water pipes
) . . ‘ ‘ HK$1.00 each o
BEKEREBRAF 55 —NMAEZARB BR 26,123, 2oo?ém it RETATRRERBRKE
EGYAG 26,123 200 SR EE
10082 & Lﬁx
Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific Operating Company ~ Hong Kong, 22 December 2009, 100 100 HK$10,000, divided into 10,000  Television broadcasting business
Limited imited liability company ordinary shares of HK$1.00 in the Asia Pacific region
. . gach (excluding the PRC)
NEBRTAREEERAR &8 _EENE+-BZ1+Z 10,0007 2 A100008ER KuXE (MEETE) HEE
B> BREEAH HE100BTZERR BMEY
BayTV Network Holding Limited Hong Kong, 14 May 2010, limited 100 100 HK$10,000, divided into 10,000  Media and advertising business
liability company ordinary shares of HK$1.00
each
ERERMERAT 8 _T-ZERATMACR 10,0007 A A10000RER BERBEEH
RELAT HE100BTZERR
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41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF

THE COMPANY (Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affect the results of
the assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of the year.

Change in ownership interest in a subsidiaries

During the year, the Group disposed of 3% of its interest
to Tsun Yip Civil Construction Company Limited and Tsun
Yip Waterworks Construction Company Limited, reducing
its continuing interest to 97%. The proceeds on disposal
of HK$1,496,000 were received in cash. An amount of
HK$2,717,000 (being the proportionate share of the carrying
amount of the net assets of Tsun Yip Civil Construction
Company Limited and Tsun Yip Waterworks Construction
Company Limited) has been transferred to non-controlling
interests. The difference of HK$1,221,000 between the
increase in the non-controlling interests and the consideration
received has been credited to accounted losses.

4. ZABEEMBATIZEEE &

EERA LRI AEBZINBARTY

BEREFRERUBAREE - EFR
7o B HMMB AT ZFBEESABE
Rf&ke

BEN B AR ERETEMEHES-

MEBASIFMAEESES

RAFE > AEBLEHIRHNER F&
EITARTRERERLRDMREXEKERE
BRAB BEFBERRBEIT% W
EFr8 IE1,496,00078 70 U IR £ UK EX ©
2,717,000 ¢ (AEEXE LT ARTEFRATE
REXKBEERBRADEEZERT
BENLEARKRD) BEEETIEERER - IF
EHMERIENEACSWERREZEBNE
261,221,000 T EN Rt B EC R
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries

Current assets

Trade and other receivables
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Current liabilities

FREBEE
Y ER VY Ed
KRB AR ZKRE

MEBNEE

B 5 M HMEWRRIA
FE UK B BB A B R IR
RERFEEFEY

HEE

nEAaR

Accrued expenses and other payables FE 5t 58 s & ELfthFEF =v 18

Amounts due to subsidiaries
Convertible notes

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities

BB ARMRIA
RIEY

REREFEE

MEERRBAR

252 CNCHOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021

42. ZRBEZMBRRERRHEE

BATZHBRRAR

2021 2020
—E-—F TETEE
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FAET FET

47 240

41,306 47,705
41,353 47,945

125 161

5,244 5,229

290 9

5,659 5,399
47,012 53,344
64,221 52,954
5,123 5,699
243,605 242,990
312,949 301,643
(307,290) (296,244)
(265,937) (248,299)




42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Statement of financial position of the Company

(Continued)

Non-current liability
Deferred tax liabilities

Total liabilities

Net liabilities

Capital and reserves

Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

FREBER
TIEFRIRE B

maE

BRFE

B RfHEAE
R
f#

Mt

TATZMBIRRER ()

42. ZRBE)Z2MBRRERRKHEE (@

2021 2020
—E-—f —BOEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

- 981

= 981

312,949 302,624
(265,937) (249,280)
4,055 4,055
(269,992) (253,335)
(265,937) (249,280)

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 30 June 2021 and are

BEFxgERN B —FA=1+H#tE
RARETEMHBRS WHETFIIATAE

signed on its behalf by: EEEgRE .
Jiang Yan Li Yong Sheng
=8 FxH
Director Director
EE EE
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 42, XRBZ2HBERRARKREE &)

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Movement in the Company’s reserves AT ZHIEEE
Convertible
Share Capital  notes equity Other Accumulated
premium reserves reserves reserves losses Total
ARKRE
R (E BAfE BRGHE Hitif# e RithR @t
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2019 RIZ-h&EmE—A 1,238,195 2,758 14,400 54,993 (1,527,831) (217,485)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FRBERZEEREE - - - - (35,850) (35,850)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 AZEZZE=A=+-HK
“E-RENA-A 1,238,195 2,758 14,400 54993 (1,563,681) (053,335)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year EREEREZEHBLEE - - - - (16,857) (16,657)
At 31 March 2021 KZ%Z—-%=F=+—-H 1,238,195 2,758 14,400 54,993 (1,580,338) (269,992)
43. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 43. LEERREF

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to
conform with current year’s presentation.

44. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 44,

STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 June
2021.
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A summary of the results and of the financial position of the Group

for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published

audited financial statements, is set out below.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March

Revenue
Cost of services

Gross (loss)/profit

Other income

Other gains/(losses), net

Amortisation expenses

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Impairment loss on intangible assets

Impairment of right-of-use assets

Changes in fair value of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

Loss from operations

Finance costs

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Impairment loss recognised in
respect of trade receivables

Loss before income tax
Income tax

Loss for the year

Loss for the year attributable to:
- owners of the Company
- Non-controlling interest of the Company

W
REmE

£ /7
EftA
it/ (B8 P8
AR
HERNHERX
THHAx
BVEERERR
ERREERE
BREERATEARZ
ERMEEZATEED

EERR

MERE

HENBARZ W

HEZ RN RRED 2
RESR

PRAT ISR AIAS 1R
g

FAEE
BEERBE:

. YN=IEZZ=UN
RARFERED

AEEBELBYREEZEZERYHFRR
BME NDREEEETSEZEELMBERE &
HIg0T o

T
BEZH=+—HIEE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—E--& ECEE “E-hE “E-N\E “E—t&
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET
239,233 237,322 324,855 370,515 454,447
(268,053) (254,858) (321,371) (338,000) (473,557)
(28,820) (17,536) 3,484 32,515 (19,110)
12,374 1,083 450 4,003 1,035
(913) (11,811) 3,032 268 3,259
(18,316) (18,367) (18,594) (19,734) (20,178)
(770) (770) = (100) (377)
(26,005) (24,591) (22,441) (32,101) (33,130)
(7,679) = = = =
(2,872) = = = =
2,965 (4,636) (9,123) (1,308) (3,452)
(70,036) (76,678) (43,192) (16,367) (71,953)
(9,314) (28,496) (25,686) (33,331) (37,262)

- = = 114 =

- = = (55) (422)
(79,350) (105,714) (68,878) (49,639) (109,637)
5,598 4,343 3,576 3,822 5,110
(73,752) (100,831) (65,302) (45,817) (104,527)
(72,946) (100,831) (65,302) (45,817) (104,527)
(806) = = = =
(73,752) (100,831) (65,302) (45,817) (104,527)
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March

Non-current assets
Current assets

Total assets
Less: Current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities
Less: Non-current liabilities
Non-controlling interests

Capital and reserves attributable to
equity holders of the Company

256 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021

FRBEE
MEEE

wORBaR

BEERTHAR
wERBaR
FERED

L YNSTE S e RPN
BX R

EEMBERR

R=A=4+—H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
S$--€ | “TTIFE CTAE CEN\F C%tf
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
24,244 61633 84,029 106,257 126,742
150,667 186,821 207,872 180,873 208,991
174,911 248,454 292,101 287,130 335,733
466,305 509,570 174,625 403,665 415,137
(291,394) (261,116) 117,476 (116,535) (79,404)
51,799 10,852 284,467 14,761 22,331
1,911 - - - -
(345,104) (271,968) (166,991) (131,296) (101,735)
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